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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Metro Pacific Investments Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Metro Pacific Investments Corporation and its
subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2018, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2018 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recoverability of goodwill and service concession assets (SCAs) not yet available for use

The Company’s goodwill, mainly arising from its acquisition of long-term investments in water and
tollways business, amounted to P=27.9 billion and this is allocated to different cash-generating units
(CGUs).  In addition, the Company has entered into several service concession agreements with the
Philippine Government and/or its agencies or instrumentalities, of which P=60.3 billion of these SCAs are
not yet available for use.  Under Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 36, Impairment of Assets, the
Company is required to perform annual impairment test on the amount of goodwill and SCAs not yet
available for use.  These annual impairment tests are significant to our audit because the amounts are
material to the consolidated financial statements.  In addition, the determination of the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs to which the goodwill belongs or as it relates to the SCAs, involves significant
assumptions about the future results of business such as revenue growth and discount rates which are
applied to the cash flow forecasts.  The assumptions on revenue growth mainly relates to the expected
volume of traffic for the toll roads, ridership for the rail, and billed water volume for the water
concession.

Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for the details on goodwill and SCAs not yet
available for use and the assumptions used in the forecasts.

Audit response

We  involved our internal specialist in evaluating the methodologies and the assumptions used in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs.  These assumptions include the expected volume
of traffic for the toll roads, ridership for the rail, billed water volume for the water concession, growth rate
and discount rates.  We compared the forecast revenue growth against the historical data of the CGUs and
inquired from management and operations personnel about the plans to support the forecast revenues.
We also compared the Company’s key assumptions such as traffic volume, rail ridership and water
volume against historical data and against available studies by independent parties that were
commissioned by the respective subsidiaries.  We tested the weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
used in the impairment test by comparing it with WACC of other comparable companies in the region.
Furthermore, we reviewed the Company’s disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of
the impairment test is most sensitive, specifically those that have the most significant effect on
determining the recoverable amounts of the goodwill and SCAs not yet available for use.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Amortization of SCAs using the ‘units of production (UOP)’ method

The SCAs related to the toll roads and water concession agreements of the Company are being amortized
using the UOP method.  For the toll roads concession assets, amortization is generally based on the ratio
of the actual traffic volume to the total expected traffic volume of the underlying toll expressways over
the remaining period of the concession agreement.  On the other hand, for the water-related concession
assets, amortization is based on the actual billed volume over the estimated billable water volume for
remaining period of the concession agreement.  The UOP amortization method is a key audit matter as the
method involves significant management judgment and estimates, particularly in determining the total
expected traffic volume and the total estimated volume of billable water over the remaining periods of the
concession agreements.  The Company reviews annually the total expected traffic volume with reference
to traffic projection reports and billable water volume with reference to water volume forecasts.  It
considers different factors such as population growth, supply and consumption, and service coverage
including ongoing and future expansions.

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for the details of SCAs and Note 3 for the
discussion of management estimate relating to amortization of SCAs.

Audit response

We reviewed the report of the management’s specialists and gained an understanding of the methodology
and the basis of computing the forecasted traffic volume and billable water.  We  evaluated the
competence, capabilities, and objectivity of management’s specialists who estimated the forecasted
volumes.  Furthermore, we compared the billable water volume and traffic volume during the year against
the data generated from the toll collection system for tollways and from the billing system for water.  We
recalculated the amortization expense for the year and the SCAs as of year-end based on the established
traffic volume and billable water volume.

Accounting for acquisitions of PT Nusantara Infrastructure Tbk (PT Nusantara)

In 2017, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary PT Metro Pacific Tollways Indonesia
(PT MPTI), acquired 48.3% interest in PT Nusantara Infrastructure Tbk (PT Nusantara) for P=6.9 billion.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company accounted for PT Nusantara as an investment in associate with
the purchase price allocation (PPA) determined on a provisional basis.  In 2018, the Company acquired
additional interests of 29.67% in PT Nusantara for P=3.5 billion which resulted in the Company acquiring
control over PT Nusantara.  Accordingly, the Company accounted for these acquisitions as a business
combination.  The goodwill arising from the 2017 acquisition is subsumed under the investment account
and the related PPA was finalized in 2018.  The provisional goodwill arising from 2018 acquisitions
amounted to P=1.6 billion.  These acquisitions are significant to our audit as the amounts involved are
material to the consolidated financial statements.  In addition, accounting for these acquisitions required
significant management judgments and estimates.  These include allocating the purchase consideration to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values and the resulting goodwill to its different
CGUs.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Refer to Notes 4 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the acquisitions and Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements for the discussion of management estimates relating to the
acquisitions.

Audit response

We evaluated management’s judgment on how the acquisitions should be accounted for, by reference to
the related purchase agreements and documents.  In applying the acquisition method, we reviewed the
identification of the underlying assets and liabilities of the investees and the allocation of goodwill to its
CGUs based on our understanding of the businesses.  We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Company specialists who performed the purchase price allocation and the valuation of
the service concession assets, and the independent appraisers who valued the property and equipment.
We also involved our internal specialists in reviewing the valuation methodology and key inputs, such as
revenue growth, margins and discount rates related to the valuation of the service concession assets and
equity method investments.  We compared the revenue growth and margins to the historical performance
of the investees and industry data.  We tested the parameters used in the determination of the discount rate
against market data.  We also reviewed the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Provisions and contingencies

The Company is involved in certain claims and/or proceedings and dispute arbitration for which it has
either recognized provisions for probable costs and/or expenses, which may be incurred, and/or has
disclosed relevant information about such contingencies.  This matter is significant to the audit because
the assessment of potential outcome or liability involves significant management judgment and
estimation.

Refer to Notes 16 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements for the relevant disclosures related to
this matter.

Audit response

We involved our internal specialist in evaluating management’s assessment on whether provisions on the
contingencies should be recognized, and the estimation of such amount.  We also discussed with
Company’s management of the status of the claims and/ or regulatory proceedings and dispute arbitration.
In addition, we obtained correspondences with the relevant government agencies, including tax
authorities, replies from third party legal counsels, and any relevant historical and recent judgments
issued by the courts/tax authorities on similar matters.

West Service Area water and sewerage service revenue recognition and impact of adoption of PFRS 15,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

About 28% of the Company’s consolidated revenues comprises water and sewerage service revenues
from the Metropolitan Waterworks and Sewerage System (MWSS) West Service Area.  This matter is
significant to our audit because water and sewerage service revenue recognition is affected by the:
(a) completeness of data captured during monthly meter readings, which involves processing large

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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volume of data from multiple locations  and different billing cut-off dates for different customers;
(b) the propriety of the application of the relevant rates to the billable consumption of different customers
classified as residential, semi-business, commercial or industrial; (c) the reliability of the systems
involved in processing bills and recording revenues; and (d) impact of the adoption of new revenue
recognition PFRS 15 which involves the application of significant judgment in the assessment of
impracticability of retrospective restatement on accounting for connection fees.

Notes 3 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements provide the relevant disclosures related to this
matter.

Audit response

We obtained an understanding of the water and sewerage service revenue process, which includes
maintaining the customer database, capturing billable water consumption, uploading captured billable
water consumption to the billing system, calculating billable amounts based on MWSS approved rates,
and uploading data from the billing system to the financial reporting system.  We also evaluated the
design of and tested the relevant controls over this process.  In addition, we performed test recalculation
of the billed amounts using the MWSS approved rates and formulae, and compared them with the
amounts reflected in the billing statements.  Moreover, we involved our internal specialist in performing
the aforementioned procedures on the computer application automated aspects of this process.

For the adoption of PFRS 15, we obtained an understanding of Maynilad’s processes in implementing the
new revenue recognition standard.  We reviewed the PFRS 15 adoption papers and accounting policies
prepared by management, including revenue streams identification and scoping, and contract analyses.
For connection fees, we obtained an understanding of the process for new water service connections.  We
obtained sample water and sewer contracts and reviewed whether the accounting policies for connection
fees considered the requirements of PFRS 15.  We also reviewed the basis of impracticability of
retrospective restatement invoked by management against the requirements of PAS 8, Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, and against company and industry practices.

Investment in a significant associate

The Company has an investment in Manila Electric Company (Meralco) that is accounted for under the
equity method.  For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s effective share in the net income
of Meralco amounted to P=10.4 billion and accounts for 45% of the Company’s consolidated net income.
The Company’s share in Meralco’s net income is significantly affected by Meralco’s revenue recognition
from the sale of electricity which arise from its service contracts with a large number of customers who
are classified as either commercial, industrial or residential customers. The revenue recognized depends
on: (a) the complete capture of electric consumption based on the meter readings over the franchise area
taken on various dates; (b) the propriety of rates computed and applied across customer classes; (c) the
reliability of the information technology (IT) systems involved in processing the billing transaction and
(d) impact of the adoption of  new revenue recognition PFRS 15 such as accounting for the electricity, re-
connection and other non-standard connection fees as arising from a single performance obligation that
will be satisfied over the period when the services are expected to be provided.  In addition, Meralco is
involved in certain proceedings for which it recognized provisions for probable costs and/or expenses,
and/or has disclosed relevant information about such contingencies.  This matter is important to our audit
because the assessment of the potential outcome or liability involves significant management judgment
and estimation which will significantly affect Meralco’s net income.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements provides the relevant disclosures related to this matter.

Audit response

We obtained the consolidated financial information of Meralco for the year ended December 31, 2018
and performed recomputation of the Company’s equity in net earnings of Meralco.

We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design of, as well as tested the controls over, the
customer master file maintenance, accumulation and processing of meter data, and interface of data from
the billing system to the financial reporting system.  In addition, we performed a test recalculation of the
bill amounts using the ERC-approved rates and formulae, as well as actual costs incurred, and compared
them with the amounts reflected in the billing statements.  We involved our internal specialist in
understanding the IT processes and in understanding and testing the IT general controls over the IT
systems supporting the revenue process.

On PFRS 15 adoption, we obtained understanding of Meralco’s implementation process and tested the
relevant controls. We reviewed the PFRS 15 adoption documentation and the updated accounting policies
as prepared by management, including revenue streams identification and scoping, and contract analysis.
We obtained sample contracts and reviewed the performance obligations identified to be provided by
Meralco, the determination of transaction price and other considerations received from customers, and the
timing of the revenue recognition based on the period when services are to be rendered.

We examined Meralco’s assessment of the possible outcomes and the related estimates of the probable
costs and/or expenses that were recognized.  In addition, we evaluated the input data supporting the
assumptions used, such as tariffs, tax rates, historical experience, regulatory rulings and other
developments, against Meralco’s internal and external data, and performed recalculations and inspection
of relevant supporting documents.

\Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report
for the year ended December 31, 2018, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2018 are expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit.  We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Marydith C. Miguel.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Marydith C. Miguel
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 65556
SEC Accreditation No. 0087-AR-5 (Group A),
 January 10, 2019, valid until January 9, 2022
Tax Identification No. 102-092-270
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-55-2018,
 February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 7332586, January 3, 2019, Makati City

March 5, 2019
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METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Amounts in Millions)

December 31
2018 2017

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits (Notes 7, 32 and 33) P=47,521 P=49,317
Restricted cash (Notes 7, 30, 32 and 33) 5,421 4,047
Receivables (Notes 8, 19, 32 and 33) 12,495 10,899
Other current assets (Notes 9, 32 and 33) 12,892 10,432

78,329 74,695
Assets held for sale (Note 30) 1,250 250

Total Current Assets 79,579 74,945

Noncurrent Assets
Investments and advances (Notes 10, 32 and 33) 152,993 150,971
Service concession assets (Notes 1, 12 and 14) 205,992 168,783
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 71,926 67,606
Goodwill (Note 11) 27,856 25,384
Intangible assets (Note 11) 3,897 4,637
Deferred tax assets (Note 26) 1,270 1,045
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 8, 9, 23, 32, 33 and 34) 14,433 10,380

Total Noncurrent Assets 478,367 428,806

P=557,946 P=503,751

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (Notes 15, 19, 32 and 33) P=31,951 P=27,142
Income tax payable 1,533 1,415
Due to related parties (Notes 19, 32 and 33) 4,462 3,879
Current portion of:

Provisions (Note 16) 6,004 5,997
Long-term debt (Notes 18, 32 and 33) 11,619 15,573
Service concession fees payable (Notes 17, 32 and 33) 693 871

Total Current Liabilities 56,262 54,877

(Forward)
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December 31
2018 2017

Noncurrent Liabilities
Noncurrent portion of:

Provisions (Note 16) P=2,528 P=2,106
Service concession fees payable (Notes 17, 32 and 33) 29,946 28,873
Long-term debt (Notes 18, 32 and 33) 203,474 173,510

Due to related parties (Notes 19, 32 and 33) 7,392 11,767
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 26) 9,930 6,836
Other long-term liabilities (Notes 15, 23, 32, 33 and 34) 9,411 10,103

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 262,681 233,195
Total Liabilities 318,943 288,072

Equity (Note 20)
Owners of the Parent Company:

Capital stock 31,633 31,626
Additional paid-in capital 68,494 68,465
Treasury shares (178) (167)
Equity reserves 6,968 5,742
Retained earnings 64,533 53,894
Other comprehensive income (OCI) reserve 1,861 1,684

Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 173,311 161,244
Non-controlling interest 65,692 54,435

Total Equity 239,003 215,679

P=557,946 P=503,751

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Millions, Except Earnings Per Share Figures)

Years Ended December 31
2018 2017 2016

OPERATING REVENUES (Notes 1 and 37)
Power and coal sales P=27,026 P=13,042 P=–
Water and sewerage services revenue 22,575 20,926 20,280
Toll fees 15,486 13,107 11,902
Hospital revenue 12,950 10,737 8,967
Rail revenue 3,310 3,155 3,016
Logistics and other revenue 1,682 1,545 655

83,029 62,512 44,820
COST OF SALES AND SERVICES (Note 21) (42,714) (29,374) (18,370)
GROSS PROFIT 40,315 33,138 26,450
General and administrative expenses (Note 22) (14,972) (12,126) (9,062)
Interest expense (Note 24) (10,388) (7,995) (5,328)
Share in net earnings of equity method investees (Note 10) 11,073 8,045 6,808
Dividend income (Note 10) 172 2,631 1,353
Interest income (Note 24) 1,496 623 417
Construction revenue (Note 3) 27,363 19,344 16,799
Construction costs (Note 3) (27,362) (19,344) (16,799)
Others (Note 24) 1,488 360 299
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 29,185 24,676 20,937
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 26)
Current 6,398 5,390 4,091
Deferred 610 259 67

7,008 5,649 4,158
NET INCOME 22,177 19,027 16,779
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) - NET

(Note 25)
To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (578) 482 444
Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 899 (948) 1,024

321 (466) 1,468
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=22,498 P=18,561 P=18,247
Net income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company P=14,130 P=13,151 P=11,456
Non-controlling interest 8,047 5,876 5,323

P=22,177 P=19,027 P=16,779
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company P=14,307 P=12,864 P=12,917
Non-controlling interest 8,191 5,697 5,330

P=22,498 P=18,561 P=18,247
EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 27)
Basic Earnings Per Common Share, Attributable

to Owners of the Parent Company P=0.4481 P=0.4171 P=0.3810
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share, Attributable

to Owners of the Parent Company P=0.4476 P=0.4167 P=0.3806

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts in Millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Attributable to Owners of the Parent Company

Capital Stock
(Note 20)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

(Note 20)

Treasury
Shares

(Note 20)
Equity

Reserves

Retained
Earnings
(Note 20)

Other
Comprehensive

Income
Reserve
(Note 20) Total

Non-
controlling

Interest
(NCI)

Total
Equity

At January 1, 2018 P=31,626 P=68,465 (P=167) P=5,742 P=53,894 P=1,684 P=161,244 P=54,435 P=215,679
Total comprehensive income for the year:
 Net income – – – – 14,130 – 14,130 8,047 22,177
 OCI (Note 25) – – – – – 177 177 144 321
Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) (Note 28):

Exercise of stock option 7 29 – (4) – – 32 – 32
Cost of ESOP – – – 24 – – 24 – 24

Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) (Note 28) – – – 67 – – 67 – 67
Treasury shares – – (11) – – – (11) – (11)
Cash dividends declared (Note 20) – – – – (3,491) – (3,491) – (3,491)
Business combinations and other movements in NCI (Note 4) – – – – – – – 8,382 8,382
Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Notes 4 and 39) – – – 1,139 – – 1,139 (774) 365
Dividends declared to non-controlling stockholders (Note 6) – – – – – – – (4,542) (4,542)
At December 31, 2018 P=31,633 P=68,494 (P=178) P=6,968 P=64,533 P=1,861 P=173,311 P=65,692 P=239,003
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Year Ended December 31, 2017
Attributable to Owners of the Parent Company

Capital Stock
(Note 20)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

(Note 20)

Treasury
Shares

(Note 20)
Equity

Reserves

Retained
Earnings
(Note 20)

Other
Comprehensive
Income Reserve

(Note 20) Total

Non-
controlling

Interest
(NCI)

Total
Equity

At January 1, 2017 P=31,619 P=68,438 (P=167) P=6,282 P=43,889 P=1,971 P=152,032 P=36,049 P=188,081
Total comprehensive income for the year:
 Net income – – – – 13,151 – 13,151 5,876 19,027
 OCI (Note 25) – – – – – (287) (287) (179) (466)
ESOP (Note 28) 7 27 – (5) – – 29 – 29
RSUP (Note 28) – – – 67 – – 67 – 67
Cash dividends declared (Note 20) – – – – (3,239) – (3,239) – (3,239)
Business combinations and other movements in NCI (Note 4) – – – – 93 – 93 17,138 17,231
Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Notes 4 and 39) – – – (360) – – (360) 48 (312)
Deferred tax on equity transaction (Note 26) – – – (242) – – (242) – (242)
Dividends declared to non-controlling stockholders (Note 6) – – – – – – – (4,497) (4,497)
At December 31, 2017 P=31,626 P=68,465 (P=167) P=5,742 P=53,894 P=1,684 P=161,244 P=54,435 P=215,679
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Year Ended December 31, 2016
Attributable to Owners of the Parent Company

Capital Stock
(Note 20)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

(Note 20)

Treasury
Shares

(Note 20)
Equity

Reserves

Retained
Earnings
(Note 20)

Other
Comprehensive

Income
Reserve

(Note 20) Total

Non-
controlling

Interest (NCI)
Total

Equity
At January 1, 2016 P=27,935 P=49,980 P=– P=6,248 P=35,149 P=510 P=119,822 P=30,955 P=150,777
Total comprehensive income for the year:
 Net income – – – – 11,456 – 11,456 5,323 16,779
 OCI (Note 25) – – – – – 1,461 1,461 7 1,468
Issuance of shares
 Common shares 3,600 18,360 – – – – 21,960 – 21,960
 Preferred shares 41 – – – – – 41 – 41
Transaction costs on issuance of shares – (84) – – – – (84) – (84)
ESOP (Note 28) 43 182 – (33) – – 192 – 192
RSUP (Note 28) – – – 67 – – 67 – 67
Treasury shares – – (167) – – – (167) – (167)
Cash dividends declared (Note 20) – – – – (2,716) – (2,716) – (2,716)
Business combinations and other movements in NCI (Note 4) – – – – – – – 1,401 1,401
Dividends declared to non-controlling stockholders (Note 6) – – – – – – – (1,637) (1,637)
At December 31, 2016 P=31,619 P=68,438 (P=167) P=6,282 P=43,889 P=1,971 P=152,032 P=36,049 P=188,081

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



*SGVFS032824*

METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Millions)

Years Ended December 31
2018 2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=29,185 P=24,676 P=20,937
Adjustments for:

Interest expense (Note 24) 10,388 7,995 5,328
Amortization of service concession assets (Note 21) 4,514 3,909 3,679
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 1, 13, 21 and 22) 5,604 3,379 1,334

 Impairment of goodwill and nonfinancial assets
(Notes 3, 10 and 11) 798 763 774

Long Term Incentive Plan expense (Note 23) 710 629 533
Unrealized foreign exchange loss – net 837 65 2

 Share in net earnings of equity method investees
(Note 10) (11,073) (8,045) (6,808)

Dividend income (Note 10) (172) (2,631) (1,353)
Loss (gain) on sale of investments (Note 10) – (732) –
Interest income (Note 24) (1,496) (623) (417)

 Loss (gain) on remeasurement of previously held
interest (Notes 4 and 24) (721) 29 –

Others (702) 529 (165)
Operating income before working capital changes 37,872 29,943 23,844
Increase in:

Restricted cash (1,124) (775) (18)
Receivables (787) (761) (694)
Due from related parties and other current assets (1,951) (1,338) (604)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 2,653 2,884 729
Provisions and accrued retirement cost 402 1,104 (726)

Net cash generated from operations 37,065 31,057 22,531
Income taxes paid (6,531) (5,145) (4,042)
Interest received 1,462 596 429
Net cash from operating activities 31,996 26,508 18,918

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received from:

Equity method investees (Note 10) 8,589 6,903 5,679
Available-for-sale financial assets (Notes 32 and 33) 172 144 136
Beacon Electric’s preferred shares (Note 10) – 2,541 –

Collection of or proceeds from sale/disposal of:
Available-for-sale financial assets (Notes 32 and 33) 12,366 14,968 14,679
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 55 22 21

 Investment in associate (net of transaction
cost; Note 10) – 12,403 –

Redemption of preferred shares (Note 10) – 3,500 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (Note 4) (807) (5,958) (4,812)

(Forward)
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Years Ended December 31
2018 2017 2016

Additions to/issuance of:
Service concession assets (Note 12) (P=27,710) (P=18,707) (P=17,757)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 11) (6,545) (20,409) (13,823)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) (6,524) (3,689) (2,536)
Investments in equity method investees (Note 10) (4,603) (12,652) (21,587)

Decrease (increase) in:
Short-term deposits 1,859 11,574 3,048
Other noncurrent assets (2,293) (3,488) (163)

Net cash used in investing activities (25,441) (12,848) (37,115)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of or proceeds from:

Long-term debt (Notes 18 and 35) 70,327 36,504 13,415
 Contribution from non-controlling stockholders

and other movements (Notes 4, 6 and 30) 1,354 37 777
Issuance of shares (Notes 20 and 28) 32 29 22,193

Payments of/for:
Long-term debt (Notes 18 and 35) (46,751) (9,822) (4,030)
Interest and other financing charges (9,534) (6,544) (4,155)
Dividends paid to non-controlling stockholders (Note 6) (5,399) (1,999) (2,050)
Due to related parties (Note 35) (4,458) (2,001) (4,243)

 Dividends paid to owners of the Parent Company
(Note 20) (3,491) (3,239) (2,716)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (Note 4) (1,056) – (32)
Service concession fees payable (Notes 17 and 35) (1,007) (1,007) (1,209)
Debt issuance cost (Note 18) (789) (238) (516)
Treasury shares (Note 20) (11) – (167)
Transaction costs on issuance of shares – – (84)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities (783) 11,720 17,183

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,772 25,380 (1,014)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (Note 7) 40,835 15,455 16,469

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR (Note 7) P=46,607 P=40,835 P=15,455

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

General
Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (the Parent Company or MPIC) was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on
March 20, 2006 as an investment holding company.  MPIC’s common shares of stock are listed in
and traded through the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).  On August 6, 2012, MPIC launched
Sponsored Level 1 American Depositary Receipt (ADR) Program with Deutsche Bank as the
appointed depositary bank in line with the Parent Company’s thrust to widen the availability of its
shares to investors in the United States.

The principal activities of the Parent Company’s subsidiaries and equity method investees are
described below (see Company’s Operating Segments) and in Notes 10 and 39.  The Parent Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the Company”.

Metro Pacific Holdings, Inc. (MPHI) owns 41.9% of the total issued common shares (or 42.0% of the
total outstanding common shares) of MPIC as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  As sole holder of the
voting Class A Preferred Shares, MPHI’s combined voting interest as a result of all of its
shareholdings is estimated at 55.0% as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (see Note 20).

MPHI is a Philippine corporation whose stockholders are Enterprise Investment Holdings, Inc.
(EIH; 60.0% interest), Intalink B.V. (26.7% interest) and First Pacific International Limited (FPIL;
13.3% interest).  First Pacific Company Limited (FPC), a company incorporated in Bermuda and
listed in Hong Kong, through its subsidiaries, Intalink B.V. and FPIL, holds 40.0% equity interest in
EIH and investment financing which under Hong Kong Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,
require FPC to account for the results and assets and liabilities of EIH and its subsidiaries as part of
FPC group of companies in Hong Kong.

The registered office address of the Parent Company is 10th Floor, MGO Building, Legaspi corner
Dela Rosa Streets, Legaspi Village, Makati City.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 were approved and authorized for issuance
by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 5, 2019.

Company’s Operating Segments
For management purposes, the Company is organized into the following segments based on services
and products:

§ Power, which primarily relates to the operations of Manila Electric Company (MERALCO) in
relation to the distribution, supply and generation of electricity and Global Business Power
Corporation (GBPC) in relation to power generation. The investment in MERALCO is held both
directly and indirectly through Beacon Electric Asset Holdings, Inc. (Beacon Electric)
(see Note 10) while the investment in GBPC is held through Beacon Electric’s wholly-owned
entity, Beacon PowerGen Holdings Inc. (BPHI).
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§ Toll operations, which primarily relate to operations and maintenance of toll facilities by Metro
Pacific Tollways Corporation (MPTC) and its subsidiaries NLEX Corporation (NLEX Corp;
formerly Manila North Tollways Corporation), Cavitex Infrastructure Corporation (CIC), and
foreign investees, CII Bridges and Roads Investment Joint Stock Company (CII B&R), Don
Muang Tollway Public Ltd (DMT) and PT Nusantara Infrastructure Tbk (PT Nusantara) (see
Notes 4 and 10).  Certain toll projects are either under pre-construction or on-going construction
as at December 31, 2018 (see Note 30 for the Concession Arrangements).

§ Water, which relates to the provision of water and sewerage services by Maynilad Water Holding
Company, Inc. (MWHC) and its subsidiaries, Maynilad Water Services, Inc. (Maynilad) and
Philippine Hydro, Inc. (PHI), and other water-related services by MetroPac Water Investments
Corporation (MPW) (see Note 30 for the Concession Arrangements).

§ Healthcare, which primarily relates to operations and management of hospitals and nursing
colleges and such other enterprises that have similar undertakings by Metro Pacific Hospital
Holdings, Inc. (MPHHI) and subsidiaries.

§ Rail, which primarily relates to Metro Pacific Light Rail Corporation (MPLRC) and its
subsidiary, Light Rail Manila Corporation (LRMC), the concessionaire for the operations and
maintenance of the Light Rail Transit – Line 1 (LRT-1) and construction of the LRT-1 south
extension (see Note 30 for the Concession Arrangements).

§ Logistics, which primarily relates to the Company’s logistics business through MetroPac
Logistics Company, Inc. (MPLC) and its subsidiaries.

§ Others, which represent holding companies and operations of subsidiaries and other investees
involved in real estate and provision of services.

See Note 39 for the complete list of the Company’s subsidiaries.  The list of the Company’s
associates and joint ventures are disclosed in Note 10.

2. Basis of Preparation, Consolidation and Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRS).  The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain debt
and equity financial assets that are measured at fair value.  The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Philippine Peso, which is MPIC’s functional and presentation currency, and all values
are rounded to the nearest million peso (P=000,000), except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect to the previous
periods.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries.
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Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Company has control. The
Company controls an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Company.  These are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Company.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between companies are
eliminated.  Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

A complete list of the Company’s subsidiaries is provided for in Note 39.

3. Management’s Use of Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities and other significant disclosures.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation of CIC in which the Company Holds No Voting Rights.  The Company considers that it
controls CIC even though it does not own any voting rights by virtue of the Management Letter
Agreement (MLA).  Under the MLA, MPTC has the power to solely direct the entire operations,
including the capital expenditure and expansion plans of CIC.  MPTC shall then receive all the
financial benefits from CIC’s operations and all losses incurred by CIC are to be borne by MPTC.

Consolidation of entities in which the Company holds less than a majority of voting right (de facto
control).  The Company started consolidating Davao Doctors Hospital Inc. (DDH) in 2018 as a result
of the acquisition of additional shares acquired from September to October 2018 (see Note 4).

Based on the Company’s assessment, MPHHI considers that it controls DDH even though it owns
less than 50% of the voting rights.  This is because MPHHI is the single largest shareholder of DDH
with a 49.9% equity interest. The remaining 50.1% of the equity shares in DDH are widely held by
many other shareholders, none of which individually hold more than 1.8% of the equity shares.
MPHHI is also unaware of any formal arrangements or agreements among the other shareholders to
consult and make collective decisions.
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Dilution in Interest in a Subsidiary as Equity Transaction.  On July 2, 2014, GIC Private Limited
(GIC), through Arran Investment Private Limited, invested P=3.7 billion for a 14.4% stake in MPHHI
and paid P=6.5 billion as consideration for an Exchangeable Bond issued by MPIC which can be
exchanged into a 25.5% stake in MPHHI in the future.  The Exchangeable Bond is an instrument that,
at a certain time in the future, converts into a fixed number of shares of MPHHI.  Moreover, the
principal of Exchangeable Bond is in Philippine Peso, the same currency as the functional currency of
MPIC as the issuing entity.  Thus, the Exchangeable Bond qualifies as an equity instrument such that
the proceeds from the Exchangeable Bond together with the share subscription of GIC in MPHHI,
were considered as equity transactions with a non-controlling shareholder.  Interest accruing on the
Exchangeable Bond is recorded as interest payable recognized at its present value.

Service Concession Arrangements. In applying Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service
Concession Arrangements, the Company has made a judgment that certain service concession
arrangements of the Company’s water, tollway and rail businesses (see Note 30) qualify under the
intangible asset model as these companies receive the right to charge users of public service.  Details
of the Company’s accounting policy in respect of the service concession arrangements are set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.  Other significant judgments and estimates made in
relation to concession arrangements are as follows:

§ Amortization of Service Concession Assets. The methods of amortization that the Company uses
depends on which method best reflects the pattern of consumption of the concession assets.

The straight-line method is currently being used to amortize the water concession assets in
relation with the provision of bulk water services [PHI and Metro Iloilo Bulk Water Supply
Corporation (MIBWS)].  The estimated useful lives used by the Company to amortize the service
concession assets are based on the terms of the service concession contracts.

The Units of Production (UOP) method is being used for the toll (NLEX Corp, CIC and PT
Nusantara) and water concession assets (Maynilad).  The Company annually reviews the
estimated billable water volume in the case of the water concession with reference to water
volume forecasts, and the total expected traffic volume/kilometers travelled in the case of the toll
concession with reference to traffic projection reports, based on factors that include market
conditions such as population growth, supply and consumption of water/usage of the toll facility,
and service coverage including ongoing and future expansions.  The Company makes appropriate
adjustments to the assumptions of the water/traffic volume with reference to the latest studies.  It
is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the
Company’s estimates brought about by changes in the aforementioned factors.

The Company has not started amortization of service concession assets under on-going
rehabilitation or construction.  The amortization period for the service concession asset related to
the rehabilitation of the LRT-1 Existing System will begin upon identification that the asset is
ready for its intended use.  This may be triggered upon receipt of Safety Assessor’s certification
that the speed can be raised to 60 kilometers per hour. For the service concession asset related to
the construction of the LRT-1 Cavite Extension and the certain toll roads [the Connector Road,
Cavite Laguna Expressway (CALAEX) and Cebu Cordova Link Expressway (CCLEX)], the
amortization will start when construction is completed.

The total carrying values of service concession assets amounted to P=205,992 million and
P=168,783 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 12).
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§ Service Concession Asset as Qualifying Asset and Capitalization of Borrowing Costs. The
Company has made a judgment to apply PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, in classifying the service
concession assets’ components undergoing rehabilitation (in the case of the existing LRT-1) and
pre/on-going construction (in the case of the construction of the LRT-1 extension, the Connector
Road, CALAEX and CCLEX) as qualifying assets.  The existing LRT-1 is severely deteriorated
when turned over to LRMC and the intention of management to bring it at par with the standard
for rail system played a key factor in the designation of the rehabilitation of the existing LRT-1
system as a qualifying asset.

The Company capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of the qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset using the specific borrowing
approach, as the Company uses specific borrowings to finance its qualifying assets.  Capitalized
borrowing costs for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to P=3,212 million
and P=2,907 million, respectively (see Note 12).  Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the components of the service concession asset
for its intended use or sale are complete.

§ Construction revenue and costs. The Company recognizes construction revenues and costs in
accordance with PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, beginning January 1, 2018
(PAS 11, Construction, Contracts prior to adoption of PFRS 15; see Note 37).  Given that the
rehabilitation and construction works have been subcontracted to outside contractors (excluding
the cost of some materials for some contractors), the recognized construction revenue
substantially approximates the related construction cost.  Construction revenue recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to P=27,363 million, P=19,344 million
and P=16,799 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Construction costs recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted
to P=27,362 million, P=19,344 million and P=16,799 million for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively.

§ Provision for heavy maintenance.  The Company also recognizes its contractual obligations to
restore the toll roads to a specified level of serviceability.  NLEX Corp, CIC and PT Nusantara
recognize provision following PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
as the obligation arises which is a consequence of the use of the toll roads and therefore it is
proportional to the number of vehicles using the roads and increasing in measurable annual
increments.  Provision for heavy maintenance amounted to P=445 million and P=402 million as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 16).

Claims from the Grantor/s. Sizeable pending claims have accumulated for the Company’s water, toll
and rail businesses:

§ Maynilad.  On December 29, 2014, Maynilad’s proposed adjustment to its tariff for the rate rebasing
period 2013 to 2017 was upheld against the MWSS-approved tariff adjustment in arbitration
proceedings in the Philippines.  However, MWSS did not implement the awarded tariff increase.
Consequently, Maynilad called on the Letter of Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) which the Republic
of the Philippines (the “Republic”), through the Department of Finance (“DOF”), issued in favor of
Maynilad.  For refusing to compensate Maynilad for its foregone revenues arising from the refusal of
MWSS to implement the awarded tariff increase, Maynilad initiated arbitration proceedings against
the ROP in Singapore, pursuant to the Undertaking.   The arbitration hearings were completed in
December 2016.  On July 24, 2017, the three-person Arbitral Tribunal (the “Tribunal”) unanimously
upheld the validity of Maynilad’s claim against the Undertaking, and ordered the Republic, through
the DOF, to compensate Maynilad for its foregone revenues.  The Tribunal ordered the Republic to
reimburse Maynilad P=3.4 billion (subsequently corrected to P=3.2 billion) for losses from March 11,
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2015 to August 31, 2016, without prejudice to any rights that Maynilad may have to seek recourse
against the MWSS for losses incurred from January 2013 to March 10, 2015.  Further, the Tribunal
ruled that Maynilad is entitled to recover from the Republic its losses from September 1, 2016.  The
total claims against the Republic amounted to P=6.7 billion, comprising of revenue losses from
March 11, 2015 to December 31, 2017.  As at December 31, 2017, Maynilad’s total cumulative
revenue losses due to the delayed implementation of the arbitration awards are estimated at
P=11.4 billion (see Note 29).

§ NLEX Corp and CIC.  In August 2015, for failure to implement toll rate adjustments, NLEX Corp
and CIC filed notices with the TRB and DOTC demanding settlement of the past due tariff increases
amounting to P=2.4 billion and P=719.0 million based on the overdue toll rate adjustments as at
July 31, 2015 for the NLEX and CAVITEX, respectively.  As at December 31, 2018, the total
amount of compensation for TRB’s inaction on lawful toll rate adjustments for NLEX and SCTEX,
are approximately at P=8.0 billion and P=1.5 billion (net of both VAT and Government share).  As at
December 31, 2018, total amount of compensation for TRB’s inaction on lawful toll rate adjustments
which were due since January 1, 2012 for both R1 and R1-Extension of the CAVITEX, is
approximately at P=1.9 billion (VAT-exclusive and net of Philippine Reclamation Authority’s share;
see Note 29).

§ LRMC. On various dates in 2015 through 2019, LRMC submitted letters to the DOTr representing
its claim for costs incurred and estimated in relation to Existing System Requirement (ESR) and
Light Rail Vehicle (LRV) shortfall on the premise of the Grantors’ obligation in relation to the
condition of the Existing System as at the Effective Date (September 12, 2015) fare deficit,
Structural Defect Restoration (SDR) costs, and contractor and other additional costs incurred less
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) charges (see Notes 29 and 30).

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
for the abovementioned claims pending outcome of the discussions with the Grantor/s.

Definition of Default and Credit-impaired Financial Assets upon Adoption of PFRS 9. The Company
considers a financial asset in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired,
when contractual payments are more than 60 to 180 days past due.  However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company.

Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.  The Company based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were
prepared.  Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due
to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company.  Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Determination of Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company initially records all financial
instruments at fair value and subsequently carries certain financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment.  Valuation techniques
are used particularly for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not quoted in an active
market.  Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values (e.g., discounted cash flow and
option pricing models), they are periodically reviewed by qualified personnel who are independent of
the persons that initiated the transactions.  All models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect
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actual data and comparative market prices.  To the extent practicable, models use only observable
data as valuation inputs.  However, other inputs such as credit risk (whether that of the Company or
the counterparties), forward prices, volatilities and correlations, require management to develop
estimates or make adjustments to observable data of comparable instruments.  The amount of changes
in fair values would differ if the Company uses different valuation assumptions or other acceptable
methodologies.  Any change in fair value of these financial instruments would affect either the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income or consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in Note 34.

Purchase Price Allocation in Business Combinations and Acquisition of Associate and Goodwill.
The Company accounts for the acquired businesses, and in part in an acquisition of associates, using
the acquisition method which requires extensive use of accounting judgments and estimates to
allocate the purchase price to the fair market values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
and contingent liabilities, if any, at the acquisition date.  Any difference in the purchase price and the
fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as either goodwill, a separate account in the
consolidated statement of financial position (or subsumed in the investment for acquisition of an
associate), or gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss.  Thus, the numerous judgments made in
estimating the fair value to be assigned to the acquiree’s assets and liabilities can materially affect the
Company’s financial position and performance.

The Company’s acquisitions of certain subsidiaries have resulted in recognition of goodwill.  The
carrying value of goodwill amounted to P=27,856 million and P=25,384 million as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 11).

Impairment of Receivables prior to adoption of PFRS 9. The Company estimates the allowance for
doubtful accounts related to receivables using a combination of specific and collective assessments.  The
amounts calculated in each level of impairment assessment are combined to determine the total amount
of allowance for doubtful accounts.  First, the Company evaluates specific accounts that are considered
individually significant for any objective evidence that certain customers are unable to meet their
financial obligations.  In these cases, the Company uses judgment, based on the best available facts and
circumstances, including but not limited to, the length of its relationship with the customer and the
customer’s current credit status based on third party credit reports and known market factors.

The allowance provided is based on the difference between the present value of cash flows of the
receivable that the Company expects to collect, discounted at the receivables’ original effective interest
rate, and the carrying amount of the receivable.  These specific allowances are re-evaluated and adjusted
as additional information received affects the amounts estimated.  If no impairment loss is determined for
an individually assessed receivable, the receivable is included in a group of receivables with similar
credit risk characteristics and is collectively assessed for impairment.  The provision under collective
assessment is based on historical collection and write-off experience and change in customer payment
terms.  Impairment assessment is performed on a continuous basis throughout the year.

The carrying value of receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, amounted to P=10,899 million
as at December 31, 2017 (see Notes 8 and 32).

Provision for expected credit losses (ECL) of receivables upon adoption of PFRS 9. The Company uses
a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer/counterparty segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by location,
service type, customer type and rating).
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The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Company’s receivables is disclosed in Note 32.

Incorporation of Forward-looking Information upon Adoption of PFRS 9.  To capture the effect of
changes to the economic environment in the future, the computation of Probability of Default (PD), Loss
Given Default (LGD) and ECL, incorporates forward-looking information; assumptions on the path of
economic variables that are likely to have an effect on the repayment ability of the Company’s
counterparties.  The starting point for the projections of economic variables is based on management’s
view, which underlies the plan to deliver the Company’s strategy and ensures it has sufficient capital over
the medium term.  Management’s view covers a core set of economic variables required to set the
strategic plan.

Accounting for Connection Fees. Under PFRS 15, the connection fee and the related water and sewer
services are accounted for as arising from a single performance obligation that will be satisfied over
the period when the related services are expected to be provided.  The adoption of PFRS 15 requires
that the connection fee collected for all active water service connections as at January 1, 2018 to be
recognized as revenue over time.  Management has made a judgment that it is impracticable to restate
revenue from connection fee retrospectively given the impracticality in obtaining all the relevant
information to properly and accurately estimate the cumulative impact of the change in accounting for
connection fees, including among others, sources and number of active service connections, amount
of connection fee paid per connection, and the related cost.

Considering impracticability of retrospective restatement, the Company adopted the change in
accounting for connection fees prospectively starting on January 1, 2018 as allowed under PAS 8.

Recoverability of Goodwill and Service Concession Assets not yet Available for Use. Goodwill and
service concession assets not yet available for use are subject to annual impairment test.  This
requires an estimation of the value in use (VIU) of the cash generating units (CGUs) to which the
goodwill is allocated or to which the service concession assets belong.  Estimating the value in use
requires the Company to estimate the expected future cash flows from the CGU and to choose an
appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  Impairment of
goodwill amounting to P=43 million, P=324 million and nil was recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The carrying values of goodwill amounted to
P=27,856 million and P=25,384 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 11).
The aggregate carrying value of service concession assets not yet available for use amounted to
P=60,274 million and P=44,543 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 14).

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets. Impairment review is performed when certain impairment indicators
are present.  Determining the fair value of assets requires the estimation of cash flows expected to be
generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets.
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While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the
consolidated financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these
assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment
loss could have a material adverse impact on the results of operations.

The carrying values of non-financial assets subject to impairment review when impairment indicators are
present are as follows:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Service concession assets (see Note 12) P=205,992 P=168,783
Investments and advances (see Note 10) 152,993 150,971
Property, plant and equipment (see Note 13) 71,926 67,606
Intangible assets (see Note 11) 3,897 4,637
Deferred project costs* 1,107 945
*Included under “Other noncurrent assets”.

Impairment loss on investments and advances amounting P=755 million, P=439 million and P=774 million
were recognized in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Notes 10 and 24).

Estimated Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The useful lives of each
of the item of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are estimated based on
the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use.  Such estimation is based on a
collective assessment of similar businesses, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar
assets.  The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed at each financial year-end and updated if
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset.  It is possible, however, that future results
of operations could be materially affected by changes in the amounts and timing of recorded expenses
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above.  A reduction in the estimated useful life of any
these items would increase the recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease the carrying
values of these assets.

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of these assets for all the periods presented.

Taxes. Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax
laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income.  Given the diversity of the Company’s
businesses and the long-term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements or the nature of
the business itself, changes in differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or
future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense
already recorded.  The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities under which the Company operates.  The amount of such
provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority.  Such differences
in interpretation may arise for a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the
respective domicile or to the operations of the Company.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and
the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.  The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
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assets to be utilized.  The Company performs an annual evaluation of the realizability of deferred income
tax assets in determining the portion of deferred tax assets which should be recognized.  The Company’s
assessment on the recognition of deferred income tax assets on deductible temporary differences is based
on the forecasted taxable income of the following periods.  This forecast is based on the Company’s past
results and future expectations on revenue and expenses.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are entitled to income tax holiday period.  The Company
recognized deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences expected to reverse after the income
tax holiday period, while deferred taxes on deductible temporary differences expected to reverse during
the income tax holiday and to items where doubt exists as to the tax benefits they will bring in the future,
are not recognized.

Deferred tax assets amounted to P=1,270 million and P=1,045 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.  The Company’s deductible temporary difference, including unused NOLCO and MCIT,
for which no deferred tax assets have been recognized amounted to P=13,219 million and
P=9,527 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 26).

Long-Term Incentives Plan (LTIP). The LTIP for key executives of MPIC and certain subsidiaries
was approved by the Compensation Committee and the BOD and is based on profit targets for the
covered performance cycle.  The cost of LTIP is determined using the projected unit credit method
based on prevailing discount rates and profit targets.  While management’s assumptions are believed
to be reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in actual results or changes in assumptions
may materially affect the Company’s other long-term incentive benefits.

LTIP expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to P=710 million,
P=629 million and P=533 million, respectively, and presented as “Personnel costs and employee
benefits” under “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.  LTIP payable as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to
P=1,715 million and P=1,405 million, respectively, and is presented under “Accounts payable and other
current liabilities” for the current portion and “Other long-term liabilities” account for the noncurrent
portion in the consolidated statements of financial position (see Notes 15 and 23).

Provisions. The Company recognizes provisions based on estimates of whether it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation.  Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognized, such differences will impact the
financial performance in the current period in which such determination is made.

Provisions mainly consist of provision for estimated expenses related to the concluded and ongoing
debt settlement negotiations and certain warranties and guarantees, claims and potential claims
against the Company, provision for heavy maintenance and decommissioning liability.

§ Heavy maintenance.  The provisions for the heavy maintenance require an estimation of the periodic
cost, generally estimated to be every five to seven years or the expected heavy maintenance dates, to
restore the assets to a level of serviceability during the concession term and in good condition before
turnover to the Grantor.  This is based on the best estimate of management to be the amount expected
to be incurred to settle the obligation at every heavy maintenance dates discounted using a pre-tax
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
liability.
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§ Decommissioning liability.  Certain of GBPC’s subsidiaries have legal obligations to decommission
or dismantle the power plant assets at the end of their estimated useful lives.  The Company
recognizes the present value of the obligation to dismantle the power plant assets and capitalizes the
present value of this cost as part of the balance of the related power plant assets, which are being
depreciated and amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Cost estimates expressed at the current price levels at the date of the estimate are discounted
using a rate of interest ranging from 3.95% and 5.62% in 2018 and 1.99% to 3.71% in 2017 to
take into account the timing of payments.  Each year, the provision is increased to reflect
accretion of discount and to accrue an estimate for the effects of inflation, with charges being
recognized as accretion expense, included under “Interest expense” in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income.  Changes in the decommissioning liability that result from a change in
the current best estimate of cash flow required to settle the obligation or a change in the discount
rate are added to (or deducted from) the amount recognized as the related asset and the periodic
unwinding of the discount on the liability is recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income as it occurs.

While the Company has made its best estimate in establishing the decommissioning provision
because of potential changes in the technology as well as safety and environmental requirements,
plus the actual time scale to complete decommissioning activities, the ultimate provision
requirements could either increase or decrease significantly from the Company’s estimates.  The
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by the changes in
these factors and circumstances.

Additional provisions including those arising from acquisitions (see Note 4), for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to P=979 million and P=3,061 million, respectively.  Cumulative
provisions amounted to P=8,532 million and P=8,103 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively (see Note 16).

Contingencies. Certain subsidiaries of the Parent Company are parties to certain lawsuits or claims
arising from the ordinary course of business.  However, the Company’s management and legal
counsel believe that the eventual liabilities under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a
material effect on the consolidated financial statements (see Note 29).

4. Business Combinations and Acquisition of Non-controlling Interests

The Company’s intention is to maintain and continue to develop a diverse set of infrastructure assets
through its investments in water, toll roads, power distribution and generation, health care services,
rail, logistics and other businesses that complement the current infrastructure business of the
Company.  The Company is therefore committed to investing through acquisitions and strategic
partnerships in prime infrastructure assets with the potential to provide synergies with its existing
operations.  Accordingly, the following acquisitions were made in 2018 and 2017.
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Acquisitions in 2018

Toll Operations

Step acquisition of PT Nusantara.  On November 3, 2017, MPTC, through its Indonesian subsidiary,
PT Metro Pacific Tollways Indonesia (PT MPTI), acquired a total of 6,600,000,000 shares of PT
Nusantara at a consideration of P=1.05 (Indonesian Rupiah; IDR 270) per share. The acquired shares
represented approximately 42.3% of the total issued capital stock of PT Nusantara on a fully-diluted
basis.  Together with PT MPTI’s earlier acquisitions, PT MPTI held a total of 48.3% of the total
issued capital stock of PT Nusantara on a fully-diluted basis. The transaction was executed by way of
a cross sale on the Indonesian Stock Exchange pursuant to definitive transaction documents entered
into with PT Matahari and other related parties.  This initial investment in PT Nusantara was
accounted for as an investment in an associate (see Note 10).

On July 2, 2018, PT MPTI acquired an additional 760,000,000 PT Nusantara shares, representing
5.0% of the issued share capital of the company, for an aggregate consideration of
IDR160.36 billion (equivalent to approximately P=597.3 million), which is IDR211 (equivalent to
approximately P=0.79) per share. These shares were acquired by way of a cross sale on the Indonesian
Stock Exchange. PT MPTI fully paid the consideration for the acquisition in cash on completion of
this transaction.  Immediately following this acquisition, PT MPTI held 8,114,495,300 PT Nusantara
shares, representing 53.3% of the issued share capital of PT Nusantara.  As a result, PT MPTI was
required to make a mandatory tender offer (MTO) to purchase all of the PT Nusantara shares which it
did not already own.  A total of 3,760,231,769 PT Nusantara shares, equivalent to 24.7% of the issued
capital of PT Nusantara, were tendered at an approved price of IDR 211 per share. The total cost is
IDR 802,109 million, equivalent to P=2.9 billion. PT MPTI after the MTO owns a total of 77.9%,
issued capital stock of PT Nusantara (80.0% on the basis of issued and outstanding shares). The
Settlement Date for the mandatory tender offer was on September 10, 2018.

PT Nusantara is a publicly listed limited liability company duly established and existing under the
laws of the Republic of Indonesia. Its infrastructure portfolio in Indonesia includes toll roads, ports,
energy and water although approximately 80% of its core income is attributable to the toll roads.

With MPTC acquiring control over PT Nusantara, this transaction was accounted for using the
acquisition method under PFRS 3, Business Combinations.  In accordance with PFRS 3:

§ remeasurement gain of P=493 million was recognized in “Others” account in the 2018
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in relation with the previously held interest in
PT Nusantara (see Note 24); and

§ PT Nusantara and its subsidiaries were fully consolidated from July 2, 2018.
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The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of step acquisition:

Provisional
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=2,418
Receivables 549
Other current assets 509
Property, plant and equipment 728
Service concession assets 12,404
Investment in associates 2,992
Other noncurrent assets 1,680

21,280
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 487
Long-term debt (current and noncurrent portions) 3,315
Deferred tax liabilities 2,259
Other long-term liabilities 258

6,318
Noncontrolling interest at PT Nusantara level 3,542

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 11,420
Noncontrolling interest (20.04%) (2,288)
Fair value of previously held interest (7,248)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,594
Cash transferred P=3,478

The non-controlling interest representing the minority shareholders who did not participate in the
tender offer, was measured at the corresponding proportionate share in PT Nusantara’s net asset
measured as at acquisition date.  Cash transferred represents the sum of the purchase price of the
shares acquired on July 2, 2018 and settlement price of the shares acquired as a result of the
mandatory tender offer.

Net cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=2,418
Total cash transferred (3,478)
Net cash outflow (P=1,060)
(a) Cash acquired with the subsidiary is included in cash flows from investing activities.

The fair value and gross amount of the receivables amounted to P=549 million.  Based on current
assessment, none of the receivables have been impaired, and it is expected that the full contractual
amounts can be collected.

The provisional goodwill of P=1,594 million is attributable to the synergies and other benefits from
combining the assets and activities of PT Nusantara to the Company. None of the goodwill
recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue contribution would have been
P=2,566 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Since this is a step acquisition, the incremental
contribution to the net income attributable to MPIC (pertaining to the additional 30.44% effective
ownership interest in PT Nusantara) for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to P=68 million
from date of acquisition and P=223 million had the transaction taken place at the beginning of the year.

Changes in ownership in PT Nusantara post step acquisition.  On October 8, 2018, PT MPTI acquired an
additional 761,783,600 shares representing 5% of the issued capital stock of PT Nusantara, from the
public at an amount of IDR 249 per share or a total consideration of IDR189.7 billion (P=676 million).
Also, on the same date, PT MPTI disposed 1,523,567,500 shares representing 10% of the issued capital
of PT Nusantara to PT Indonesia Infrastructure Finance (PT IIF) at an amount of IDR 250 per share.  The
consideration received for the shares amounted to IDR380.9 billion (P=1.4 billion).  PT MPTI after the
sale owns a total of 72.9%, issued capital stock of PT Nusantara (74.8% on the basis of issued and
outstanding shares).

The transactions on October 8, 2018 are accounted for as equity transactions with the difference
between the carrying value of the additional interest acquired by noncontrolling interests and the total
consideration received amounting to P=7 million recognized in equity.

Total cash received - net (P=676)
Carrying value of the interest transferred to NCI 669
Difference recognized in “Equity reserves” account (P=7)

On December 28, 2018, PT Nusantara completed its rights issue process raising an amount of
IDR 457.4 billion (equivalent to approximately P=1.7 billion).  Out of the amounts raised, PT MPTI’s
participation on the rights issue amounted to IDR 407.0 billion (equivalent to approximately
P=1.5 billion) which resulted in an increase in ownership by MPTI from 74.8% to 75.9% (on the basis
of issued and outstanding shares) in PT Nusantara, as there were noncontrolling shareholders who did
not participate in the rights offer.

Noncontrolling interests’ participation on the rights issues amounted to IDR88.0 billion (equivalent to
approximately P=320 million).

Total cash received - net of transaction costs (P=290)
Carrying value of the interest transferred to NCI 278
Difference recognized in “Equity reserves” account (P=12)

The resulting NCI movements from the above transactions may still change as a result of finalization of
the purchase price allocations of PT Nusantara and PT Rezeki Perkasa Sejahtera Lestari (RPSL).

Acquisition of RPSL.  On August 16, 2018, PT Energi Infranusantara, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
PT Nusantara, acquired a total of 84,000,000 shares of RPSL, a biomass power plant company,
representing 80% of RPSL’s capital stock for a total consideration of IDR 115.0 billion (equivalent to
P=420 million). The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method.
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The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition:

Provisional
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=5
Receivables 38
Other current assets 19
Service concession assets 785
Property, plant and equipment 7
Deferred tax asset 17

871
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 150
Other noncurrent liabilities 401

551
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 320
Noncontrolling interest (64)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 164
Cash transferred P=420

Net cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=5
Total cash paid on acquisition (420)
Net cash outflow (P=415)
(a) Cash acquired with the subsidiary shall be included in cash flows from investing activities for the next reporting period.

The fair values of the service concession assets and property, plant and equipment are provisional
pending receipt of final valuation of those assets. The fair value and gross amount of the receivables
amounted to P=38 million.

The provisional goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable to synergies and other benefits
from combining the assets and activities of RPSL to the Company. None of the goodwill recognized
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, RPSL has contributed P=204 million to the consolidated revenue and
P=6 million to the consolidated net income.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the
year of acquisition, contributions to the consolidated revenue and consolidated net income would
have been P=287 million of revenue and P=8 million of net income for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

Healthcare

Step acquisition of Davao Doctors Hospital Inc. (DDH).  From August to October 2018, MPHHI
purchased 132,975 shares of DDH for aggregate consideration of P=669 million which increased its
ownership from 35.16% to 49.91%.
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With MPHHI acquiring control over DDH (see Note 3), the acquisition of additional shares is
accounted for using the acquisition method under PFRS 3.  In accordance with PFRS 3:

§ remeasurement gain amounting to P=228 million was recognized in “Others” account in the 2018
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in relation with the previously held interest in
DDH (see Note 24).

§ DDH and its subsidiary were consolidated from acquisition date.

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition:

Provisional
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=104
Receivables 336
Other current assets 155
Property, plant and equipment 2,363
Other noncurrent assets 82

3,040
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 453
Long-term debt (current and noncurrent portions) 50
Deferred tax liability 211
Other long-term liabilities 63

777
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,263
Noncontrolling interest (1,134)
Fair value of previously held interest (1,163)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 703
Cash transferred P=669

Net cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=104
Total cash paid on acquisition (669)
Net cash outflow (P=565)
(a) Cash acquired with the subsidiary is included in cash flows from investing activities.

The fair value and gross amount of the receivables amounted to P=336 million.  Based on current
assessment, none of the receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual
amounts can be collected.

The provisional goodwill of P=703 million is attributable to the synergies and other benefits from
combining the assets and activities of DDH to the Company.  As at December 31, 2018, the initial
allocation of goodwill could not be reasonably made yet into respective CGUs and assessed that there
are no impairment indicators on the provisional goodwill.  None of the goodwill recognized is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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The non-controlling interest was measured at the corresponding proportionate share in DDH’s net
asset measured as at acquisition date.

If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year, gross revenue contribution would have
been P=2,247 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Since this is a step acquisition, the
incremental contribution to the net income attributable to MPHHI (pertaining to the additional
14.75% effective ownership interest in DDH) for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to
P=14 million from date of acquisition and P=38 million had the transaction taken place at the beginning
of the year.

Subscription to common shares of Western Mindanao Medical Center, Inc. (WMMCI).  In 2015,
Metro Pacific Zamboanga Hospital Corp. (MPZHC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of MPHHI, signed a
long-term lease of the land, buildings and equipment of WMMCI.  The lease agreement qualified as
business combination where the identifiable assets consist of property use rights for the use of
existing land and building over the term of the lease of twenty (20) years.

On March 11, 2018, MPHHI subscribed to 393,641 Class B common shares representing 63.94% of
the outstanding voting capital stock of WMMCI.  Total subscription price per share is approximately
P=435 per share or an aggregate value of P=171 million.  The assets and liabilities of WMMCI as at date
of subscription (and prior to the proceeds of the subscription) included property plant and equipment
(P=494 million), accounts payable and accrued expenses (P=247 million) and long-term debt
(P=126 million).

The abovementioned subscription was accounted for as an equity transaction.  The amount charged to
“Equity reserves” account represents the difference between the carrying value of the interest
acquired and the total consideration paid and the derecognition of the carrying values of the property
use rights (see Note 11) and lease liability (see Note 15) arising from the 2015 lease agreement:

(In Millions)

Total subscription price P=171
Carrying value of derecognized property use rights (see Note 11) 25
Less:  MPHHI’s share in the net assets of WMMCI (170)

Carrying value of derecognized lease liability (32)
Difference recognized in “Equity reserves” account (P=6)

Logistics

Acquisition of NCI in MetroPac Movers, Inc. (MMI). On February 28, 2018, MLCI, MMI and
Yellowbear Holdings, Inc. (YHI) entered into a Memorandum of Agreement for MLCI’s acquisition
of the 24% shareholding of YHI in MMI.  Total acquisition cost amounted to P=739 million.  The
increase in effective ownership in MMI is accounted for as an equity transaction with the difference
between the carrying value of the additional interest acquired and the total consideration recognized
in equity:

(In Millions)

Cash consideration paid to NCI P=739
MMI’s net assets acquired (24%) (634)
Difference recognized in equity reserves P=105
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The abovementioned transaction also involved the net settlement of MMI’s various claims against
YHI amounting to P=217 million (net of indirect taxes of P=22 million) recognized in “Others” account
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 24).

Acquisitions in 2017

Power

Step acquisition of Beacon Electric. On June 27, 2017, MPIC entered into a Deed of Absolute Sale
of Shares with PCEV to acquire the latter’s remaining 25% interest in Beacon Electric’s common and
preferred shares for an aggregate purchase price of P=21.8 billion.

The purchase consideration was settled as to P=12.0 billion in cash while the balance of P=9.8 billion
shall be settled in four (4) equal annual installments amounting to P=2.45 billion per year, payable
starting June 2018 (see Note 19).

In order to fund the investment, MPIC completed an overnight placing of 4.5% of its directly held
MERALCO shares for an aggregate consideration of P=12.7 billion (see Note 10).

After the completion of the abovementioned transactions, MPIC owns a direct 10.5% interest in
MERALCO and, through its 100% interest in Beacon Electric, a further 35.0%, thereby increasing its
effective ownership interest in MERALCO from 41.2% to 45.5% and in GBPC to 56% directly and
6.4% indirectly (through MERALCO).

With MPIC acquiring control over Beacon Electric, this transaction was accounted for using the
acquisition method under PFRS 3.  In accordance with PFRS 3:

§ remeasurement loss of P=1,618 million was recognized in “Others” account in the 2017
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in relation with the 75% previously held
interest in Beacon Electric (see Note 24); and

§ Beacon Electric and GBPC were fully consolidated from June 27, 2017 while MERALCO
continues to be accounted for under the equity method of accounting (see Note 10).

The final fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition:

Final
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash P=17,156
Receivables 4,176
Investment in MERALCO 96,946
Property, plant and equipment 56,949
Intangible asset (see Note 11) 3,410
Other noncurrent assets 4,905

183,542
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 5,674
Long-term debt 65,357

(Forward)
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Final
Values

(In Millions)

Deferred tax liability P=1,949
Other long-term liabilities 5,731

78,711
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 104,831
Fair value of previously held interest (66,714)
Fair value of non-controlling interest in GBPC (17,488)
Consideration transferred P=20,629

Consideration transferred included the P=12.0 billion paid in cash on transaction date and P=8.6 billion
representing the present value of the P=9.8 billion payable on a deferred basis (see Note 19).

Net cash inflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=17,156
Total cash paid on transaction date (12,000)
Net cash inflow on transaction date P=5,156
(a)Cash acquired with the subsidiary is included in cash flows from investing activities.

The fair value and gross amount of Beacon Electric’s receivables amounted to P=4,176 million and
P=4,473 million, respectively.

From the date of acquisition, Beacon Electric (including GBPC) contributed P=13,042 million to the
consolidated revenues.  If the consolidation had taken place at the beginning of the year of
acquisition, contribution to the consolidated revenues would have been P=23,794 million.  Since this is
a step-up acquisition, the incremental contribution to the net income attributable to MPIC (pertaining
to the additional 25% ownership interest in Beacon Electric) amounted to P=769 million from date of
acquisition and P=1,466 million had the transaction taken place at the beginning of the year of
acquisition.

Prior to Beacon Electric’s step acquisition, the Company recognized dividend income from the
preferred shares (accounted for as financial instrument under PAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement),  amounting to P=2,541 million and P=1,215 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  In 2017, MPIC received proceeds amounting to
P=3,500 million from the redemption of preferred shares.

Toll Operations

Step acquisition of Tollways Management Corporation (TMC). TMC is responsible for the operation
& maintenance (“O&M”) of the NLEX, Segment 7 and SCTEX.  TMC oversees the day-to-day
operations of the NLEX and SCTEX, including securing toll collection, depositing of funds to NLEX
Corp’s accounts, facilitating smooth and uninterrupted flow of traffic, carrying out routine
maintenance, ensuring effective and safe responses to emergency situations.  As at
December 31, 2016, the Company had a 60% equity interest in TMC and was accounted for as an
investment in an associate as another significant shareholder held veto rights related to changes in
operations and dividend policies that affect investors’ returns.
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On April 4, 2017, Metro Pacific Tollways North Corporation (MPT North; a wholly-owned
subsidiary of MPTC; see Note 39) completed the acquisition of 26,600 common shares of TMC
representing 7% of total issued and outstanding stock of TMC for a total purchase price of
P=442 million.

With the increase in MPT North’s effective ownership in TMC from 60% to 67%, the veto rights
previously held by the other investors ceased.  With MPT North acquiring control over TMC, the
transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method under PFRS 3.  In accordance with
PFRS 3:

§ remeasurement gain of P=1,391 million was recognized under the “Others” account in the 2017
consolidated statements of comprehensive income as a result of the remeasurement of the 60%
previously held interest in TMC (see Note 24); and

§ the intercompany relationship under the O&M Agreement between NLEX Corp and TMC is
effectively settled with no gain or loss recognized as the intercompany accounts were settled at
recorded amounts.

The final fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of TMC as at the date of acquisition is
shown below:

Final
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=154
Receivables 300
Inventories 11
Other current assets 56
Property, plant and equipment 71
Other noncurrent assets 31

623
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 441
Income tax payable 76
Provisions 175
Other long-term liabilities 26

718
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value (95)
Non-controlling interest (44)
Fair value of previously held interest (2,757)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,110
Consideration transferred 214
Intercompany accounts settled 228
Total cash paid on acquisition P=442

Net cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=154
Total cash paid on acquisition (442)
Net cash outflow (P=288)
(a) Cash acquired with the subsidiary is included in cash flows from investing activities.
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The fair value and gross amount of the receivables amounted to P=300 million.  None of the
receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The non-controlling interests were recognized as a proportion of net assets acquired.

Goodwill of P=3,110 million is attributable to the synergies and other benefits from combining the
assets and activities of TMC to the Company. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

TMC’s revenues relate mainly to its services to NLEX Corp and are therefore eliminated at
consolidated level.  As this is a step-up acquisition, the incremental contribution to net income
attributable to shareholders of MPIC (pertaining to the additional 7% ownership interest) amounted to
P=12 million from date of acquisition and would have been P=27 million had the transaction taken place
at beginning of the year of acquisition.

On April 27, 2017, Egis Road Operation S.A. (EROSA) and Egis Investment Partners Philippines,
Inc. (EIPPI), entered into an SPA for EIPPI’s acquisition of TMC shares, representing 13.0% of the
issued and outstanding shares of TMC, held by EROSA for a total consideration of P=821 million. The
TMC shares purchase price will be paid by EIPPI to EROSA through the receipt of dividends from
TMC (pre-merger) and NLEX Corp (from and after merger); see Note 30.

EIPPI is jointly controlled by Egis Projects S.A. and MPT North with effective ownership of 54% and
46%, respectively.  The above transaction increased MPT North’s effective ownership in TMC from
67.0% to 72.98% (representing an increase of 5.98%) and was accounted for as an equity transaction
with the net premium of P=388 million recognized in equity.

The premium represents the difference between the carrying value of the additional interest acquired
and the total consideration paid.

MPT North’s share in the total purchase price P=378
Less:  Carrying value of the additional interest acquired in TMC (10)
Difference recognized in “Equity reserves” account P=388

Step-up Acquisition of Easytrip Services Corporation (ESC). In 2014, MPT North acquired equity
interest equivalent to 50% plus one share of the capital stock of ESC for a total consideration of
P=103 million.  ESC is primarily engaged in the business of providing services related to electronic toll
collection (ETC) system to include among others, the implementation of inter-operability of the
different toll collection systems of tollways in the country, account management and funding and
management of all electronic pass issued.  ESC is the exclusive tag issuer at the NLEX.  As at
December 31, 2016, at 50% equity ownership, investment in ESC was accounted for as an investment
in joint venture.

However, on October 10, 2017, MPTC completed the acquisition of 31,999 common shares of ESC
representing 16% minus one share of the total issued and outstanding stock of ESC for a total
purchase price of P=85 million.  With the increase in MPTC’s ownership interest in ESC from 50% to
66%, the transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method under PFRS 3.  In accordance
with PFRS 3:

§ remeasurement gain of P=198 million was recognized under the “Others” account in the 2017
consolidated statements of comprehensive income as a result of the remeasurement of the 50%
previously held interest in ESC (see Note 24); and



- 22 -

*SGVFS032824*

§ the intercompany relationships under the Service Agreements of ESC with NLEX Corp and CIC
are effectively settled with no gain or loss recognized as the intercompany accounts were settled
at recorded amounts.

The final fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ESC as at the date of step acquisition is
shown below:

Final
Values

(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=258
Receivables 118
Other current assets 16
Property, plant and equipment 32
Other noncurrent assets 3

427
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 211
Other long-term liabilities 43

254
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 173
Non-controlling interests (12)
Fair value of previously held interest (328)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 388
Consideration transferred 221
Intercompany accounts settled (136)
Total cash paid on acquisition P=85

The fair value and gross amount of the receivables amounted to P=118 million.  None of the
receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The non-controlling interests were recognized as a proportion of net assets acquired.

The goodwill of P=388 million that arose on the acquisition can be attributed to the expected synergies
arising from the acquisition.  None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

ESC contributed nil operating revenues as ESC revenues pertain mainly to its services to NLEX Corp
and CIC and therefore eliminated at consolidated level.  Since this is a step-up acquisition, the
incremental contribution to net income attributable to shareholders of MPIC (pertaining to the
additional 16% ownership interest) amounted to P=0.2 million from date of acquisition and
P=3 million had the transaction taken place at beginning of the year of acquisition.

Dilution of Interest in NLEX Corp. and TMC.  On December 29, 2017, Egis Projects S.A. subscribed
to 37,560 new shares of EIPPI at a total amount of P=4 million by the conversion of its debt into equity
giving it 57.2% equity interest in EIPPI.  As a result of this transaction, MPT North’s effective
ownership in EIPPI decreased from 46.0% as at December 31, 2016 to 42.8% as at
December 31, 2017. The transaction was accounted for as an equity transaction with the net discount
of P=35 million recognized under the “Equity reserves” account .  The dilution in MPT North’s interest
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in EIPPI decreased the effective ownership in NLEX Corp. and TMC from 75.6% and 73.0%,
respectively, as at December 31, 2016 to 75.3% and 72.6%, respectively, as at December 31, 2017.

Healthcare

Acquisition of Hospitals. On January 31, 2017, MPHHI completed agreement to infuse
approximately P=133.5 million of cash into Delgado Clinic Inc. (DCI), owner and operator of the
Dr. Jesus C. Delgado Memorial Hospital (JDMH) via a subscription to preferred shares representing
approximately 65% of the total expanded capital stock of DCI.  The cash infusion from MPHHI will
enable JDMH to upgrade its equipment and facilities, and expand its capacity.

On October 5, 2017, MPHHI completed the acquisition of 108,350 shares, representing
approximately 54% stake in Saint Elizabeth Hospital Inc. (SEHI), a 248-bed tertiary level hospital
located in General Santos City.  Total acquisition cost amounted to P=178 million, 10% of which was
paid on October 5, 2017 while 90% was deposited in an Escrow Account that shall be released to the
sellers in accordance with the Escrow Agreement.

MPHHI acquired DCI and SEHI as part of its strategy to grow its portfolio and increase the
Company’s total bed capacity and to be the largest private hospital group in the Philippines.  The
acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method.

The final fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired hospitals as at the date of
acquisition were:

DCI SEHI
(In Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=138 P=59
Receivables 19 96
Inventories and other current assets 8 38
Property, plant and equipment 139 361
Other noncurrent assets 1 13

305 567
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 60 222
Long-term debt 2 42
Deferred tax liability 30 62
Other long-term liabilities 8 90

100 416
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 205 151
Non-controlling interest (at MPHHI level) (72) (69)
Goodwill arising on acquisition – 96
Consideration transferred P=133 P=178

Net cash inflow (outflow) on acquisition is as follows:

DCI SEHI
(In Millions)

Cash acquired with the subsidiary(a) P=138 P=59
Total cash paid on acquisition (133) (178)
Net cash inflow (outflow) P=5 (P=119)
(a)Cash acquired with the subsidiary is included in cash flows from investing activities.
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The net assets recognized in the December 31, 2017 consolidated financial statements were based on
a provisional assessment of fair value while MPHHI sought an independent valuation for the assets of
the acquired businesses.  The valuation had not been completed by the date the 2017 consolidated
financial statements were approved for issue by the BOD.

In 2018, the valuation was completed.  Based on the final valuation, the fair values of DCI’s total
assets increased from P=296 million to P=305 million while total liabilities increased from P=91 million
to P=100 million.  Fair value of net assets remained the same at P=205 million.  Based on the final
valuation, the fair values of SEHI’s total assets decreased from P=579 million to P=567 million while
total liabilities increased from P=361 million to P=416 million.  Fair value of net assets decreased from
P=218 million to P=151 million.  Goodwill had increased from P=60 million and P=96 million
(see Note 11).

The fair value and gross amount of DCI’s receivables amounted to P=19 million and P=29 million,
respectively.  The fair value and gross amount of SEHI’s receivables amounted to P=96 million and
P=141 million, respectively.  The difference between the fair value and the gross amount of the
receivables represents the portion expected to be uncollectible.

The non-controlling interest was recognized as a proportion of net assets acquired.

From the date of acquisition, DCI and SEHI have contributed P=142 million and P=116 million,
respectively, to the consolidated revenue and P=3 million and P=7 million, respectively, to the
consolidated net income.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year of
acquisition, contributions to the consolidated revenue and consolidated net income would have been
P=153 million of revenue and P=4 million of net loss for DCI and P=643 million of revenue and
P=3 million of net profit for SEHI for the year ended December 31, 2017.  Total combined transaction
costs for these acquisitions, amounting to P=2 million, have been expensed and are included in the
“General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
are part of operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017.

On December 8, 2017, MPHHI subscribed to 257,050 shares representing additional 26% ownership
interest in SEHI, thereby increasing MPHHI’s ownership interest from 54% to 80%. The subscription
amounting to P=422 million was accounted for as an equity transaction.

Logistics

PremierLogistic’s (Premier) acquisition of group of assets.  On April 4, 2017, Premier, a subsidiary
of MMI, completed the purchase of the businesses and assets, including key customer contracts of
Ace Logistics Inc. (Ace) for an aggregate purchase price of P=280 million.

Of the purchase price, P=190 million was settled on closing date, of which P=30 million was withheld
by Premier and applied towards the payment of the subscription price with respect to Ace’s 10%
interest in Premier after the closing of the transaction.  The balance of P=90 million shall be paid in
installments.

Ace is engaged in the business of logistics, including warehousing, parcel and e-commerce delivery,
trucking, freight forwarding, customs brokerage and domestic shipping and also has strong presence
in pre-delivery inspection in the automotive industry.  The transaction involved the sale by Ace of
identified logistics assets, the novation of certain key contracts of Ace with its clients and vendors,
and the transfer of certain key officers and employees of Ace to Premier.  Premier intends to use the
assets purchased to expand the list of logistics services it offers and to widen its client base.
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The acquisition of the assets has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The final fair
values of the assets acquired as at the date of acquisition:

Final
Values

(In Millions)

Property, plant and equipment P=28
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 28
Goodwill (at Premier level) 239
Consideration transferred 267
Impact of discounting 13
Purchase price (nominal) P=280

The net assets recognized in the December 31, 2017 consolidated financial statements were based on
a provisional assessment of fair value while Premier sought an independent valuation for the assets of
the acquired businesses.  The valuation had not been completed by the date the 2017 consolidated
financial statements were approved for issue by the BOD.

In 2018, the valuation was completed.  Based on the final valuation, the fair values of the property,
plant and equipment increased from P=17 million to P=28 million thereby decreasing goodwill from
P=263 million to P=239 million.

The goodwill comprises the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition and a customer
list, which is not separately recognized.  Based on assessment, the customer list is not separable and
therefore, it does not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under PAS 38, Intangible
Assets.  None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Providing pro-forma information on the revenue and net income (as if the acquisition date was as at
January 1, 2017) was deemed impracticable considering that a group of assets was purchased and is
immaterial.

Total transaction costs, included as “General and administrative expenses”, amounted to P=15 million
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

5. Operating Segment Information

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which
it may earn revenue and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker who makes decisions about how resources are to be
allocated to the segment and assesses its performance, and for which discrete financial information is
available.

For management purposes, the Company is organized into the following segments based on services
and products namely: power, toll operations, water, healthcare, rail, logistics and others (see Note 1).
However, given that the logistics business does not yet meet the quantitative thresholds to qualify as
an operating segment, the results of the logistics operations are included in the ‘other businesses’
column.
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Segment performance and monitoring.  The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the BOD.
The BOD monitors the operating results of each business unit separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated
based on: consolidated net income for the year; earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and
amortization, or Core EBITDA; Core EBITDA margin; and core income (loss).  Net income for the
year is measured consistent with consolidated net income in the consolidated financial statements.

Core EBITDA is measured as consolidated net income excluding depreciation and amortization of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, asset impairment on noncurrent assets, financing
costs, interest income, equity in net earnings (losses) of associates and joint ventures, net foreign
exchange gains (losses), net gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments, provision for (benefit
from) income tax and other non-recurring gains (losses).  Core EBITDA margin pertains to Core
EBITDA divided by operating revenues.

Performance of the operating segments is also assessed based on a measure of recurring profit or core
income.  Core income is measured as net income attributable to owners of the Parent Company
excluding the effects of foreign exchange and derivative gains or losses and non-recurring items
(NRI), net of tax effect of the aforementioned.  NRI represent gains or losses that, through occurrence
or size, are not considered usual operating items.

Segment expenses and segment results exclude transfers or charges between business segments.
These transfers are also eliminated for purposes of the consolidated financial statements.

There are no revenue transactions with a single customer that accounted for 10% or more of the
Company’s consolidated revenues and no material inter-segment revenue transactions for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.  The Company’s revenue substantially comprises of
services which revenue recognition is over time.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire service concession
assets, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill.  For the consolidated
statements of financial position, difference between the combined segment assets and the
consolidated assets consist of adjustments and eliminations comprising of goodwill and deferred tax
assets.  Difference between the combined segment liabilities and the consolidated liabilities largely
consist of deferred tax liabilities.

The following table shows the reconciliations of the Company’s consolidated Core EBITDA to
consolidated net income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Consolidated Core EBITDA P=37,665 P=32,570 P=24,723
Depreciation and amortization (10,119) (7,288) (5,013)
Consolidated EBIT 27,546 25,282 19,710
Adjustments to reconcile with

consolidated net income:
Interest income 1,494 619 415
Share in net earnings of equity

method investees 11,511 7,905 7,168
Interest expense (10,388) (7,995) (5,328)
Non-recurring gains (losses) - net* (1,053) (1,297) (355)
Provision for income tax (6,933) (5,487) (4,831)

Consolidated net income for the year P=22,177 P=19,027 P=16,779
*Includes net foreign exchange gains (losses)
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The following table shows the reconciliations of Company’s consolidated core income to the
Company’s consolidated net income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Consolidated core income attributable
to owners of the Parent Company P=15,060 P=14,104 P=12,106

Non-recurring expenses - net (930) (953) (650)
Consolidated net income attributable

to owners of the Parent Company 14,130 13,151 11,456
Consolidated net income attributable

to non-controlling interest 8,047 5,876 5,323
Consolidated net income for the year P=22,177 P=19,027 P=16,779

The segment revenues, net income for the year, assets, liabilities, and other segment information of
the Company’s reportable operating segments as at and for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 are detailed in the succeeding tables.
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The following table presents consolidated information on core income and certain assets and liabilities regarding business segments for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Year Ended December 31, 2018 (In Millions)

Power Toll Operations Water Healthcare Rail Other Businesses
Adjustments/
Eliminations Consolidated

Total revenue from external sales P=27,026 P=15,486 P=22,894 P=12,950 P=3,310 P=1,363 P=– P=83,029
Cost of sales and services (18,968) (5,345) (7,527) (7,512) (1,900) (1,455) – (42,707)
Gross Margin 8,058 10,141 15,367 5,438 1,410 (92) – 40,322
General and administrative expenses (2,622) (2,103) (3,409) (3,818) (669) (1,752) – (14,373)
Other income (charges) – net 614 602 (102) 328 154 1 – 1,597
Profit before Financing Charges 6,050 8,640 11,856 1,948 895 (1,843) – 27,546
Interest expense – net (2,394) (1,667) (1,602) (113) (10) (3,108) – (8,894)
Profit before NCI and Income Tax 3,656 6,973 10,254 1,835 885 (4,951) – 18,652
Non-controlling interest (2,068) (1,572) (3,478) (735) (322) 5 – (8,170)
Provision for income tax (1,068) (1,823) (2,933) (611) (169) (329) – (6,933)
Contribution from Subsidiaries 520 3,578 3,843 489 394 (5,275) – 3,549
Share in net earnings (losses) of equity method investees 10,382 816 (20) 282 – 51 – 11,511
Contribution from Operations - Core Income (Loss) 10,902 4,394 3,823 771 394 (5,224) – 15,060
Non-recurring charges 292 (184) (301) 138 (63) (812) – (930)
Segment Income (Loss) Attributable to owners of the Parent
 Company P=11,194 P=4,210 P=3,522 P=909 P=331 (P=6,036) P=– P=14,130

Core EBITDA P=9,652 P=10,072 P=15,518 P=3,028 P=987 (P=1,592) P=– P=37,665
Core EBITDA Margin 36% 65% 68% 23% 30% –% –% 45%

Non-recurring Charges P=301 (P=109) (P=472) P=233 (P=121) (P=810) P=– (P=978)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (6) (76) (1) (2) 11 (1) – (75)
Non-controlling interest (3) 1 172 (93) 47 (1) – 123
Net Non-recurring Charges P=292 (P=184) (P=301) P=138 (P=63) (P=812) P=– (P=930)

Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets P=83,428 P=107,777 P=126,789 P=19,686 P=21,372 P=16,775 P=29,126 P=404,953
Investments and advances 131,444 14,125 3,110 2,734 – 1,580 – 152,993
Consolidated Total Assets P=214,872 P=121,902 P=129,899 P=22,420 P=21,372 P=18,355 P=29,126 P=557,946

Segment Liabilities P=67,167 P=77,877 P=61,608 P=7,099 P=12,125 P=83,137 P=9,930 P=318,943

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditures -

Service concession assets and property, plant and equipment P=1,115 P=8,347 P=12,747 P=2,692 P=6,233 P=1,562 P=– P=32,696
Depreciation and amortization 3,602 1,433 3,665 1,077 92 250 – 10,119
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Year Ended December 31, 2017 (In Millions)

Power Toll Operations Water Healthcare Rail Other Businesses
Adjustments/
Eliminations Consolidated

Total revenue from external sales P=13,042 P=13,107 P=21,327 P=10,737 P=3,155 P=1,144 P=– P=62,512
Cost of sales and services (8,645) (4,858) (6,968) (6,185) (1,773) (699) – (29,128)
Gross Margin 4,397 8,249 14,359 4,552 1,382 445 – 33,384
General and administrative expenses (1,440) (1,417) (3,110) (3,129) (583) (1,708) – (11,387)
Other income (charges) – net 2,723 422 (251) 282 97 12 – 3,285
Profit before Financing Charges 5,680 7,254 10,998 1,705 896 (1,251) – 25,282
Interest expense – net (1,791) (1,399) (1,616) (94) (5) (2,470) – (7,375)
Profit before NCI and Income Tax 3,889 5,855 9,382 1,611 891 (3,721) – 17,907
Non-controlling interest (820) (1,175) (3,366) (641) (231) 12 – (6,221)
Provision for income tax (702) (1,422) (2,308) (534) (377) (144) – (5,487)
Contribution from Subsidiaries 2,367 3,258 3,708 436 283 (3,853) – 6,199
Share in net earnings (losses) of equity method investees 7,011 643 25 249 – (23) – 7,905
Contribution from Operations - Core Income (Loss) 9,378 3,901 3,733 685 283 (3,876) – 14,104
Non-recurring charges 260 1,118 (428) 4 (3) (1,904) – (953)
Segment Income (Loss) Attributable to owners of the Parent Company P=9,638 P=5,019 P=3,305 P=689 P=280 (P=5,780) P=– P=13,151

Core EBITDA P=7,417 P=8,408 P=14,290 P=2,634 P=962 (P=1,141) P=– P=32,570
Core EBITDA Margin 57% 64% 67% 25% 30% –% –% 52%

Non-recurring Charges P=271 P=1,050 (P=486) P=10 (P=9) (P=1,971) P=– (P=1,135)
Benefit from income tax (8) 41 (189) (2) 3 (7) – (162)
Non-controlling interest (3) 27 247 (4) 3 74 – 344
Net Non-recurring Charges P=260 P=1,118 (P=428) P=4 (P=3) (P=1,904) P=– (P=953)

Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets P=88,066 P=80,251 P=109,110 P=15,229 P=13,988 P=19,707 P=26,429 P=352,780
Investments and advances 127,458 17,948 399 3,381 – 1,785 – 150,971
Consolidated Total Assets P=215,524 P=98,199 P=109,509 P=18,610 P=13,988 P=21,492 P=26,429 P=503,751

Segment Liabilities P=96,495 P=69,871 P=50,461 P=5,580 P=8,564 P=50,265 P=6,836 P=288,072

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditures -

Service concession assets and property, plant and equipment P=97 P=4,788 P=12,133 P=1,530 P=2,784 P=1,064 P=– P=22,396
Depreciation and amortization 1,736 1,155 3,293 929 64 111 – 7,288
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Year Ended December 31, 2016 (In Millions)

Power Toll Operations Water Healthcare Rail Other Businesses
Adjustments/
Eliminations Consolidated

Total revenue from external sales P=– P=11,902 P=20,466 P=8,967 P=3,016 P=469 P=– P=44,820
Cost of sales and services – (4,857) (6,458) (4,871) (1,850) (322) – (18,358)
Gross Margin – 7,045 14,008 4,096 1,166 147 – 26,462
General and administrative expenses – (1,416) (2,701) (2,882) (549) (1,025) – (8,573)
Other income (charges) - net 1,215 336 (82) 242 75 35 – 1,821
Profit before Financing Charges 1,215 5,965 11,225 1,456 692 (843) – 19,710
Interest expense – net – (1,207) (1,612) (131) 19 (1,982) – (4,913)
Profit before NCI and Income Tax 1,215 4,758 9,613 1,325 711 (2,825) – 14,797
Non-controlling interest – (999) (3,239) (545) (227) (18) – (5,028)
Provision for income tax – (1,237) (2,826) (423) (211) (134) – (4,831)
Contribution from Subsidiaries 1,215 2,522 3,548 357 273 (2,977) – 4,938
Share in net earnings (losses) of equity method investees 6,014 995 16 232 – (89) – 7,168
Contribution from Operations - Core Income (Loss) 7,229 3,517 3,564 589 273 (3,066) – 12,106
Non-recurring charges (209) (174) 198 (13) 2 (454) – (650)
Segment Income (Loss) Attributable to owners of the Parent Company P=7,020 P=3,343 P=3,762 P=576 P=275 (P=3,520) P=– P=11,456

Core EBITDA P=1,215 P=6,853 P=14,400 P=2,262 P=729 (P=736) P=– P=24,723
Core EBITDA Margin –% 58% 70% 25% 24% –% –% 55%

Non-recurring Charges (P=209) (P=127) (P=261) (P=21) P=6 (P=416) P=– (P=1,028)
Benefit from income tax – (64) 739 – (2) – – 673
Non-controlling interest – 17 (280) 8 (2) (38) – (295)
Net Non-recurring Charges (P=209) (P=174) P=198 (P=13) P=2 (P=454) P=– (P=650)

Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets P=– P=71,399 P=102,096 P=13,678 P=8,956 P=7,446 P=21,471 P=225,046
Investments and advances 109,639 11,756 361 3,000 – 1,800 – 126,556
Consolidated Total Assets P=109,639 P=83,155 P=102,457 P=16,678 P=8,956 P=9,246 P=21,471 P=351,602

Segment Liabilities P=8,353 P=56,372 P=47,583 P=4,897 P=4,215 P=38,176 P=3,925 P=163,521

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditures -

Service concession assets and property, plant and equipment P=– P=10,125 P=10,589 P=1,359 P=943 P=132 P=– P=23,148
Depreciation and amortization – 889 3,174 806 37 107 – 5,013
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The following table shows the analysis and allocation of the consolidated results of operations of the Company to core and NRI and is provided to reconcile the preceding
consolidated segment information, amounts and balances with the consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

2018 2017 2016
Core NRI Reclassification Consolidated Core NRI Reclassification Consolidated Core NRI Reclassification Consolidated

(In Millions)

OPERATING REVENUES
Power and coal sales P=27,026 P=– P=– P=27,026 P=13,042 P=– P=– P=13,042 P=– P=– P=– P=–
Water and sewerage services revenue 22,575 – – 22,575 20,926 – – 20,926 20,280 – – 20,280
Toll fees 15,486 – – 15,486 13,107 – – 13,107 11,902 – – 11,902
Hospital revenue 12,950 – – 12,950 10,737 – – 10,737 8,967 – – 8,967
Rail revenue 3,310 – – 3,310 3,155 – – 3,155 3,016 – – 3,016
Logistics and other revenues 1,682 – – 1,682 1,545 1,545 655 655

83,029 – – 83,029 62,512 – – 62,512 44,820 – – 44,820

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES (42,707) (7) – (42,714) (29,128) (246) – (29,374) (18,358) (12) – (18,370)

GROSS PROFIT (LOSS) 40,322 (7) – 40,315 33,384 (246) – 33,138 26,462 (12) – 26,450
General and administrative expenses (14,373) (599) – (14,972) (11,386) (740) – (12,126) (8,573) (489) – (9,062)
Interest expense (10,388) – – (10,388) (7,995) – – (7,995) (5,328) – – (5,328)
Share in net earnings (losses) of equity method investees 11,511 (438) – 11,073 10,446 140 (2,541) 8,045 8,383 (360) (1,215) 6,808
Dividend income 172 – – 172 90 – 2,541 2,631 138 – 1,215 1,353
Interest income 1,494 2 – 1,496 619 4 – 623 415 2 – 417
Construction revenue 27,363 – – 27,363 19,344 – – 19,344 16,799 – – 16,799
Construction costs (27,362) – – (27,362) (19,344) – – (19,344) (16,799) – – (16,799)
Others 1,424 64 – 1,488 653 (293) – 360 468 (169) – 299

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 30,163 (978) – 29,185 25,811 (1,135) – 24,676 21,965 (1,028) – 20,937

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX
Current 6,415 (17) – 6,398 5,375 15 – 5,390 4,089 2 – 4,091
Deferred 518 92 – 610 112 147 – 259 742 (675) – 67

6,933 75 – 7,008 5,487 162 – 5,649 4,831 (673) – 4,158

NET INCOME (LOSS) P=23,230 (P=1,053) P=– P=22,177 P=20,324 (P=1,297) P=– P=19,027 P=17,134 (P=355) P=– P=16,779

Net Income Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company P=15,060 (P=930) P=– P=14,130 P=14,104 (P=953) P=– P=13,151 P=12,106 (P=650) P=– P=11,456
NCI 8,170 (123) – 8,047 6,220 (344) – 5,876 5,028 295 – 5,323

P=23,230 (P=1,053) P=– P=22,177 P=20,324 (P=1,297) P=– P=19,027 P=17,134 (P=355) P=– P=16,779
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By Geographical Market
While the Company’s geographic focus is still predominantly the Philippines, MPIC has started
increasing its presence in Southeast Asia with its investments in Indonesia (PT Nusantara, which was
consolidated beginning July 2018; see Note 4), Thailand (DMT; see Note 10) and Vietnam (CII B&R,
Tuan Loc Water Resources Investment Joint Stock Company and BOO Phu Ninh Water Treatment
Plant Joint Stock Company; see Note 10).

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Revenue:
Philippines P=81,921 P=62,512 P=44,820
Indonesia 1,108 – –

P=83,029 P=62,512 P=44,820

Share in net earnings of equity method
investees (see Note 10):
Philippines P=11,006 P=7,551 P=6,260
Indonesia (479) 7 –
Thailand 593 537 559
Vietnam (47) (50) (11)

P=11,073 P=8,045 P=6,808

Non-current assets (a):
Philippines P=440,608 P=406,333 P=284,081
Indonesia 21,172 7,777 –
Thailand 6,852 7,038 6,409
Vietnam 5,542 3,133 3,869

P=474,174 P=424,281 P=294,359
(a) Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

6. Material Partly-owned Subsidiaries

In determining whether an NCI is material to the Company, management employs both quantitative
and qualitative factors to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company’s interests in
these entities; and the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial position.  Factors
considered include, but not limited to, carrying value of the subsidiary’s NCI relative to the NCI
recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the subsidiary’s contribution to the
Company’s consolidated revenues and net income, and other relevant qualitative risks associated with
the subsidiary’s nature, purpose and size of activities.

Based on management’s assessment, the Company has concluded that MWHC, NLEX Corp, MPHHI,
Light Rail Manila Holdings Inc (LRMH, the intermediate holding company for LRMC), GBPC
(starting 2017; see Note 4) and PT Nusantara (starting 2018; see Note 4) are the subsidiaries with
NCI that are material to the Company.

The ability of these subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions or payments to their
shareholders (including the Company) is subject to applicable laws and other restrictions contained in
financing agreements, shareholder agreements and other agreements that prohibit or limit the
payment of dividends or other transfers of funds.  Such applicable restrictions are as follows:

§ Under the financing agreements as disclosed in Note 18, which include satisfying certain
financial ratios and other covenants to be able to declare or pay cash dividends;
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§ Under Philippine law, a corporation is permitted to declare dividends only to the extent that it has
unrestricted retained earnings that represent the undistributed earnings of the corporation which
have not been allocated for any managerial, contractual or legal purposes and which are free for
distribution to the shareholders as dividends; and

§ Under NLEX Corp’s shareholders’ agreement, unless otherwise agreed upon by the shareholders,
no amounts shall be distributed by way of dividends until PNCC’s share in the project revenue
collection has been repaid in full.

Maynilad’s appropriated retained earnings as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to
P=20.0 billion and P=12.5 billion, respectively.  Appropriation has been made for various water and
sewerage projects expected to be implemented in the succeeding years.

As at December 31, 2018, GBPC and NLEX Corp. have unpaid dividends to non-controlling
shareholders amounting to P=1,961 million and P=552 million, respectively.  As at December 31, 2017,
GBPC and NLEX Corp. have unpaid dividends to non-controlling shareholders amounting to
P=2,027 million and P=449 million, respectively (see Note 15).

For year ended December 31, 2018, equity infusion of NCI in LRMH and LRMC with an aggregate
amount of P=1,354 million, are included in “Other changes in NCI” in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity.



- 34 -

*SGVFS032824*

The summarized financial information are presented before inter-company eliminations but after consolidation adjustments for goodwill, other fair value adjustments on
acquisition and adjustments required to apply uniform accounting policies at group level.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

GBPC MWHC
NLEX

Corp
PT

Nusantara MPHHI(b) LRMC GBPC(a) MWHC
NLEX

Corp MPHHI(b) LRMC MWHC
NLEX

Corp MPHHI(b) LRMC
Equity share held by NCI 37.6% 47.2% 24.9% 24.2% 39.9% 45.0% 37.6% 47.2% 24.8% 39.9% 45.0% 47.2% 24.5% 39.9% 45.0%
Summarized statements of financial position
Current assets P=22,316 P=17,421 P=4,024 P=4,014 P=5,468 P=2,241 P=24,178 P=11,711 P=4,719 P=5,429 P=1,795 P=14,049 P=2,126 P=5,068 P=1,500
Non-current assets(c) 61,533 109,209 49,074 21,321 19,424 18,873 63,025 100,516 42,252 14,846 12,049 91,716 40,037 13,273 7,366
Current liabilities 10,783 17,913 5,711 1,395 5,104 802 11,360 16,383 10,212 3,868 743 14,330 4,082 3,351 537
Non-current liabilities 38,570 44,133 25,453 5,453 2,283 11,515 43,553 35,349 19,601 1,770 7,948 34,135 21,932 1,587 3,684
Total equity 34,496 64,584 21,934 18,486 17,505 8,797 32,290 60,495 17,158 14,637 5,153 57,300 16,149 13,403 4,645

Attributable to:
Equity holders of MPIC 17,259 36,659 18,687 11,585 8,760 4,837 16,180 34,499 14,364 7,826 2,832 32,813 13,602 7,193 2,553
NCI 17,237 27,925 3,247 6,901 8,745 3,960 16,110 25,996 2,794 6,811 2,321 24,487 2,547 6,210 2,092

Summarized statements of
comprehensive income

Revenues 26,822 22,024 13,049 1,118 12,950 3,310 13,042 20,774 11,586 10,737 3,155 20,224 10,539 8,967 3,016
Net income (loss) 3,624 7,000 5,729 234 1,733 628 1,489 6,501 4,610 1,334 508 7,442 4,058 1,114 511
Total comprehensive income (loss) 2,923 7,114 5,661 282 1,783 652 1,432 6,162 4,610 1,339 508 7,449 4,048 1,104 510
Net income (loss) attributable to NCI 2,088 3,303 1,421 123 825 283 1,185 3,068 1,129 645 229 3,513 994 538 230
Dividends declared to NCI 2,041 1,417 1,020 – 96 – 2,027 1,415 878 53 – 953 634 48 –
Dividends paid to NCI 2,107 1,417 952 – 130 – 1,915 1,415 429 45 – 953 982 58 –

Summarized statements of cash flows
Operating 3,783 17,146 6,071 638 2,248 735 6,485 14,408 6,632 2,139 666 12,056 5,867 1,953 370
Investing (1,656) (10,534) (3,798) (312) (2,652) (6,301) (6,059) (10,490) (3,649) (1,734) (4,497) (6,802) (4,658) (2,501) (918)
Financing (6,471) 1,396 (2,539) (230) (129) 5,945 (1,218) (5,428) (658) (384) 3,860 (3,345) (3,488) (635) 171
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (4,344) 8,008 (266) 97 (533) 379 (792) (1,510) 2,325 21 29 1,909 (2,279) (1,183) (377)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 13,414 3,534 2,715 2,326 2,991 1,201 14,206 5,044 390 2,970 1,172 3,135 2,669 4,153 1,549
Cash and cash equivalents - end P=9,070 P=11,542 P=2,449 P=2,423 P=2,458 P=1,580 P=13,414 P=3,534 P=2,715 P=2,991 P=1,201 P=5,044 P=390 P=2,970 P=1,172
(a) GBPC’s statement of comprehensive income reflects result from acquisition date to December 31, 2017 (see Note 4).
(b) Includes the 25.51% equivalent shares of the Exchangeable bond (see Notes 30 and 39)
(c) Includes goodwill recognized as at acquisition date (see Note 11)
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7. Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Deposits and Restricted Cash

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Deposits.  This account consists of:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Cash and cash equivalents P=46,607 P=40,835
Short-term deposits 914 8,482

P=47,521 P=49,317

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and temporary placements that are made for varying
periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Company.  Cash
in banks and temporary placements earn interest at the prevailing bank and temporary placements
rates, respectively.

Short-term deposits are deposits with original maturities of more than three months to one year from
dates of acquisition and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposits rates.  Short-term deposits
account also included investments in Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF).  While the UITF was
classified as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) as at December 31, 2018 and
AFS financial assets as at December 31, 2017, the entire investment in UITF is presented under the
short-term deposits account as the fund comprises of short-term money market securities, time and
special deposit accounts with average maturity of less than 30 days and is part of the Company’s cash
management policy (see Note 32).

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of
the following as at December 31:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Cash on hand and in banks P=8,718 P=5,998 P=3,695
Short-term deposits that qualify

as cash equivalents 37,889 34,837 11,760
P=46,607 P=40,835 P=15,455

Restricted Cash.  Restricted cash classified under current assets pertains to sinking fund or debt
service account (DSA) representing amounts set aside for semi-annual principal and interest
payments of certain long-term debt.  This DSA is maintained and replenished in accordance with the
provision of the loan agreements.

Restricted cash also included cash held in escrow account in relation with the construction contract
for the NLEX Segment 10 (see Note 30).

Interest income from the restricted cash is for the account of the Company.

Interest earned from cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits and restricted cash amounted to
P=1,423 million, P=573 million and P=373 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively (see Note 24).
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8. Receivables

This account consists of:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Trade:
Power P=4,127 P=3,335
Water 3,387 3,115
Healthcare 1,805 1,592
Others 1,473 1,202

Contract assets/unbilled receivables 1,185 1,056
Concession financial receivable 269 –
Notes 150 150
Nontrade 2,012 1,407

14,408 11,857
Less allowance (see Note 32) 1,601 958

12,807 10,899
Less current portion 12,495 10,899
Noncurrent portion P=312 P=–

Trade receivables.  Trade receivables which are non-interest bearing, included receivables arising
from the following:

§ Power.  Outstanding billings for energy fees and pass-through fuel costs arising from the delivery
of electricity to customers and energy sales to the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market (WESM).
Normal credit term is 15 to 30 days from the date of receipt of billing.

§ Water.  Receivables from water service customers with generally a 60-day term.  For bulk water
services, with generally 45 to 60-day term.

§ Healthcare. Hospitals generally provide a 30-day credit term to its Health Maintenance
Organizations (HMO), international insurance, PhilHealth and corporate accounts.

§ Others.  Other trade receivables account included receivables arising from (i) operations and
maintenance (O&M) and construction services of water and waste treatment facilities (with 30 to
60-day credit term) and (ii) logistics services (generally 30-day credit term with settlement period
of 60 to 120 days).

Unbilled receivables. Unbilled receivables represents right to consideration in exchange for water
services that are yet to be billed to customers (see Note 37).

Concession financial receivable. On April 24, 2012, PT Dain Celicani Cemerlang (DCC), a
subsidiary of PT Nusantara (see Note 4) entered into a Cooperation Agreement for the supply of
treated water to PT Kawasan Industri Medan (Persero) (KIM) for a period of 20 years (excluding
construction phase).  The concession financial receivable pertains to the guaranteed minimum
payment that will be received by DCC from KIM under the water supply agreement.  Finance income
amounting to P=30 million was recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(see Note 24).
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Notes receivable.  Notes receivable aggregating P=150 million comprising of defaulted loans are fully
provided with allowance as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Nontrade receivables.  Aside from the advances to Department of Public Works and Highways
(DPWH) covered by a Reimbursement Agreement (see Note 32), nontrade receivables also included
(i) advances to customers, affiliates and officers and employees that are generally collectible within a
year and (ii) advances to former subsidiaries and related parties (see Note 19).  Portion of advances to
former subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company are fully provided with allowance.

The noncurrent portion of the receivables are included under the “Other noncurrent assets” account in
the consolidated statements of financial position.

9. Other Current Assets

This account consists of the following:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Inventories - at cost (see Note 21)
 Power plant spare parts and

consumables (see Note 4) P=1,551 P=1,375
Power plant coal and fuel (see Notes 4 and 30) 1,143 1,146
Hospital supplies 860 653
Rail engineering supplies 455 441
Others 242 243

Input value-added tax (VAT) (a) 3,647 2,759
Advances to contractors and consultants (b) 2,287 2,189
Creditable withholding tax (CWT) (c) 930 697
Prepaid expenses (d) 675 554
Deposits for LTIP (see Note 23) 542 ī
Due from related parties (see Note 19) 24 25
Miscellaneous deposits and others 867 696

13,223 10,778
Less allowance for decline in value (c) 331 346

P=12,892 P=10,432

a. Input VAT pertains to VAT imposed on purchases of goods and services.  These are expected to
be offset against output VAT (see Note 15) arising from the Company’s revenue/income subject
to VAT in the future.  Noncurrent portion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to
P=236 million and P=439 million, respectively, and is included under “Other noncurrent assets”.
The noncurrent portion pertains to input VAT that can be offset against output VAT beyond one
year and those that can be claimed as tax credits.

b. Advances to contractors and consultants mainly represent the advance payments for mobilization
of the contractors and consultants for various contracts.  These are progressively reduced upon
receipt of the equivalent amount of services rendered by the contractors and consultants.
Noncurrent portion included under “Other noncurrent assets” as at December 31, 2018 and 2017
amounted to P=7,328 million and P=3,381 million, respectively.
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c. This represents amount withheld by counterparty for services rendered by the Company which
can be claimed as tax credits.  Management provided allowance for decline in value representing
CWT recognized in prior years that the Company may no longer be able to utilize.

d. Prepaid expenses mainly pertain to insurance, premium bond and taxes and licenses.

10. Investments and Advances

This account consists of the following:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Equity method investees:
Associates:

Material
MERALCO P=126,936 P=123,161
DMT 6,852 7,038
CII B&R 3,095 3,133
ATEC 2,628 2,418
PT Nusantara* ī 7,777
PT Jakarta Lingkar Baratsatu (JLB) 4,178 ī

Others 6,555 4,612
Joint ventures:

Others 223 124
150,467 148,263

Advances to equity method investees 2,526 2,708
P=152,993 P=150,971

*Step acquisition in 2018 (see Note 4)

In determining whether an equity method investee is material to the Company, management employs
both quantitative and qualitative factors to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the
Company’s interests in these entities; and the effects of those interest on the Company’s financial
position.  Factors considered include, but not limited to, carrying value of the investee relative to the
total equity method investments recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the
equity investee’s contribution to the Company’s consolidated net income, and other relevant
qualitative risks associated with the equity investee’s nature, purpose and size of activities.

Equity Method Investees
Investments in equity method investees pertain to the Company’s investments in associates and joint
ventures.

Movements in this account:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Acquisition costs
Balance at beginning of year P=147,060 P=100,852
Additions during the year:

Acquisitions 3,731 10,237
Equity infusion into existing investee 299 166

(Forward)
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2018 2017
(In Millions)

Acquired through step acquisitions:
  MERALCO (through consolidation of

Beacon) P=ī P=94,746
Associates through PT Nusantara 2,992 ī

Step acquisition (see Note 4)
PT Nusantara (7,626) ī
DDH (521) ī
Beacon Electric ī (45,506)
TMC ī (1,584)
ESC ī (103)

Disposal – MERALCO (direct interest) ī (11,748)
Balance at end of year 145,935 147,060
Accumulated equity in net earnings
Balance at beginning of year 426 2,828
Share in net earnings (losses) for the year:

MERALCO 10,411 5,382
DMT 593 537
ATEC 249 14
JLB 104 ī
CII B&R 4 (50)
PT Nusantara (a) (601) 7
Beacon Electric (b) ī 1,854
TMC (c) ī 49
Others 313 252

Dividends:
MERALCO (6,854) (6,146)
DMT (1,349) (449)
ATEC (188) ī
PT Nusantara (a) (150) ī
CII B&R ī (184)
Beacon Electric (b) ī ī
TMC (c) ī (40)
Others (81) (101)

Step-up acquisition 328 (3,527)
Balance at end of year 3,205 426
Accumulated share in the investees’ OCI
Balance at beginning of year 2,100 2,018
Share in investees’ OCI during the year 422 (199)
Step acquisitions 128 388
Disposal ī (107)
Total 2,650 2,100
Less allowance for impairment loss
Balance at beginning of year 1,323 884
Provision (see Note 24) ī 439
Total 1,323 1,323

P=150,467 P=148,263
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Material Associates. The Company’s investments in material associates substantially comprise of
MPIC’s investments in:

Place of Ownership Interest in %
Incorporation Principal Activities 2018 2017

Associates:
MERALCO – Direct Philippines Power 10.5 10.5
MERALCO – Indirect (a) Philippines Power 35.0 35.0
ATEC Philippines Power 50.0 50.0
DMT Thailand Tollways 29.4 29.4
PT Nusantara (b) Indonesia Tollways ī 48.3

 CII B&R Vietnam Tollways 44.9 44.9
 PT Jakarta Lingkar Baratsatu

(JLB) Indonesia Tollways 35.0 ī

(a) Held through Beacon Electric.
(b) Interest of 48.3% in PT Nusantara as at December 31, 2017 is based on total issued shares. If based on shares outstanding, interest is at 49.5%.  PT

Nusantara is consolidated as a subsidiary beginning July 2018.  See Note 4.

Material investees – Power

MERALCO.   MERALCO is a Philippine corporation with its shares listed in the PSE.  It is the largest
distributor of electricity in the Philippines with its franchise valid until June 2028.

As disclosed in Note 4, MPIC acquired the remaining 25% interest of PCEV in Beacon Electric in
June 2017.  As a result, MPIC’s effective interest in MERALCO held indirectly through Beacon
Electric increased from 26.2% (prior to the step acquisition) to 34.96% beginning June 27, 2017.

In June 2017, MPIC completed the sale of 50.7 million shares representing approximately 4.5% of
outstanding capital stock of MERALCO through an overnight private placement for P=250.0 per share
or total proceeds of P=12.7 billion which resulted to a gain of P=732 million, net of P=273 million
transaction costs included as part of “Others” account in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2017 (see Note 24).  The proceeds from this
transaction were used by the Company to partially fund its acquisition of the remaining 25% interest
of PCEV in Beacon Electric.  After this transaction, MPIC’s direct interest in MERALCO decreased
from 15.0% to 10.5%.

Beginning June 27, 2017, after the transactions disclosed above, the Company’s combined effective
interest in MERALCO is at 45.5%.  The Company continues to equity account its ownership interest
in MERALCO.  The fair value of the Company’s effective investment in MERALCO at 45.5%
amounted to P=197 billion and P=168 billion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, based on
the quoted price of MERALCO as at that date.

A pledge on Beacon Electric’s investments in MERALCO shares secures Beacon Electric’s loan
facilities with a syndicate of various financial institutions (see Note 18).

ATEC.  On November 27, 2017, GBPC completed the acquisition of a 50% less one share stake in
ATEC, the holding company for Alsons Consolidated Resources, Inc.’s (ACR) baseload coal-fired
power plant assets for a total consideration of P=4.3 billion allocated as follows: (i) P=2.4 billion for the
common shares and (ii) P=1.9 billion for the assignment of certain advances of ACR to ATEC.
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ATEC has ownership in the following companies: (i) 75% in Sarangani Energy Corporation which
owns a 105 MW baseload coal-fired plant already in operation and another 105 MW under
construction in Maasim, Sarangani Province; (ii) 100% in San Ramon Power, Inc. (SRPI) which is
developing a 105 MW baseload coal-fired plant in Zamboanga City; and (iii) 100% in ACES
Technical Services Corporation.

Material investees – Toll operations

DMT.  DMT is a major toll road operator in Bangkok, Thailand.  The concession for DMT runs until
2034 for the operation of a 21.9-kilometer six-lane elevated toll road from central Bangkok to Don
Muang International Airport and further to the National Monument, north of Bangkok.

CII B&R.  CII B&R and its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the construction, development and
operation in urban infrastructure sector under the BOT contracts and Built-Transfer contracts. CII
B&R is incorporated in Vietnam and listed in Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange.

The fair value of CII B&R shares held by the Company (including the equivalent shares of the
potential voting rights) based on quoted market price amounted to VND3,059.3 billion (P=6.9 billion)
and VND2,032.3 billion (P=4.5 billion) as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

JLB.  JLB is a toll road company that operates a 9.7 km length toll road that connects Kebon Jeruk
(West Jakarta) with Penjaringan (Soekarno- Hatta International Airport area, Cengkareng).
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Material Investees – Summarized Financial Information
The tables below provide summarized financial information for the Company’s material investees.  The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the
financial statements of the relevant investees and not the Company’s share of those amounts.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

MERALCO ATEC DMT CII B&R JLB MERALCO ATEC DMT CII B&R
PT

NUSANTARA
(In Millions)

Summarized statements of financial position
Current assets P=115,344 P=4,056 P=871 P=2,479 P=2,095 P=98,432 P=2,357 P=776 P=3,990 P=4,685
Non-current assets(a) 220,907 25,739 27,458 14,703 10,554 213,363 20,556 29,229 15,071 21,627
Current liabilities 115,517 6,726 5,384 4,770 278 105,839 5,451 4,139 3,899 1,397
Non-current liabilities 137,847 15,799 5,298 8,543 5,155 125,616 11,057 6,676 10,956 10,551
Net assets 82,887 7,270 17,647 3,869 7,216 80,430 6,405 19,190 4,206 14,364
Less:  Equity attributable to NCI (845) (2,549) – – – (822) (2,448) – – –
Net assets attributable to common shareholders

of investee 82,042 4,721 17,647 3,869 7,216 79,518 3,957 19,190 4,206 14,364
Ownership interest in investee 45.5% 50% 29.4% 44.9% 35.0% 45.5% 50% 29.4% 44.9% 48.3%
MPIC’s share in net assets of investee 37,304 2,361 5,197 1,739 2,526 36,157 1,979 5,651 1,890 6,934
Goodwill and other adjustments 89,633 267 1,655 1,356 1,652 87,004 439 1,387 1,243 843
Carrying amount of the Company’s investment P=126,937 P=2,628 P=6,852 3,095 4,178 P=123,161 P=2,418 P=7,038 P=3,133 P=7,777

Statements of comprehensive income
Revenues P=304,454 P=4,728 P=4,933 P=858 P=1,708 P=282,556 P=4,190 P=4,429 P=735 P=1,016
Income before income tax 30,545 862 2,599 99 790 27,862 483 2,348 (76) 101
Net income (loss) 23,102 805 2,013 9 602 20,499 447 1,824 (110) 14
OCI (loss) 480 1 – – (1) (846) – – – –
Total comprehensive income (loss) 23,582 806 2,013 9 601 19,653 447 1,824 (110) 14
Total comprehensive income attributable to

common shareholders of investee 23,947 806 2,013 9 601 19,532 339 1,824 (110) 14
Dividends received 6,854 – 1,349 – – 6,146 – 449 184 –
(a) Includes “Investments in associates”
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Individually immaterial investees.  The Company has interests in the following individually
immaterial investments in associates and joint ventures:

Place of Ownership Interest in %
Incorporation Principal Activities 2018 2017

Associates:
 Manila Water Consortium Inc. (MWCI) (a) Philippines Investment holding/ Water 39.0 39.0

EquiPacific HoldCo Inc. (EHI) (b) Philippines Investment holding/ Water 30.0 30.0
Watergy Business Solutions, Inc. (WBSI) (c) Philippines Investment holding/ Water 49.0 49.0

 Karayan Diliman Management, Inc. Philippines Engineering consultancy 40.0 40.0
Davao Doctors Hospital, Inc. (DDH) * Philippines Hospital operations; see Note 4 ī 35.2
Medical Doctors Inc. (MDI) (d) Philippines Hospital operations 33.3 32.9

 Manila Medical Services, Inc. (MMSI) (d) Philippines Hospital operations 20.0 20.0
Medi Linx Laboratory Inc. ** Philippines Clinical laboratory services 40.0 40.0
Davao Doctors Oncology Center Inc. Philippines Radiation and oncology center 30.0 ī

 AF Payments Inc. (AFPI) (e) Philippines Operator of contactless payment
system 20.0 20.0

Indra Philippines, Inc. (Indra Phils.) (f) Philippines Management and IT consultancy 25.0 25.0
 First Gen Northern Energy Corp. (FGNEC) Philippines Under liquidation (corporate

life ended December 31,
2016) 33.3 33.3

 Costa De Madera (g) Philippines Real estate 62.0 62.0
 Metro Pacific Land Holdings, Inc. Philippines Under liquidation (corporate

life ended July 31, 2019) 49.0 49.0
 BOO Phu Ninh Water Treatment Plant Joint Stock

Company (PNW) (h)
Vietnam Investment holding/ Water

45.0 ī
 Tuan Loc Water Resources Investment Joint Stock
  Company (TLW) (i)

Vietnam Investment holding/ Water
49.0 ī

PT Intisentosa Alam Bahtera  (IAB) (j) Indonesia Port services 39.0 ī
PT Tirta Kencana Cahaya Mandiri (TKC) (j) Indonesia Water installation 28.0 ī

Joint Ventures:
Land Pacific Corporation (Landco) (k) Philippines Real estate 38.1 38.1
Metro Sanitas Corporation (Sanitas) (l) Philippines Clinical management 50.0 50.0

 Lipa Medix Cancer Center Corporation Philippines Oncology treatment center 50.0 50.0

* Step acquisition in 2018 (see Note 4)
** Incorporated in 2017

a. MWCI has 51.0% voting interest and 70.6% economic interest in Cebu Manila Water
Development, Inc. (CMWD).  CMWD has a 20-year Water Purchase Agreement with the
Metropolitan Cebu Water District for the supply of 18 million liters of water per day for the first
year and 35 million liters of water per day for years two (2) up to twenty (20).  CMWD made its
initial delivery of water in January 2015.

b. EHI and the Laguna Water District (LWD) entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (JV
Agreement) on November 3, 2015.  Pursuant to the JV Agreement, EHI and LWD, at ownership
interest of 90% and 10%, respectively, established Laguna Water District Aquatech Resources
Corp. (LARC) which shall be responsible for the financing, rehabilitation, improvement,
expansion, operation and maintenance of LWD’s water supply system.  The JV Agreement is for
a term of twenty-five (25) years from January 1, 2016.

c. WBSI is a party to the Contractual Joint Venture Agreement (Contractual JVA) which purpose is
to develop a bulk water supply project to be sourced from the Maragondon River.  The agreement
shall be for a period of 25 years from the commencement date.  Commencement date has not
taken place as at December 31, 2018.

d. MDI is the owner and operator of Makati Medical Center.  MMSI is the owner and operator of
Manila Doctors Hospital.  Ownership interests in these entities reflected in the above table are at
MPHHI level.  On a fully-diluted basis, MPIC’s effective ownership interest in MDI at 20.0%
and 19.8% as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively; and MMSI at 12.0% as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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e. AFPI was granted the rights and obligations to design, finance, construct, operate, and maintain
the Automated Fare Collection System (AFCS) Project for LRT-1, LRT-2, and Metro Railway
Transit Line 3 (MRT-3).  The AFCS Project accommodates a contactless smartcard technology
for stored value ridership and contactless medium technology for single journey ridership.  This
system shall be expandable to allow the inclusion of accepted participants and issuers into a
generic micropayment solution fulfilling other commercial functions.  AFPI had its Full System
Acceptance (FSA) on December 16, 2015.  Unless otherwise extended or terminated in
accordance with the Service Concession Agreement, the concession period shall commence on
FSA date and end 10 years from the FSA date.  In 2017, due to the lower than expected
penetration rate into the micropayments business, the Company recognized allowance for decline
in value of investment amounting to P=439 million.  The recoverable amount of the investment in
AFPI was measured using the estimate of the value in use of the investment.  The valuation
analysis involved discounting estimates of free cash flows by the discount rate of 11.9%.  The
estimates of cash flows were based on most recent financial budgets and forecasts representing
best estimate of ranges of economic conditions that will exist over the forecast period.  The
forecast period covers the remaining concession term.  The decline in value was recognized as
“Others” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2017 (see Note 24).

f. Indra Phils. is a subsidiary of Indra Sistemas, S.A., which has international knowledge,
experience and track record in the information technology business.  Indra Phils. is one of the
leading providers of information technology solutions to various businesses and industries in the
Philippines, with engagements in utilities and telecommunications, financial services and public
administration.

g. Neo Oracle Holdings, Inc. (NOHI) has 62% interest in Costa de Madera but was accounted for as
an investment in associate as control and management rests with the other shareholders of Costa
de Madera.  Since December 31, 2012, the investment costs was partially provided with an
allowance for decline in value amounting to P=400 million.  In 2016, this allowance for decline in
value was reversed due to improvement in realizable value and was recorded as “Others” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 24).

h. On May 14, 2018, MPW completed the acquisition of 45% of the outstanding capital stock of
PNW.  The transaction was completed through the acquisition of 9,900,000 shares from an
existing shareholder of PNW for 272 billion Vietnamese Dong (VND) (equivalent to
P=622 million), subject to price adjustment through an escrow mechanism depending on the
fulfillment of certain conditions.  The amounts in escrow were to be released in tranches upon the
satisfaction of certain conditions until December 31, 2018.  Of the VND 90.8 billion held in
escrow, VND 22.7 billion (equivalent to P=52 million) was released in September 2018.  On
January 29, 2019, due to the non-fulfillment of several secured commitments within the deadline
stipulated under the Escrow Agreement, notice was given to return the remaining amount
equivalent to P=155 million to MPW.  As at December 31, 2018, total investment cost and
advances to PNW presented under “Investments and advances” in the consolidated statement of
financial position amounted to P=466 million and P=155 million, respectively.

Pursuant to a 50-year Build-Own-Operate contract with the Chu Lai Open Economic Zone
Authority, PNW is licensed to develop a water supply system that will meet clean water demand
in the Chu Lai Open Economic Zone, and urban areas, industrial zones and adjacent rural areas in
Quang Nam province.  PNW is close to completing the construction and commissioning of a
water treatment plant with capacity of 25 MLD, and has potential to increase its capacity to
300 MLD.
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i. On June 11, 2018, MPW completed the acquisition of 49% of the outstanding capital stock of
TLW.  The transaction was completed through the acquisition of 37,926,000 shares from an
existing shareholder of TLW for VND866 billion (equivalent to P=2 billion).  TLW is one of the
largest water companies in Vietnam, with 310 MLD of installed capacity and a billed volume of
approximately 102 MLD for the year ended December 31, 2018.  TLW’s main project assets are
the:
§ Song Lam Raw Water Plant, a 50-year Build-Own-Operate (BOO) contract with an installed

capacity of 200 MLD expandable to 300 MLD.  It supplies raw water to the Nghe An Water
Supply JSC and surrounding industrial parks.  Nghe An Province is the largest province in
Vietnam by area and has a population of about 3.1 million people.

§ Ho Cau Moi Water Treatment Plant, a 50-year BOO with an installed capacity of 90 MLD
expandable to 120 MLD.  It supplies treated water to Dong Nai Water Company and
surrounding industrial parks. Dong Nai Province is the manufacturing satellite of Ho Chi
Minh City and will be the location of the Long Thanh International Airport – the new
100 million passenger airport of HCMC.  Dong Nai Province has a population of about
2.9 million.

§ Nhon Trach 6A Sewage Treatment Plant, a 50-year BOO with an installed capacity of
20 MLD expandable to 40 MLD.  It is the wastewater treatment facility for the 400-hectare
Nhon Trach 6 Industrial Park in Dong Nai Province.

j. Associates through step acquisition of PT Nusantara.  The following associates were effectively
acquired through the step acquisition of PT Nusantara (see Note 4):
§ IAB is mainly engaged in the port services, warehousing, loading and unloading services, and

storage tank rental services with its operations located in Lampung.
§ TKC owns a Water Treatment Plant at Cikokol, Tangerang, Banten, which operates at

1,275 liter per second capacity bulk water supplying clean water to PDAM Tirta Kerta
Raharja (TKR) Tangerang.

k. On December 22, 2014, MPIC entered into an agreement with Landco and its controlling
shareholder, AB Holdings Corporation (ABHC) to restructure and clean up the balance sheet of
Landco in preparation for an eventual sale to third parties.  As a result of the planned divestment
of the interests in Landco, the carrying values of the notes receivable from Landco and ABHC
and the investment in Landco’s common shares were reclassified to “Assets held for sale” as at
December 31, 2014.  However, the expected disposal did not happen in 2015 nor in 2016 and as
such, the investment no longer met the ‘held for sale’ criteria as at December 31, 2016.  The
investment in Landco’s common shares ceased to be classified as ‘held of sale’ and starting
December 31, 2016, has been classified as investment in joint venture and was fully provided for
an allowance in decline in value.  The decline in the value of MPIC’s interest in Landco was due
to changes in cash flow forecast attributable to Landco’s legacy projects. The recoverable amount
of the investment in Landco was measured using the estimate of the value in use of the
investment in joint venture. The valuation analysis involved discounting estimates of free cash
flows by the appropriate discount rate that reflects the risk and return profile of Landco as of
testing. The estimates of cash flows comprise revenue projections, related costs and expenses, net
working capital requirements and capital expenditures expected to be incurred from Landco’s
projects.  These cash flows were discounted using weighted average cost of capital of 10.14% as
the discount rate as of testing date.  The decline in value of the investment amounting to
P=774 million was recorded as “Others” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended December 31, 2016 (see Note 24).  Additional allowance for decline in value
covering advances to Landco of P=755 million was recognized in 2018 (see Note 24).  The decline
in the value of the Company’s interest in Landco was due to changes in cash flow forecast
attributable to Landco’s legacy projects.  The Company’s advances to Landco amounted to
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P=491 million and P=828 million, net of allowance for decline in value, as at December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

l. Sanitas was incorporated in 2016.  On May 11, 2017, MPHHI sold its 51% stake in its subsidiary,
The MegaClinic, Inc. (MegaClinic), to Sanitas for a total consideration of P=32 million.  MPHHI’s
transfer of its investment in MegaClinic resulted in a loss of control over the investee with a loss
on sale of P=2 million recognized as “Others” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended December 31, 2017 (see Note 24).

The following table analyzes, in aggregate, the Company’s share in the net income and OCI of these
investees for the years ended December 31:

2018 2017
Joint Venture Associate Joint Venture Associate

 (In Millions)

Carrying amount of investment P=163 P=6,554 P=124 P=4,612
Share in:

Net income (12) 325 5 296
OCI – (2) – –
Total comprehensive income (12) 323 5 296

The following table summarizes, in aggregate, the assets and liabilities of these investees:

2018 2017
Joint Venture Associate Joint Venture Associate

 (In Millions)

Current assets P=205 P=6,211 P=150 P=5,969
Noncurrent assets 477 20,132 142 15,766
Current liabilities 250 4,821 84 3,743
Noncurrent liabilities 160 7,279 4 3,563
Dividend income – 81 5 96

Other transactions with these investees are disclosed in Note 19.

11.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets

2018
Intangible Assets

Goodwill
Customer
Contracts

Property Use
Rights Others Total

(In Millions)

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year P=25,708 P=3,840 777 795 5,412
Adjustment (see Note 4) 12 ī (29) 25 (4)
Additions 2,461 10 ī 84 94
Exchange differences 42 ī ī ī ī
Balance at end of year 28,223 3,850 748 904 5,502

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year ī 159 265 351 775
Adjustment (see Note 4) ī (16) (4) ī (20)
Additions (see Note 21) ī 723 46 81 850

 Balance at end of year ī 866 307 432 1,605

(Forward)
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2018
Intangible Assets

Goodwill
Customer
Contracts

Property Use
Rights Others Total

(In Millions)

Impairment:
Balance at beginning of year P=324 P=ī P=ī P=ī P=ī

 Additional impairment (see
Note 24)

43 ī ī ī ī

Balance at end of year 367 ī ī ī ī
P=27,856 P=2,984 P=441 P=472 P=3,897

2017
Intangible Assets

Goodwill
Customer
Contracts

Property Use
Rights Others Total

(In Millions)

Cost:
 Balance at beginning of year P=21,004 P=1,212 P=777 P=485 P=2,474

Additions 4,704 3,410 ī 90 3,500
 Purchase price allocation

adjustment (see Note 4) ī (782) ī 220 (562)
Balance at end of year 25,708 3,840 777 795 5,412

Accumulated amortization:
 Balance at beginning of year ī 41 223 276 540

Additions (see Note 21) ī 118 42 75 235
Balance at end of year ī 159 265 351 775

Impairment:
Balance at beginning of year ī ī ī ī ī
Additions (see Note 24) 324 ī ī ī ī

 Balance at end of year 324 ī ī ī ī
P=25,384 P=3,681 P=512 P=444 P=4,637

Goodwill.  The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the CGU (determined to be at the
subsidiary level):

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Power:
RPSL (see Note 4) P=164 P=ī

Toll operations:
MPTC/TMC (see Note 4) 8,859 8,859
CIC 4,966 4,966
PT Nusantara (see Note 4) 1,636 ī
ESC (see Note 4) 388 388

Water:
MWHC/Maynilad 6,803 6,803
ESTII 1,227 1,227
PHI 245 288

Healthcare:
DDH (see Note 4) 703 ī
MVMC 662 662
CVHMC 234 234

(Forward)
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2018 2017
(In Millions)

Asian Hospital Inc. (AHI) P=192 P=192
SEHI (see Note 4) 96 60
RMCI 69 69
De Los Santos Medical Center Inc. (DLSMC) 7 7

Logistics:
MMI 1,366 1,366
Premier (see Note 4) 239 263

P=27,856 P=25,384

Impairment charge of P=324 million was recognized in 2017 relating to the goodwill arising from the
logistics business acquired in 2016.  An impairment charge of P=43 million was recognized in 2018 in
relation to the goodwill arising from acquisition of PHI.  Impairment analyses are provided in
Note 14.

Customer contracts.  The customer contracts were acquired as part of a business combination
(see Note 4).  They are recognized at their fair value at the date of acquisition and are subsequently
amortized on a straight-line over their estimated useful lives.

Property use rights.  Certain subsidiaries entered into lease agreements for the operation and
management of hospitals (see Note 30).  The lease agreements qualified as business combinations
where the identifiable assets consist of property use rights for the use of existing land and building
over the term of the lease.

As discussed in Note 4, MPHHI acquired 63.94% of the outstanding voting capital stock of WMMCI.
The transaction resulted to the derecognition of the property use rights and the related accumulated
amortization (reflected as “Adjustment” in the above table).

Other intangible assets.  Comprises of license and technology, software and basketball franchise.
The basketball franchise amounting P=100 million represents cost of MPTC’s Philippine Basketball
Association franchise named “NLEX Road Warriors” and is not amortized (see Note 14).

12. Service Concession Assets

This account consists of the following:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Water:
Maynilad P=99,399 P=90,156
PHI 581 591
MIBWSC 938 775
PT Nusantara 416

Total (Carried Forward) 101,334 91,522
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2018 2017
(In Millions)

Total (Brought Forward) P=101,334 P=91,522
Toll operations:

NLEX Corp (NLEX, SCTEX and Connector) 38,063 34,744
CIC (CAVITEX) 10,037 9,036
MPCALA (CALAEX) 27,058 23,865
CCLEC (CCLEX) 1,215 364
PT Nusantara 12,081

88,454 68,009
Rail:

LRMC (LRT-1) 16,204 9,252
P=205,992 P=168,783

The movements in the service concession assets follow:

2018
Water Toll Rail Total

(In Millions)

Cost:
 Balance at beginning of year P=113,931 P=74,707 P=9,252 P=197,890

Additions 12,063 7,623 6,173 25,859
Additions through step acquisition 424 12,444 – 12,868
Capitalized borrowing cost 590 1,843 779 3,212
Exchange differences (7) (208) – (215)
Balance at end of year 127,001 96,409 16,204 239,614

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year 22,409 6,698 – 29,107
Additions (see Note 21) 3,258 1,256 – 4,514
Exchange differences – 1 – 1
Balance at end of year 25,667 7,955 – 33,622

P=101,334 P=88,454 P=16,204 P=205,992

2017
Water Toll Rail Total

(In Millions)

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year P=102,345 P=69,121 P=6,425 P=177,891
Additions 11,149 3,487 2,456 17,092
Capitalized borrowing cost 437 2,099 371 2,907
Balance at end of year 113,931 74,707 9,252 197,890

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year 19,517 5,681 – 25,198
Additions (see Note 21) 2,892 1,017 – 3,909
Balance at end of year 22,409 6,698 – 29,107

P=91,522 P=68,009 P=9,252 P=168,783

Service concession assets that are not yet available for use are subjected to impairment testing under
PAS 36 (see Note 14).

Service concession assets still under on-going construction and rehabilitation (see Note 30) amounting to
P=49,762 million and P=32,271 million as at December 31 and January 1, 2018, respectively, are
considered as contract asset under PFRS 15 (see Note 37).



- 50 -

*SGVFS032824*

Additions through step acquisition.  As a result of a step acquisition, the Company started consolidating
PT Nusantara beginning July 2, 2018 (see Note 4).  PT Nusantara’s concession assets comprise of toll
roads and water concession rights.  Toll road concession rights cover the following toll road sections:
(a) Tallo-Hasudin Airport; (b) Soekarno Hatta Port – Pettarani; (c) Pondok Ranji and Pondok Aren.  The
water concession rights pertain to the right to treat and distribute clean water in the Serang District,
Banten in Indonesia.

Aside from the additions through acquisitions as mentioned above, below are the additions to service
concession assets:

Service Concession Assets – Water.  This represents the exclusive right granted to Maynilad, PHI and
MIBWSC to provide water distribution, sewerage services, water production and charge users for
these services during the concession period (see Note 30).

Additions in 2018 included (i) the cost of rehabilitation works and additional construction;
(ii) concession fee drawdown for Angat Water Transmission Improvement Project (AWTIP) and
various local component costs amounting to P=250 million; (iii) capitalized borrowing cost; and
(iv) effect of change in rebased rate amounting to P=649 million.

Additions in 2017 included (i) Maynilad’s costs of rehabilitation works and additional construction;
and (ii) Maynilad’s additional concession fees pertaining to the drawn portion of the MWSS loans
relating to new projects.

Service Concession Assets – Toll Operations.  This represents concessions comprising of the rights,
interests and privileges to finance, design, construct, operate and maintain toll roads, toll facilities and
other facilities generating toll-related and non-toll related income (see Note 30).

Additions in 2018 included (i) the ongoing construction of CALAEX (P=2,722 million, inclusive of
interest accretion); NLEX Corp’s Segment 10 project (P=2,934 million); NLEX Segment 10 R10 Section
(P=438 million); NLEX Connector Road Project (P=262 million, inclusive of interest accretion); NLEX
interchange expansion and toll plaza enhancement (P=209 million); and the ongoing pavement
rehabilitation and toll plaza enhancements of the SCTEX (P=200 million); (ii) CIC’s CAVITEX R1
Enhancement (P=395 million); (iii) C5 South Link (P=715 million); (iv) CCLEC’s ongoing construction of
Cebu Cordova Link Expressway (P=622 million); and (v) remaining additions pertain to pre-construction
costs on various toll road projects.

Additions in 2017 included: (i) P=2.1 billion (excluding capitalized borrowing costs) pertaining to NLEX
Corp’s ongoing construction of Segment 10, NLEX widening projects and toll plaza expansion and
P=783 million on the ongoing pavement rehabilitation of the SCTEX; (ii) P=711 million for the ongoing
construction of CALAEX; (iii) P=3 million for the ongoing construction of C5 Link; and (iv) remaining
additions pertain to preconstruction costs on various toll road projects.

Service Concession Assets – Rail.  This represents the concession comprising of the exclusive right
during the concession period to operate and maintain the current LRT-1 system, collect farebox revenue
and construct the LRT-1 Extension (see Note 30).

Additions in 2018 substantially pertain to the on-going rehabilitation of the LRT-1 existing line and the
pre-construction activities for the Cavite Extension.

Additions in 2017 pertain to costs of station and LRV rehabilitation works for the LRT-1 system,
engineering, procurement and construction and other consultancy cost for LRT-1 Extension project.
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

This account consists of:

January 1,
2018 Additions(a)

Disposals/
Reclassifications(b)

December 31,
2018

(In Millions)

Cost
Land and land improvements P=2,704 P=2,518 P=– P=5,222
Generation assets 55,341 961 (1,274) 55,028
Building and building improvements 6,091 1,980 1,029 9,100
Instruments, tools and other equipment 5,760 2,038 (81) 7,717
Office and other equipment, furniture

and fixtures 2,663 876 6 3,545
Transportation equipment 1,850 143 (93) 1,900
Leasehold improvements 608 108 (8) 708

75,017 8,624 (421) 83,220
Accumulated Depreciation
Generation assets 1,618 2,623 (277) 3,964
Building and building improvements 1,283 555 (10) 1,828
Instruments, tools and other equipment 3,246 649 (87) 3,808
Office and other equipment, furniture

and fixtures 1,425 492 (14) 1,903
Transportation equipment 531 317 (86) 762
Leasehold and land improvements 249 114 (3) 360

8,352 4,750 (477) 12,625
66,665 3,874 56 70,595

Allowance for impairment loss (23) – – (23)
Construction-in-progress 964 1,519 (1,129) 1,354

P=67,606 P=5,393 (P=1,073) P=71,926

January 1,
2017 Additions(a)

Disposals/
Reclassifications(b)

December 31,
2017

(In Millions)

Cost
Land and land improvements P=1,278 P=1,467 (P=41) P=2,704
Generation assets – 55,508 (167) 55,341
Building and building improvements 5,496 353 242 6,091
Instruments, tools and other equipment 5,352 1,020 (613) 5,760
Office and other equipment, furniture

and fixtures 1,947 722 (6) 2,663
Transportation equipment 841 1,071 (62) 1,850
Leasehold improvements 574 108 (74) 608

15,489 60,249 (721) 75,017
Accumulated Depreciation
Generation assets – 1,618 – 1,618
Building and building improvements 1,057 231 (5) 1,283
Instruments, tools and other equipment 2,724 698 (176) 3,246
Office and other equipment, furniture

and fixtures 1,092 339 (6) 1,425
Transportation equipment 391 186 (46) 531
Leasehold and land improvements 180 72 (3) 249

5,444 3,144 (236) 8,352
10,045 57,105 (485) 66,665

Allowance for impairment loss (23) – – (23)
Construction-in-progress 458 912 (406) 964

P=10,480 P=58,017 (P=891) P=67,606
(a)Includes acquisitions through business combination (see Note 4) and exchange differences.
(b)Includes completion of purchase price allocation.

The power generating assets of GBPC’s subsidiaries (TPC, CEDC and PEDC) with aggregate
carrying value of P=50 billion and P=54 billion as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 have been
mortgaged/pledged as security for these subsidiaries’ long-term debt totaling P=32 billion and
P=40 billion, respectively (see Note 18).  AHI’s property and equipment, with a carrying value of
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P=3,448 million as at December 31, 2016 were pledged as collateral for its long-term loans which were
all due and paid in 2017 (see Note 18).

14. Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company performs its annual impairment test close to year-end, after finalizing the annual
financial budgets and forecasts.  The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for
the different CGUs are discussed below.

Except for the impairment charge on goodwill in 2018 and 2017 (see Note 11), management did not
identify any other impairment losses for goodwill and service concession assets not yet in use.
Management also believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would
cause the carrying values of the CGUs and the service concession assets not yet in use to materially
exceed their respective recoverable amounts.

Goodwill acquired from certain acquisitions in 2018 are based on provisional values (see Note 4).
Impairment testing will commence on the period the initial accounting will be finalized, including the
allocation of goodwill to each of the CGUs, which should not be more than 12 months from date of
acquisition.  No impairment indicators exist as at December 31, 2018 for these acquisition.

Goodwill

Growth
rate

Occupancy
rate

Average
forecast period

Pre-tax
Discount

rate
December 31, 2018:

Toll 2.4% to 15.2% – 10 to 30 years 13.4% to 19.0%
Toll - ESC 5.1% See below 11.4%
Water 2.0% to 2.7% – 17 to 18 years 13.5% to 16.1%
Water (non-concession) See below – See below 11.3%
Healthcare – 68% to 82% See below 18.4% to 20.1%
Logistics See below – See below 14.1% to 14.3%

December 31, 2017:
Toll 1.9% to 9.6% – 20 to 36 years 11.5% to 12.4%
Water 1.4% to 2.7% – 18 to 19 years 11.4% to 14.3%
Water (non-concession) See below – See below 10.3%
Healthcare – 67% to 81% See below 15.4% to 17.5%
Logistics See below – See below 11.1%

In assessing the impairment for goodwill, the Company compares the carrying amounts of the
underlying assets against their recoverable amounts (the higher of the assets’ fair value less costs of
disposal and their VIU).

The recoverable amounts for the toll and water businesses have been determined based on VIU
calculations using cash flow projections covering the concession periods for the Company’s water
and toll road businesses.  The discount rates applied to cash flow projections reflect the weighted
average cost of capital of the relevant businesses.  In the assessment of the recoverable amount of the
water and toll road businesses, their VIUs were calculated based on their cash flow projections as per
the most recent financial budgets and forecasts, which management believes are reasonable and are
management’s best estimates of the ranges of economic conditions that will exist over the forecast
period.  The forecasted periods for the Company’s water and toll road businesses are more than five
(5) years as management can reliably estimate the cash flows for their entire concession periods.  The
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cash flows during the projection periods are derived using estimated average growth rates which do
not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the industry in the country where the businesses
operate.  As a result of the analysis, the Company recognized an impairment charge of P=43 million
(see Note 24) on water concession goodwill in 2018.

In the assessment of the recoverable amount of the toll and water non-concession business (which
basically pertains to ESTII’s goodwill), ESC, healthcare businesses and logistics, their VIUs were
calculated based on cash flow projections as per the most recent financial budgets and forecasts
covering a five-year period, which management believes are reasonable and are management’s best
estimates of the ranges of economic conditions that will exist over the forecast period.

For ESC and ESTII, cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate
that is consistent with the average growth rate of the industry.  For ESC, growth rate of 5.1% while
for ESTII, a growth rate of 3.7% (2017: 2.5%).

Assumed occupancy rates for the hospitals are consistent with the actual current occupancy rates.
Average forecast period for purposes of goodwill impairment testing, except for CVHMC, is at five
(5) years with terminal value computed based on a zero-growth assumption for forecasts beyond the
5-year period.  The length of the projection for CVHMC is consistent with the remaining lease term
(see Note 30).

For the logistics business, cash flows beyond the eight-year period (2017: five-year period) were
extrapolated using a 2% growth rate (2017: 4%) that is the same as long-term average growth rate for
the industry.  For 2018, it was concluded that the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying
amount of the CGUs, hence, no impairment loss recognized.  However, for 2017, as a result of the
analysis, the Company recognized impairment charge of P=324 million (see Note 24).  The impairment
charge is recognized within “Others” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended December 31, 2017.

Service Concession Assets not yet Available for Use

Capitalized
Project Cost (a)

Net Carrying
value (b)

Growth
Rate

Average Forecast
Period

Pre-tax
Discount

rate

December 31, 2018:
Toll P=43,398 P=22,614 0.4% to 11.0% 19 to 38 years 9.5% to 11.6%
Rail 16,204 12,808 8.5% 29 years 12.6%
Water 672 672 8.0% 36 years 11.5%

P=60,274 P=36,094

December 31, 2017:
Toll P=34,738 P=15,093 0.4% to 13.7% 20 to 39 years 9.5% to 10.8%
Rail 9,252 6,078 8.5% 30 years 10.5%
Water 553 553 10% 33 years 9.7%

P=44,543 P=21,724
(a) Included in the carrying value of the ‘service concession assets’ account in the consolidated statement of financial position
(see Note 12)
(b) Represents difference between the service concession assets and the corresponding net present value of the service concession
fee payment (see Note 17)
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In assessing the impairment for service concession assets not yet available for use, the Company
compares the carrying amounts of the underlying assets against their recoverable amounts (the higher
of the assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and their VIU).  Risks related to the expected variations
in the timing of cash flows have been incorporated in computing for the recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets.  Average growth for the toll, rail and water businesses represents expected growth in
traffic, ridership for the rail business and billed volume for the water business, respectively.  The
average forecast period is consistent with the period covered by the concession agreements
(see Note 30).

Philippine Basketball Association Franchise.  The recoverable amount of the franchise cost has been
determined using its FVLCD as of impairment testing date.  The Company used market approach in
determining the fair value of the intangible asset (franchise cost) in reference to prices generated in
similar recent transactions from other market participants involving identical or comparable assets.
The Company adjusted the price to account for costs of disposal to determine FVLCD as one of the
measures of recoverable amount required by PAS 36.  Based on the impairment testing, management
did not identify any impairment loss for this intangible asset (franchise cost) as FVLCD exceeds the
carrying amount of the intangible asset (franchise cost).  The FVLCD of the franchise cost is
classified under Level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

15. Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Accrued construction costs P=7,135 P=5,484
Trade and accounts payable (a) 6,931 6,735
Accrued expenses (b) 1,362 1,571
Accrued outside services 1,235 1,076
Dividends payable (c) 2,513 2,509
Output taxes payable 2,332 2,182
Interest and other financing charges (see Note 18) 2,278 1,688
Retention payable (d) 2,743 2,256
Accrued personnel costs 1,878 1,646
LTIP payable (see Note 23) 1,430 459
Withholding taxes payable 555 483
Unearned revenues 227 115
Accrued PNCC and BCDA fees (see Note 2830) 179 –
Deposit from National Grid Corporation of the

Philippines (NGCP; Note 30) 159 163
Lease payable - current portion (f) 53 136
Contract liabilities/unearned connection and

installation fees(e) 13 –
Others 928 639

P=31,951 P=27,142

a. This account includes unpaid billings of creditors, suppliers and contractors.  It also includes
liabilities relating to assets held in trust used in Maynilad’s operations amounting to P=97 million
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (see Note 30).  Trade and accounts payables are non-interest
bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms.

b. This account includes accrued professional fees, utilities and repairs and maintenance charges.
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c. Dividends payable pertains to unpaid dividends to noncontrolling shareholders of GBPC and
NLEX Corp.

d. Retention payable is the amount withheld by the Company until the completion of the
construction of a specific project.

e. Unearned connection and installation fees are initially recognized from the collection of the fees
and is then recognized as revenue over the remaining concession period as the Company provides
water and sewerage services to customers (see Note 37).  The noncurrent portion amounted to
P=236 million as at December 31, 2018 and is reported under “Other long-term liabilities”.

f. Lease payable represents present value of future minimum lease payments relating to the lease
agreements entered into by certain subsidiaries involved in hospital management, which lease
agreements qualify as business combinations (see Note 11).  The lease payable was initially
determined at acquisition date and subsequently adjusted for payments and accretion.

As discussed in Note 4, MPHHI acquired 63.94% of the outstanding voting shares of WMMCI
which resulted to the derecognition of the lease liability.  Amount taken out of the lease payable
account as a result of this transaction amounted to P=3 million (current portion) and P=29 million
(noncurrent portion).

The noncurrent portion of the lease payable amounting to P=886 million and P=1,044 million as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, is included in the “Other long-term liabilities”.

16. Provisions

The table below presents the movements in this account:

Heavy
Maintenance (a)

Decommissioning
Liability(b)

Other
Provisions (c) Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 P=433 P=– P=5,035 P=5,468
Additions* and accretion 295 536 2,230 3,061
Payments (326) – (100) (426)
Balance at December 31, 2017 402 536 7,165 8,103
Additions* and accretion 279 12 688 979
Payments (235) – (314) (549)
Exchange differemces (1) – – (1)
Balance at December 31, 2018 P=445 P=548 P=7,539 P=8,532
*Included additions by way of acquisitions (see Note 4)

Heavy
Maintenance (a)

Decommissioning
Liability(b)

Other
Provisions (c) Total

At December 31, 2017:
Current portion P=256 P=– P=5,741 P=5,997
Noncurrent portion 146 536 1,424 2,106

At December 31, 2018:
Current portion 161 – 5,843 6,004
Noncurrent portion 284 548 1,696 2,528

a. This pertains to the contractual obligations of segments to restore the toll service concession
assets to a specified level of serviceability during the service concession term and to maintain the
same assets in good condition prior to turnover of the assets to Grantor/s.

b. Decommissioning liability pertains to GBPC’s estimated liability to decommission or dismantle
the power plants at the end of their useful lives.
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c. These consist of estimated liabilities for losses on claims by third parties.  The information
usually required by PAS 37 is not disclosed as it may prejudice the Company’s negotiation with
third parties.

17. Service Concession Fees Payable

This account consists of:

2018
Toll Operations Water Rail Total

(In Millions)

Balance at beginning of year P=19,645 P=6,925 P=3,174 P=29,744
Interest accretion – capitalized (see

Note 12) 1,139 – 222 1,361
Interest accretion (see Note 24) – 518 ״ 518
Foreign exchange differential – 23 – 23
Payment – (1,007) ״ (1,007)

20,784 6,459 3,396 30,639
Less current portion ״ 693 ״ 693

P=20,784 P=5,766 P=3,396 P=29,946

2017
Toll

Operations Water Rail Total
(In Millions)

Balance at beginning of year P=18,551 P=7,318 P=3,005 P=28,874
Interest accretion – capitalized (see Note 12) 1,094 – 169 1,263
Interest accretion (see Note 24) – 575 ״ 575
Foreign exchange differential – 39 – 39
Payment – (1,007) ״ (1,007)

19,645 6,925 3,174 29,744
Less current portion ״ 871 ״ 871

P=19,645 P=6,054 P=3,174 P=28,873

Toll Operations.  Concession fees relate to the CALAEX and the Connector Project:

§ CALAEX.  In consideration for granting the concession, MPCALA shall pay DPWH a concession fee
totaling P=27.3 billion, 20% or P=5.5 billion of which was settled upon signing of the concession
agreement (July 10, 2015).  The balance of the concession fee (nominal amount of P=21.8 billion) is
payable in equal annual installments beginning on the 5th year (2020) over a period of 9 years from
the signing of the concession agreement.  Service concession fee payable was initially recognized at
its present value as at signing date of the concession agreement.  For failure to pay the concession fee
on or before the agreed upon dates, MPCALA shall pay interest at the rate of one year Philippine
Dealing System Treasury Reference Rate PM (PDST-R2) plus 1.75%.  The interest at such rate shall
continue to accrue until the remaining concession fee is paid, or until a notice of default and
termination is received by MPCALA.  In the event of occurrence of a DPWH default, the obligation
of MPCALA to pay the concession fee shall be suspended until such default has been cured by the
DPWH.  MPCALA shall no longer be obligated to pay any amount of unpaid concession fee to the
DPWH in case this concession agreement is terminated pursuant to a DPWH default or due to a
voluntary termination by the DPWH.
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§ Connector Project.  Under the concession agreement, NLEX Corp shall pay periodic payments to
DPWH representing the consideration for granting the concession and basic right of way in the
Connector Road Project.  Total payments to be made to DPWH amount to P=8.5 billion payable at
P=243.2 million per annum.  The payment shall commence on the first anniversary of the construction
completion deadline, as extended, until the expiry of the concession period and shall be subject to an
agreed escalation every two years based on the prevailing consumer price index (CPI) for the
two-year period immediately preceding the adjustment or escalation.

Water.  Concession fees relating to Maynilad’s service concession agreement are denominated in
various currencies and are non-interest bearing.  These are payable monthly following an
amortization table up to the end of the concession period.

Rail.  Under LRMC’s concession agreement for the LRT-1 Project, LRMC is required to pay the bid
premium of P=9.35 billion (inclusive of VAT) as concession fee, 20% or P=1.87 billion of which was
settled as at Effective Date in accordance with the LRT-1 Concession Agreement.  The balance of the
concession fee (nominal amount of P=7.5 billion, inclusive of VAT) is payable in equal quarterly
installments over the concession period with the first payment on the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date.  Settlement of the concession fee is through the quarterly balancing payment
mechanism reflecting netting of payments due to Grantors against receivable from Grantors.

The schedule of undiscounted estimated future concession fee payments, based on the term of the
concession agreements are disclosed in Note 32, Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
– Liquidity Risk.

18. Long-term Debt

This account consists of:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Current portions P=11,619 P=15,573
Noncurrent portions 203,474 173,510

P=215,093 P=189,083

Details of the long-term debt per company/segment are as follows:

December 31, 2018
Long-term

Loans Bonds Total
(In Millions)

MPIC P=67,360 P=– P=67,360
Power 53,602 – 53,602
Toll Operations 36,713 12,957 49,670
Water 35,233 – 35,233
Rail 8,073 – 8,073
Healthcare 990 – 990
Logistics 1,366 – 1,366

203,337 12,957 216,294
Less unamortized debt issue cost 1,097 104 1,201

P=202,240 P=12,853 P=215,093
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December 31, 2017
Long-term

Loans Bonds Total
(In Millions)

MPIC P=46,993 P=– P=46,993
Power 66,705 – 66,705
Toll Operations 35,776 6,957 42,733
Water 27,241 – 27,241
Rail 4,651 – 4,651
Healthcare 542 – 542
Logistics 760 – 760

182,668 6,957 189,625
Less unamortized debt issue cost 498 44 542

P=182,170 P=6,913 P=189,083

The table below presents the movements in unamortized debt issue costs:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Balance at beginning of year P=542 P=442
Debt issue costs incurred during the year 789 216
Amortization during the year charged to interest expense

(see Notes 24 and 36) (82) (66)
Amortization during the year capitalized to service

concession assets (see Note 12) (24) (15)
Derecognized (24) (35)
Balance at end of year P=1,201 P=542

The schedule of repayments of loans based on existing terms are provided in Note 32, Financial Risk
Management Objectives and Policies – Liquidity Risk.

Interest rates and maturity of the borrowings per company/segment as follows:

Interest rate per annum Maturity
2018 2017 2018 2017

Loans:
MPIC 4.9% to 9.2% 4.9% to 7.5% 2023 to 2033 2023 to 2027
Power 5.2% to 10.9% 4.8% to 10.7% 2021 to 2029 2021 to 2029
Toll Operations 3.3% to 12.5% 3.3% to 7.7% 2019 to 2033 2018 to 2028
Water 4.8% to 6.8% 3.5% to 6.0% 2024 to 2037 2023 to 2037
Rail 7.1% to 7.5% 7.1% to 7.5% 2031 2031
Healthcare 3.0% to 8.0% 3.0% to 4.3% 2019 to 2025 2018 to 2024
Logistics 5.4% to 7.3% 5.4% to 5.9% 2019 to 2023 2022

Long-term bonds:
Toll Operations 5.1% to 6.9% 5.1% to 5.5% 2021 to 2028 2021 to 2024
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An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings into fixed and variable interest rates per
company/segment as follows:

Fixed Variable Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

MPIC P=67,001 P=46,821 P=– P=– P=67,001 P=46,821
Power 53,582 66,740 – – 53,582 66,740
Toll Operations 43,511 40,230 5,815 2,312 49,326 42,542
Water 28,760 22,613 6,138 4,534 34,898 27,147
Rail 7,930 4,566 – – 7,930 4,566
Healthcare 990 507 – – 990 507
Logistics 1,066 760 300 – 1,366 760

P=202,840 P=182,237 P=12,253 P=6,846 P=215,093 P=189,083

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

December 31, 2018
Philippine

Peso
Indonesian

Rupiah
U.S.

Dollars
Thai
Baht

Japanese
Yen Total

MPIC P=67,001 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=67,001
Power 53,582 – – – – 53,582
Toll Operations 43,224 4,133 – 1,969 – 49,326
Water 25,007 – 6,138 – 3,753 34,898
Rail 7,930 – – – – 7,930
Healthcare 990 – – – – 990
Logistics 1,366 – – – – 1,366

P=199,100 P=4,133 P=6,138 P=1,969 P=3,753 P=215,093

December 31, 2017
Philippine Peso U.S. Dollars Thai Baht Total

MPIC P=46,821 P=– P=– P=46,821
Power 66,740 – – 66,740
Toll Operations 40,225 – 2,317 42,542
Water 22,613 4,534 – 27,147
Rail 4,566 – – 4,566
Healthcare 507 – – 507
Logistics 760 – – 760

P=182,232 P=4,534 P=2,317 P=189,083

Other relevant information on the Company’s long-term borrowings are provided below:

§ Certain loan facilitities were identified to have embedded derivatives such as prepayment options
and interest rate floors. These embedded derivatives, however, are not required to be bifurcated
from the host loan since: (1) the exercise price of the prepayment option approximates the
carrying amount of the loan at each exercise date; and (2) interest rate floor is out of the money,
hence, identified embedded derivatives are clearly and closely related to the host loan.  Certain
loans bear a fixed rate for the first five years but is subject to an interest rate repricing after five
(5) years (see Note 32, Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies – Interest Rate Risk).

§ The credit agreements provide for certain restrictions with respect to, among others, obtaining
prior written consent from lenders prior to cash dividend payment, availing other loans or
advances to any of the Company’s affiliates, subsidiaries, stockholders, directors and officers
except in compliance with formally established and existing fringe benefit program of the
Company.  These restrictions were complied with by the Company.
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§ The loan agreements contain among others, covenants regarding the maintenance of certain
financial ratios such as debt-to-equity ratio, debt service coverage ratio and maintenance of debt
service reserve account (see Note 32, Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies –
Capital Management).  As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, MPIC and its subsidiaries are in
compliance with their respective debt covenants.

§ Certain bank borrowings were secured by the Company’s property, plant and equipment
(see Note 13) and the Company’s interests in MERALCO (held through Beacon Electric), GBPC
(56%, held through BPHI), AIF (100%), DMT (25.9%, held through AIF) and LRMC (55%, held
through MPLRC).  CIC provided collateral security in connection with its local borrowing (with
outstanding amount of P=5.7 billion as at December 31, 2018), which included a mortgage on
certain debt instruments, equity investments of CIC, voting shares in the structured entity owned
by the third party stockholders amounting to P=0.2 million and assignment of revenue and debt
service account.

§ The outstanding loans of Beacon Electric are secured by a pledge on MERALCO shares owned
by Beacon Electric and shall, from the date of the pledge over the MERALCO shares, maintain
the loan to value ratio at 50%, subject to call/top up (in case the Loan to Value Ratio of the
Pledge Shares is in excess of 60%) or a withdrawal (in case the Loan to Value Ratio of the Pledge
Shares is below 40%).  MERALCO’s share price would have to decline by 92.01% from its price
as at December 31, 2018 before Beacon Electric would be required to top-up collateral with cash
or pay-down debt.

§ In 2016, LRMC signed a 15-year Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement (OLSA) with various
financial institutions (collectively, as “Lenders”) amounting to P=24.0 billion, P=15.3 billion of
which is allocated for the Cavite Extension and P=8.7 billion for the rehabilitation of the existing
LRT 1 system.  Cumulative drawn amount from this facility as at December 31, 2018 and 2017
amounted to P=8,073 million and P=4,651 million, respectively.  The loan has a sponsors’ funding
commitment wherein for each drawdown until end of the construction period, the
sponsors/shareholders shall infuse additional equity or extend debt to LRMC in an amount
necessary to meet the debt-to-equity ratio.  Additional equity investment of the sponsors shall not
exceed P=15,346 million, of which P=8,440 million is effectively allocated to MPLRC.

§ The loans of certain subsidiaries of GBPC (CEDC, PEDC and TPC) are under project finance and
are secured by the projects’ assets and cash flows.  All revenues derived from the power plants go
into the Proceeds Account and are pushed down to (i) Operating and Tax Reserve accounts based
on agreed budgets, (ii) Debt Service Reserve Account and (iii) Debt Service Payment Account.
The remaining cash flows, after satisfying the required reserve accounts, go into the Balance
Account, from which the subsidiaries can draw funds for distribution to shareholders.  As at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the subsidiaries are in compliance with the covenants of the loan
agreements.

§ All dividends in respect of the investment in DMT shall be applied to pay the Thai
Baht-denominated loan.

§ In 2018, certain loans were prepaid (with combined outstanding balance of P=35,746 million prior
to repayment).  Prepayment penalties and other related costs (including derecognition of
unamortized debt issue costs and PFRS 3 fair value increment) resulting in a net gain of
P=19 million were recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended December 31, 2018 (see Note 24).
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§ In 2017, the Toll Operations segment prepaid the U.S. Dollar-denominated loan and the Thai
Baht-denominated loan (with combined outstanding balance of P=2,820 million as at
December 31, 2017).  Unamortized debt issue costs of P=57 million and prepayment penalties and
other related costs of P=185 million were recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2017 (see Note 24).

The Company has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities as at December 31, 2018:

Expiring
within 2019

Expiring
Beyond 2019 Total

(In Millions)
MPIC P=25,000 P=– P=25,000
Toll Operations 660 29,700 30,360
Water 1,104 6,177 7,281
Rail – 15,927 15,927
Healthcare 5,882 – 5,882
Logistics 530 520 1,050

P=33,176 P=52,324 P=85,500

19. Related Party Transactions

Transactions with related parties are disclosed below.  See tabular presentation for the recorded
transactions with these related parties.

Transactions with TMC. As disclosed in Note 4, TMC is responsible for the operation &
maintenance (O&M) of the NLEX, Segment 7 and SCTEX.  Beginning April 2017, TMC became a
subsidiary of MPIC and all intercompany relationships between NLEX Corp and TMC were
effectively settled in the process of consolidation.  Disclosures provided in relation to PAS 24,
Related Party Disclosures, apply to periods prior to TMC’s consolidation (see Note 30).

Transaction with Landco.  Refer to Note 10.

Transactions with PLDT, SMART and Digitel. The Company’s primary telecommunications carriers
are PLDT (an associate of FPC) for its wireline and SMART (PLDT’s subsidiary) for its wireless
services.  The Company also has transactions with Digitel Mobile Philippines, Inc., (Digitel, a
subsidiary of PLDT).  Such services are covered by standard service contracts between the
telecommunications carriers and each entity within the Company.  Other than these service contracts,
the Company also has the following transactions with these telecommunication carriers:

§ Utilities Facilities Contract between NLEX Corp and PLDT for the Fiber Optic Overlay along
Phase I of the NLEX.  PLDT pays an annual fee presented as “Others” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.  Pursuant to the agreement, PLDT shall pay NLEX Corp
fixed annual fee which shall then be escalated annually by a percentage indicated in the
agreement.  The contract shall be effective for a period of 20 years from April 15, 2010 and may
be renewed or extended upon mutual agreement by NLEX Corp and PLDT.  On
September 19. 2016, the contract was renewed for a period of 5 years up to April 26, 2020.

§ Utilities Facilities Contract between NLEX Corp and SMART whereby NLEX Corp provides
SMART an access for the construction, operation and maintenance of a cellsite inside the NLEX
right of way for a fixed annual fee which shall then be escalated annually starting on the fourth
year of the contract and every year thereafter.  The contract is effective for a period of five (5)
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years from April 26, 2010.  In September 2016, the contract was renewed with effective date of
April 27, 2015 for a period of five (5) years which may be renewed or extended upon mutual
agreement by NLEX Corp and SMART.

§ Agreement for the naming rights of the SMART Connect Interchange, whereby NLEX Corp
grants SMART the exclusive rights to name the NLEX–Mindanao Avenue Cloverleaf as a
SMART Connect Interchange and put up outdoor advertising structures near the interchange.
The annual package is based on a predetermined timetable of when the official road signs are
progressively built.  The base price is from P=175 million to P=228 million and may increase
depending on the final features and characteristics of the cloverleaf.  This agreement shall take
effect from April 1, 2012 until April 30, 2017, unless pre-terminated or renewed by mutual
written agreement of the parties.  The agreement was terminated on April 30, 2017.

§ Advertising arrangements of NLEX Corp with SMART related to various advertising mediums
which include rental, material production, installation and maintenance at several locations along
NLEX.

§ NLEX Corp has investment in corporate notes of PLDT with fair values of P=192 million and
P=204 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Transactions with D.M. Consunji, Inc. (Consunji). Maynilad, entered into certain construction
contracts with Consunji, a subsidiary of DMCI Holdings, Inc. (a non-controlling shareholder in
MWHC), in relation to the provision of engineering, procurement and construction services to
Maynilad.

Consunji also entered into a Construction Contract with MPCALA pursuant to which Consunji has
agreed to construct and complete the civil works for the Laguna Segment of the CALAEX.  The
contract price for the project is P=7.2 billion inclusive of taxes, subject to adjustments as provided for
in the contract.  The contract price was determined after negotiations between MPCALA and
Consunji and was based on normal commercial terms.

Advances to DMCI in relation to the toll projects amounted to P=853 million included under the
account “Advances to Contractors” in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018.

Transactions with MERALCO.  MERALCO sells electricity to the Company for the Company’s
facilities within MERALCO’s franchise area.  The rates charged by MERALCO are the same
mandated rates by the ERC applicable to customers within the franchise area.  Aside from this
transaction, listed below are the Company’s transactions with MERALCO and its subsidiaries:

§ Colinas Healthcare, Inc. (CHI) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CVHMC) operates and manages
the MERALCO Corporate Wellness Center (Wellness Center), an outpatient diagnostic and
consultation center for its employees and their dependents.  Income, comprising of management
and retainer’s fee, pharmacy handling and manpower and administrative reimbursement plus
margin, that was recognized for this arrangement in 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to
P=50 million, P=48 million and P=46 million, respectively, and is included as part of “Hospital
revenue” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

§ As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, NLEX Corp has advances to MERALCO amounting to
P=18 million and P=15 million, respectively, and is included as part of “Advances to contractors and
consultants” presented under “Other current assets” in the consolidated statements of financial
position.  The advances relate to electric line applications for Segment 9 of the NLEX, and the
Balintawak and Valenzuela drainage system.  These advances are either refundable or
consumable upon activation of the electric lines.
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§ NLEX Corp has investment in corporate notes of MERALCO with fair values of P=193 million
and P=199 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

§ As at December 31, 2017, Maynilad has outstanding receivable from Meralco Industrial
Engineering Services Corporation (MIESCOR, a subsidiary of MERALCO) amounting to
P=16 million and has outstanding payable amounting to P=3 million as at December 31, 2018
relating to construction costs on pipelaying.

§ In 2016, GBPC’s subsidiaries PPC and TPC entered into Interim Power Supply Agreements
(IPSAs) with MERALCO for the intermediate and peak power requirements of MERALCO with
the combined maximum capacity of 73MW covering the period February 2016 up to
February 2017.  Both IPSAs were extended up to February 2018.  Also in 2016, GBPC’s
subsidiary PEDC entered into a 20-year Power Supply Agreement (PSA) with MERALCO with a
Contract Capacity of 70MW.  The PSA was implemented in January 2017 at a rate based on the
provisional authority granted by the ERC in ERC Case No. 2016-114 RC.

In 2018, GBPC’s subsidiary PEDC entered into a 3-month IPSA with MERALCO through its
retail electricity supply business segment, MPower, for the purchase of up to 50MW covering the
period April to June 2018.

§ GBPC’s subsidiary Global Luzon Energy Development Corporation entered into a 20-year PSA
with MERALCO in 2016 for the purchase of up to 600MW of electrical output.  The approval of
PSA is pending with the ERC.

§ In 2017, LRMC entered into a memorandum of agreement with MERALCO to pay in advance all
costs and expenses to be incurred for the relocation of its electrical sub-transmission and
distribution facilities affected by the construction works of the LRT-1 Cavite Extension.  The
advance payment shall be returned to LRMC by MERALCO upon payment of the applicable
relocation charges by LRTA to MERALCO, as stated in the LRTA-MERALCO memorandum of
agreement.  As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, receivable from MERALCO amounted to
P=45 million and P=10 million, respectively.

Transactions with ATEC. Refer to Note 10.

Transactions with Beacon Electric.  As disclosed in Note 4, beginning June 2017, Beacon Electric
became a subsidiary of MPIC and all intercompany relationships between Beacon Electric and the
Company were effectively eliminated in the process of consolidation.  Disclosures provided below in
relation to PAS 24 apply to periods prior to Beacon Electric’s consolidation.  Dividend income from
Beacon Electric preferred shares as reflected in the table and in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income were earned and recognized prior to the step acquisition.

Transactions with PCEV.  Due to PCEV represents the present value of the outstanding amount for
the purchase price of Beacon Electric shares acquired in May 2016 and June 2017:

§ On May 30, 2016, MPIC acquired from PCEV 645,756,250 common shares and 458,370,086
preferred shares of Beacon Electric for the total consideration of P=26.2 billion.  Of the total
consideration of P=26.2 billion, P=17.0 billion was settled immediately while the remaining payable
to PCEV shall be paid as follows:  (a) P=2.0 billion in June 2017, (b) P=2.0 billion in June 2018,
(c) P=2.0 billion in June 2019, and (d) P=3.2 billion in June 2020.  The outstanding balance as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to P=5.2 billion and P=7.2 billion (at nominal amounts),
respectively.  PCEV shall retain the voting rights over these shares until full payment of the total
consideration.
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§ On June 13, 2017, MPIC entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with PCEV for the purchase
of PCEV’s 25% remaining interest in Beacon Electric (see Note 4) for a total purchase price of
P=21.8 billion, P=12.0 billion was settled immediately while the remaining payable to PCEV shall
be shall be settled equally over the next four years beginning June 30, 2018. The outstanding
balance as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounting to P=7.4 billion and P=9.8 billion (at nominal
amounts).  PCEV shall retain the voting rights over these shares until full payment of the total
consideration.

§ In 2018, PCEV entered into a Receivables Purchase Agreement (RPA), with various financial
institutions (the Purchasers), to sell a portion of its receivables from the Company due in 2019 to
2021 amounting to P=7.8 billion. Under the terms of the RPA, the Purchasers will have exclusive
ownership of the purchased receivables and all of its rights, title, and interest.

Transactions with ESC.  As disclosed in Note 4, ESC is the exclusive tag issuer at the NLEX.
Beginning October 2017, ESC became a subsidiary of MPIC and all intercompany relationships
between NLEX Corp and ESC were effectively eliminated in the process of consolidation.
Disclosures provided below in relation to PAS 24 apply to periods prior to ESC’s consolidation.

Transactions with Indra Phils.  Indra Phils renders services to NLEX Corp and Maynilad for the
implementation of information systems and the conduct of business process analysis and other
IT–related services.

Transactions with AFPI.  As discussed in Note 10, AFPI was granted the rights and obligations to
design, finance, construct, operate and maintain the AFCS Project for LRT-1, LRT 2, and MRT 3.
LRMC as the concessionaire for the LRT-1 Project uses the AFCS at no consideration.  The balance
payable to AFPI represents amount payable by LRMC for the purchase of stored value cards and
settlement arising from the the rail revenue operations.

Other transactions with related parties. Metro Pacific Investments Foundation, Inc. (MPIFI),
Ideaspace Foundation, Inc. (Ideaspace; Philippines’ largest privately–funded idea incubator supported
by FPC), Lucena Land Corporation (LLC; a subsidiary of Landco), FPC and others mainly relate to
advances to finance various projects as well as intercompany charges for share in certain operating
and administrative expenses.

Revenue from water and sewer services.  In the ordinary course of business, Maynilad provides water
services to its affiliates located within the West Zone of the Metropolitan Manila area at the same
approved rates applicable to customers within the concession area.
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The following table provides the total amount of transactions with related parties, other than advances, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(amounts in millions):

Name Revenues
Management

 Fees*

Income
from

 Utility Facilities*

Income
 from

Advertising*

Dividend Income
from Preferred

shares
(see Note 10)

Construction
Cost

Operator’s
Fee

(see Note 21)

Contracted
 services

(see Note 21)

Utilities
(see Notes 21

and 22)

Rentals
(see Notes 21

and 22)
Associates and Joint Venture (see Note 10):

TMC 2018 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=–
2017 – 14 – – – – (568) – – –
2016 – 56 – – – – (2,001) – – –

Beacon Electric 2018 – – – – – – – – – –
2017 – – – – 2,541 – – – – –
2016 – – – – 1,215 – – – – –

MERALCO (including MIESCOR) 2018 2,323 – – – – – – – (1,642) –
2017 1,338 – – – – – – – (1,667) –
2016 46 – – – – – – (37) (1,037) –

ESC 2018 – – – – – – – – – –
2017 – – – – – – – (54) – –
2016 – – – 1 – – – (78) – –

Indra 2018 – – – – – – – (318) – –
2017 – – – – – – – (258) – –
2016 – – – – – – – (248) – –

Other related parties:
SMART 2018 – – – 2 – – – – (53) –

2017 – – – 18 – – – – (55) –
2016 – – – 43 – – – – (41) –

PLDT 2018 – – 2 1 – – – – (79) (18)
2017 – – 2 1 – – – – (57) (17)
2016 – – 7 1 – – – – (34) (14)

Digitel 2018 – – – – – – – – – –
2017 – – – – – – – – – –
2016 – – – – – – – – – –

Consunji 2018 – – – – – (1,157) – – – –
2017 – – – – – (2,519) – – – –
2016 – – – – – (2,873) – – – –

Total 2018 P=2,323 P=– P=2 P=3 P=– (P=1,157) P=– (P=318) (P=1,774) (P=18)
2017 1,338 14 2 19 2,541 (2,519) (568) (312) (1,779) (17)
2016 46 56 7 45 1,215 (2,873) (2,001) (363) (1,112) (14)

*Included as “Others” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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Outstanding balances of transactions with related parties are carried in the consolidated statements of
financial position under the following accounts provided below (amounts in millions).  Trade
receivable, accounts payable and due to/from related parties are due and demandable, non-interest
bearing, unsecured and requires cash settlement.  Except for receivables from Landco, all receivables
from related parties are not impaired.

Trade Receivables
(see Note 8) Due from related Parties*

Accounts Payable and Other
Current Liabilities

 (see Note 15) Due to related Parties
Company 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Associates and Joint Venture

TMC P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=–
AFPI – – – – 3 2 – –
MERALCO (including
MIESOR) 466 543 – – 89 128 – –
Beacon Electric – – – – – – – –
ESC – – – – – – – –
Indra Phils. 6 6 – – 9 29 – –

Other related parties:
PCEV – – – – – – 11,767 15,553
Consunji – – – – 381 205 – –
FPC – – 1 2 – – – –
LLC – – 7 7 – – – –
MPIF – – – 1 – – – –
PLDT 1 – – – 38 15 – –
Smart 2 36 – – 8 3 72 78
Landco – – 44 44 – – 15 15
Others – – 3 2 – – – –

475 585 55 56 528 382 11,854 15,646
Less allowance for impairment – – 31 31 – – – –
Total 475 585 24 25 528 382 11,854 15,646
Less current portion 475 585 24 25 528 382 4,462 3,879

P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=7,392 P=11,767
*Included under “Other current assets” in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Directors’ Remuneration
Annual remuneration of the directors amounted to P=6 million, P=5 million and P=3 million in 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively.  Directors were also allocated common shares under the Company’s
ESOP and RSUP (see Note 28).

Non-executive directors are entitled to a per diem allowance of P=100,000 for 2018 and 2017
(2016: P=50,000) for each attendance in the Parent Company’s BOD meetings and P=50,000 for 2018
and 2017 (2016: P=30,000) for each attendance in the Company’s Committee meetings.  The Parent
Company’s By-Laws provide that an amount equivalent to 1.0% of net profit after tax of the Parent
Company shall be allocated and distributed among the directors of the Parent Company who are not
officers of the Parent Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates, in such manner as the BOD may
deem proper.  No accruals were made with respect to this scheme for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 in the absence of resolution from the BOD.  There are no other
special arrangements pursuant to which any director will be compensated.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Compensation of key management personnel of the Company is as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Short-term employee benefits P=1,691 P=1,546 P=1,145
Share-based payment (see Note 28) 90 67 67
Post employment benefits - Retirement costs 108 101 46
Other long-term benefits - LTIP expense

(see Note 23) 710 629 533
P=2,599 P=2,343 P=1,791
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20. Equity

Details of authorized and issued capital stock are in the following tables:

2018 2017
No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount

(In Millions except for number of shares)

Authorized common shares - P=1.00 par value 38,500,000,000 P=38,500 38,500,000,000 P=38,500
Authorized preferred shares:
 Class A - P=0.01 par value 20,000,000,000 200 20,000,000,000 200
 Class B - P=1.00 par value 1,350,000,000 1,350 1,350,000,000 1,350
Balance at December 31 59,850,000,000 P=40,050 59,850,000,000 P=40,050

Issued and Outstanding - common shares:
 Balance at beginning of year 31,534,548,752 P=31,535 31,527,848,752 P=31,528
 Exercise of stock option plan (see Note 28) 7,000,000 7 6,700,000 7
 Issued - common shares 31,541,548,752 31,542 31,534,548,752 31,535
 Less:  Treasury Shares (26,100,000) (26) (23,970,000) (24)
Balance at end of year 31,515,448,752 P=31,516 31,510,578,752 P=31,511

Treasury shares - common shares:
 Balance at beginning of year 23,970,000 P=167 23,970,000 P=167
 Share buy-back (see Note 28) 2,130,000 11 ī ī
Balance at end of year 26,100,000 P=178 23,970,000 P=167

Issued - preferred shares - Class A:
 Balance at beginning and end of year 9,128,105,319 P=91 9,128,105,319 P=91

Total number of stockholders 1,303 ī 1,300 ī

Common Shares
The increase in common shares for the years ended 2018, 2017 and 2016 resulted from the following
transactions:

§ At various dates in 2018, 2017 and 2016, a total of 7.0 million, 6.7 million and 42.5 million
common shares, respectively, were issued in connection with the Parent Company stock option
plan (see Note 28).

§ Pursuant to the approval of the BOD in its meeting held on May 27, 2016, MPIC entered into a
Share Subscription Agreement with GT Capital Holdings, Inc. (GTCHI) on May 27, 2016,
wherein MPIC agreed to issue in favour of GTCHI, and GTCHI agreed to subscribe to 3.6 billion
new common shares of MPIC (the “Subscription Shares”) from the increase in authorized capital
stock of MPIC, which application for increase was approved by the Philippine SEC on
August 5, 2016.

The Subscription Shares was issued at a subscription price of  P=6.10 per share or a total of
P=21.96 billion.  On the same date, GTCHI also acquired a further 1.3 billion common shares of
MPIC from MPHI.  Following this transaction, GTCHI and MPHI approximately owned 15.55%
and 41.97% of MPIC’s issued common shares, respectively.

Class A Preferred Shares
Holders of Class A Preferred Shares are entitled to vote and shall receive preferential cash dividends
at the rate of 10.0% per annum based on share’s par value, upon declaration made at the sole option
of the BOD.  Dividends on these preferred shares, which shall be paid out of the Parent Company’s
unrestricted retained earnings, are cumulative whether or not in any period the amount is covered by
available unrestricted retained earnings.  No dividends or other distributions shall be paid or declared
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and set apart for payment in respect of the common shares, unless the full accumulated dividends on
all Class A Preferred Shares shall have been paid or declared.  Holders of Class A Preferred Shares
do not have right to participate in any additional dividends declared for common shareholders.  MPHI
holds all of the Parent Company’s Class A Preferred Shares.

On May 27, 2016, MPIC also entered into a Share Subscription Agreement with MPHI for the
subscription by MPHI of 4.1 billion newly issued Class A Preferred Shares at par value for a total
consideration of P=41.3 million.

Following the GTCHI’s subscription and acquisition of common shares and MPHI’s subsctription of
Class A Preferred Shares, MPHI’s combined voting interest as a result of all of its shareholdings is
estimated at 55.0%.

There are no undeclared dividends as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Class B Preferred Shares
The Parent Company may issue one or more series of Class B Preferred Shares, as the BOD may
determine.  The BOD shall also determine (a) cash dividend rate of such preferred share, which in no
case to exceed 10.0% per annum; and (b) period and manner of conversion to common shares or
redemption.  Dividends on these preferred shares, which shall be paid out of the Parent Company’s
unrestricted retained earnings, are cumulative whether or not in any period the amount is covered by
available unrestricted retained earnings.  No dividends shall be paid or declared and set apart for
payment in respect of the common shares or Class A Preferred Shares, unless the full accumulated
dividends on all Class B Preferred Shares shall have been paid or declared.  Holders of Class B
Preferred Shares do not have right to participate in any additional dividends declared for common
shareholders.

There were no Class B Preferred Shares issued in 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Treasury Shares
On September 1, 2016, MPIC acquired 23,970,000 MPIC common shares, at P=6.9822 per share from
the open market.  On December 6, 2018, MPIC acquired 2,130,000 MPIC shares from the open
market at P=4.8075 per share and held as treasury shares.

The treasury shares were acquired pursuant to the share buy-back that shall partially cover the up to
approximately 26.7 million shares (originally 27.4 million shares) to be granted to the directors and
key officers of the Company under the Company’s LTIP program, which includes the RSUP
(see Note 28).

The RSUP and the implementation thereof which included the share buy-back, were approved by
MPIC’s Compensation Committee on July 14, 2016, pursuant to the authority granted to it by the
MPIC’s BOD on March 1, 2016.

Record of Registration of Securities with the SEC
In accordance with SRC Rule 68, as Amended (2011), Annex 68–D, below is a summary of the
Company’s track record of registration of securities:

Issue Offer price Date of SEC approval
Number of registered shares
securities

Number of holders of securities as at
December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Tender offer to shareholders of Metro

Pacific Corporation (MPC)
covering common shares and
subscription warrants relating to
common shares of MPIC with
par value of P=1.0 per share

Four (4) MPC shares for one
(1) MPIC share plus
three (3) warrants

October 25, 2006 Common shares of 56,878,766* 1,303 1,300 1,313

Subscription warrants of
170,636,298

– – –

*Covered the 2006 registered shares only
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The shares relating to the transaction above were exchanged in the PSE on December 15, 2006,
effectively listing MPIC via listing by way of Introduction.  Out of the total warrants available for
conversion, 143,976,756 warrants were converted as at December 31, 2007 and 2,549,211 warrants
expired on December 15, 2007.

Retained Earnings and Cash Dividends
Of the Company’s consolidated retained earnings, P=19,559 million and P=20,003 million is available
for dividend declaration as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  These amounts represent
the Parent Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration calculated based on the
regulatory requirements of the Philippine SEC.  The difference between the consolidated retained
earnings and the Parent Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration primarily
consist of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and equity method investees.  Stand-alone earnings
of the subsidiaries and share in net earnings of equity method investees are not available for dividend
declaration by the Parent Company until declared by the subsidiaries and equity investees as
dividends.

Dividends declared and paid are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Declared and paid:
Final dividend in respect of the previous financial

year declared and paid during the following year:
 Common shareholders (P=0.076, P=0.068, and

P=0.061 per share as final dividends for the
calendar years 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) P=2,395.0 P=2,142.3 P=1,701.6

Class A preferred shareholders 4.6 4.6 2.5
Dividend declared and paid during the year:
 Common shareholders (P=0.0345, P=0.0345,

P=0.032 per share in 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively) 1,087.2 1,087.1 1,008.8

Class A preferred shareholders 4.6 4.6 2.9
P=3,491.4 P=3,238.6 P=2,715.8

Final dividend*:
Common shareholders (P=0.076, P=0.076, and

P=0.068 per share as final dividends for the
calendar years in 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) P=2,395.1 P=2,395.0 P=2,142.3

Class A preferred shareholders 4.6 4.6 4.6
P=2,399.7 P=2,399.6 P=2,146.9

* The final dividends on both common and Class A preferred shares were declared after end of reporting date and as such, are not
recognized as liability at year–end.

On March 5, 2019, the BOD approved the declaration of the cash dividends of P=0.076 per common
share in favor of the Parent Company’s shareholders of record as of the record date at March 20, 2019
with payment date of April 3, 2019.  On the same date, the BOD also approved the declaration of
cash dividends amounting to a total of P=4.6 million in favor of MPHI as the sole holder of Class A
Preferred shares.
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OCI Reserve
OCI reserve consists of the following, net of applicable income taxes:

2018 2017 2016
Share in the OCI of equity method investees P=2,650 P=2,100 P=2,021
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVOCI

(see Note 37) 65 – –
Fair value changes on AFS financial assets (see Note 37) – 19 (4)
Actuarial gain (losses) (24) (174) 1
Cumulative translation adjustment (830) (261) (47)

P=1,861 P=1,684 P=1,971

Refer to Note 25 for the movements and analysis of the OCI.

21. Cost of Sales and Services

This account consists of:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Fuel costs (a) P=10,858 P=5,033 P=–
Personnel costs and employee benefits (see Note 23) (b) 5,175 4,597 2,854
Cost of inventories (c) 4,828 3,921 3,251
Amortization of service concession assets (see Note 12) 4,514 3,909 3,679
Depreciation and amortization (see Notes 11 and 13) 4,335 2,369 506
Purchased power and transmission charges (a) 2,773 940 –
Contracted services and professional fees 2,362 1,973 1,500
Repairs and maintenance 1,868 1,132 777
PNCC and BCDA fees (see Note 30) 1,861 1,503 1,319
Utilities (see Note 19) 1,848 1,800 1,416
Rentals (see Note 30) (e) 484 296 167
Insurance 329 174 144
Provision for heavy maintenance (see Note 16) 236 251 141
Operator’s fees (d) 56 585 2,161
Trucking costs 56 128 37
Others 1,131 763 418

P=42,714 P=29,374 P=18,370

a. The Company started consolidating GBPC beginning June 27, 2017 (see Note 4).  Fuel costs
relates to consumption of coal and other fuel related costs for the generation of electricity.
Purchased power represents cost of replacement power from WESM.  Transmission charges
pertains to distribution and wheeling service billings related to resale of electricity to the
contestable customers.

b. In line with its strategic goal to improve operational efficiency, Maynilad in 2017 offered a
Special Opportunity Program (SOP), a redundancy and right-sizing program.  This program
offered a separation package based on the number of years, or fractions thereof, on a pro-rated
basis, of service with Maynilad plus monetary equivalent of some benefits.  Total severance paid
out of the company funds for the separated employees amounted to P=277 million in 2017.

c. Includes cost of medical services, materials and supplies.
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d. The Company started consolidating TMC beginning April 4, 2017.  Hence, the intercompany
transactions under the O&M Agreement between NLEX Corp and TMC are effectively
eliminated in the process of consolidation (see Note 4).  The remaining operator’s fee is for the
O&M contract of CIC with PEA Tollways Corporation (see Note 30).

e. Includes rental expense for various warehouse lease agreements entered into by MMI and PLI
totaling P=242 million in 2018, P=186 million in 2017, and P=100 million in 2016.

22. General and Administrative Expenses

This account consists of:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Personnel costs and employee benefits (see Note 23) P=5,190 P=4,792 P=3,349
Taxes and licenses 1,500 1,020 451
Outside services (see Note 19) 1,294 1,071 777
Depreciation and amortization (see Notes 11 and 13) 1,270 1,010 828
Professional fees 1,009 757 689
Provision for doubtful accounts (see Note 8) 734 146 83
Repairs and maintenance 466 333 293
Advertising and promotion 423 379 307
Utilities (see Note 19) 380 249 215
Rentals (see Note 30) 334 308 196
Entertainment, amusement and representation 261 171 157
Transportation and travel 245 271 153
Administrative supplies 223 182 137
Provision for corporate initiatives and others 190 281 257
Insurance 157 150 157
Collection charges 147 145 136
Miscellaneous* 1,149 861 877

P=14,972 P=12,126 P=9,062
*Includes public relations, commissions and other various general and administrative expenses which are
individually insignificant.

23. Personnel Costs and Employee Benefits

This account consists of:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Salaries and wages P=7,663 P=6,506 P=4,405
LTIP expense 710 629 533
Retirement costs 485 298 233
Provision for ESOP and RSUP

(see Note 28) 90 67 67
Severance cost (see Note 21) 14 277 7
Other employee benefits 1,403 1,612 958

P=10,365 P=9,389 P=6,203



- 72 -

*SGVFS032824*

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Cost of sales and services (see Note 21) P=5,175 P=4,597 P=2,854
General and administrative expenses

(see Note 22) 5,190 4,792 3,349
P=10,365 P=9,389 P=6,203

LTIP
Certain of the Company’s employees are eligible for long–term employee benefits under a
long-term incentive plan.  The liability recognized on the LTIP comprises the present value of the
defined benefit obligation and was determined using the projected unit credit method.  Each LTIP
performance cycle generally covers three (3) years with payment intended to be made at the end of
each cycle (without interim payments) and is contingent upon the achievement of an approved target
core income of the Company by the end of the performance cycle.  Each LTIP performance cycle is
approved by the respective BODs of the entities within the Company.

As at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the LTIP payable is as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Balance at beginning of year P=1,405 P=703 P=1,184
Current service cost 685 606 532
Interest 42 17 2
Actuarial loss (gain) (8) 6 (2)
Step-up acquisition (see Note 4) – 73 –
Payment (409) – (1,013)
Balance at end of year P=1,715 P=1,405 P=703

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Current (see Note 15) P=1,430 P=459 P=–
Noncurrent 285 946 703

P=1,715 P=1,405 P=703

LTIP of MPIC, MPHHI and Maynilad covers cycle 2016 to 2018 with pay-out in 2019.  LTIP of
MPTC covers cycle 2015 to 2017 with pay-out in 2018.

To fund the LTIP programs for each cycle, MPIC enters into Investment Management Agreement
(IMA) with a Trustee Bank.  The LTIP fund will continue to accumulate until the LTIP target payout.
The investment portfolio of IMA is limited to the following: securities issued, directly or indirectly,
or guaranteed by the government; and time deposit and money market placements issued by any of
the top ten (10) banks in the Philippines.

Pension

Regulatory Environment.  The Company operates both defined contribution and defined benefit
schemes.  In addition, the Company has made provisions for estimated liabilities for employee
benefits for meeting the minimum benefits required to be paid to the qualified employees as required
under the Republic Act (RA) No. 7641, The Philippine Retirement Law, for the entities operating in
the Philippines; and the Indonesian Labor Law for PT Nusantara and its subsidiaries.
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Under RA 7641, companies are required to pay a minimum benefit of equivalent to one-half month’s
salary for every year of service, with six (6) months or more of service considered as one (1) year, to
employee with at least five (5) years of services.  For the entities of the Company operating in the
Philippines, they provide for either a defined contribution retirement plan or a defined benefit plan
that consider the minimum benefit guarantee mandated under RA 7641.

Under the Indonesian Labor Law, companies are required to pay separation, appreciation and
compensation benefits to their employees if the conditions specified in the Indonesian Labor Law are
met.  PT Nusantara and its subsidiaries has recognized an unfunded employee benefits liability in
accordance with the Indonesian Labor Law.

Defined Contribution Retirement Plan.  Certain entities of the Company operating in the Philippines
provide the retirement benefits of employees under a defined contribution scheme.  Each of these
companies operates its own retirement plan.  The retirement plan is a contributory plan wherein the
employer undertakes to contribute a predetermined amount to the individual account of each
employee and the employee gets whatever is standing to his credit, upon separation, from the
company.  The retirement plans are being managed and administered by these companies’ respective
compensation committee.  Each entity has an appointed trustee bank which holds and invests the
assets of the retirement fund in accordance with the provisions of the retirement plan.

Contributions to the retirement plan are made based on the employee’s monthly basic salary.
Additionally, an employee has an option to make a personal contribution to the fund, at an amount not
exceeding a certain percentage of his monthly salary in accordance with the entity’s policy.  The
employer then provides an additional contribution to the fund which aims to match the employee’s
contribution but only up to a maximum of 5.0% of the employees’ monthly salary.  Although the
retirement plans of these entities have a defined contribution format, these entities are covered under
RA 7641, which provides a defined benefit minimum guarantee for its qualified employees.  The
defined minimum guarantee is equivalent to a certain percentage of the monthly salary payable to an
employee at normal retirement age with the required credited years of service based on the provisions
of RA 7641.  Accordingly, these entities account for the retirement obligation under the higher of
defined benefit obligation relating to the minimum guarantee and the obligation arising from the
defined contribution plan.  Disclosures required for a defined benefit retirement plan apply to these
companies’ retirement plans and are provided together with the defined benefit retirement plans of the
other subsidiaries of the Parent Company.

Each year, the compensation committee reviews compliance with RA 7641 to evaluate the level of
funding that would ensure that the expected future value of the defined benefit contribution plan asset
is sufficient to cover the future expected value of retirement benefits prescribed by RA 7641.

Defined Benefit Retirement Plan.  These plans provide for a lump sum benefit payments upon
retirement.

Certain entities of the Company have funded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan
covering all their eligible regular employees.  For the entities with funded retirement benefit plans,
plan assets are maintained in trust accounts with local banks.  While there are no minimum funding
standards in the Philippines, the companies annually engage the services of an actuary to conduct a
valuation study to determine the retirement obligations and the level of funding to ensure that the
assets currently in the fund would be sufficient to cover expected benefit payments.
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The rest of the companies within the group each has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit
retirement plan covering substantially all of their respective employees.  While there are no minimum
funding standards in the Philippines, these entities also annually engage the services of an actuary to
conduct a valuation study to determine the retirement obligations and ensure that should there be
maturing obligations in the immediately succeeding periods, these are appropriately considered in the
budgeting process.

Retirement Costs. The following tables summarize the components of the retirement costs under the
defined benefit plans and the defined contribution plans included in “Personnel costs and employee
benefits” under “Cost of sales and services” and “General and administrative expenses” accounts in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Current service cost P=391 P=271 P=212
Net interest cost 94 58 21
Curtailment gain – (31) –
Retirement costs for the year P=485 P=298 P=233

Actual return (loss) on plan assets (P=23) P=42 P=40

Pension Assets and Accrued Retirement Costs.  Reconciliation of net liability recognized in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31 follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Present value of defined benefit
obligation (PVDBO) P=3,472 P=3,290 P=1,994

Fair value of plan assets (FVPA) 1,960 1,578 1,511
Net liability P=1,512 P=1,712 P=483

Pension asset(a) (P=91) (P=60) (P=34)
Accrued retirement liability (b) 1,603 1,772 517
Net liability P=1,512 P=1,712 P=483
(a)Included under “Other noncurrent assets” account.
(b)Included under “Other long–term liabilities” account.

Changes in PVDBO are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

PVDBO at beginning of year P=3,290 P=1,994 P=1,758
PVDBO from acquisitions 302 1,010 7
Interest cost 195 150 79
Current service costs 391 271 212
Benefits paid from:

Plan asset (133) (437) (24)
Company funds (39) (27) (14)

Curtailment – (31) –

(Forward)
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2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Actuarial losses (gains) due to:
 Changes in financial

assumptions (P=489) P=271 (P=69)
Changes in demographics (6) (3) 1
Experience adjustments (39) 92 44

PVDBO at end of the year P=3,472 P=3,290 P=1,994

Changes in FVPA are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

FVPA at beginning of the year P=1,578 P=1,511 P=1,237
FVPA from acquired subsidiaries 58 182 –
Interest income included in net

interest cost 102 92 58
Benefits paid (133) (437) (24)
Contributions by employer 514 270 257
Remeasurement in OCI from return

on plan asset excluding amount
included in net interest cost (159) (40) (17)

FVPA at end of the year P=1,960 P=1,578 P=1,511

The companies within the group expect to contribute a total of P=477 million to their respective
retirement funds in 2019.

The major categories of the plan assets are the following:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Philippine bonds and treasury notes P=969 P=757
Philippine equity securities 356 323
Cash in bank 404 263
Unit trust funds 121 127
Receivables and other assets 88 86
Philippine life insurance plans 22 22

P=1,960 P=1,578

The plan assets’ carrying amount approximates fair value since these are short–term in nature or
mark-to-market.  Philippine bonds and treasury notes consist of government issued securities and
corporate bonds and subordinated notes.  Government securities consist primarily of fixed–rate
treasury notes and retail treasury bonds that bear interest ranging from 2.1% to 11.7% (2018) and
2.1% to 11.7% (2017) and have varying maturities of ranging from 2019 to 2032 as at
December 31, 2018 (2017: 2017 to 2032).  Philippine equity securities pertain to investment in shares
of various listed entities.
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While the Company does not perform any Asset–Liability Matching Study, the risks arising from the
nature of the assets comprising the fund are mitigated as follows:

§ Credit Risks.  Exposure to credit risk arises from financial assets comprising of cash and cash
equivalents, investments and receivables.  The credit risk results from the possible default of the
issuer of the financial instrument, with a maximum exposure equivalent to the carrying amount of
the instruments.  The risk is minimized by ensuring that the exposure is limited only to the
instruments as recommended by the trust managers.

§ Share Price Risk.  Exposure arises from holdings of shares of stock being traded at the PSE.  The
price risk emanates from the volatility of the stock market.  Policy is to limit investments in
shares of stock to blue chip issues or issues with good fair values.

§ Liquidity Risk.  This risk relates to the risk that the fund is unable to meet its payment obligations
associated with its retirement liability when they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, the entities
contribute to their respective fund from time to time, based on the recommendations of their
actuaries with the objective of maintaining their respective fund in a sound condition.

Actuarial assumptions.  Principal assumptions used as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 in determining
retirement obligations are shown below:

2018 2017
(In Percentage)

Annual discount rate 5.7% to 9.4% 5.1% to 6.1%
Future range of annual salary increases 1% to 8% 1% to 10%

The discount rate represents the range of single weighted average discount rate used by each of the
entities within the group in arriving at the present value of defined benefit obligation, service and
interest cost components of the retirement cost.  Assumptions regarding future mortality rate are
based on the 2017 Philippine Intercompany Mortality Table, which provides separate rates for males
and females.

Sensitivity Analysis.  The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions
set above.  The following table summarizes how the present value of defined benefit obligation as at
December 31 would have increased (decreased) as a result of change in the respective assumptions
by:

% Change 2018 2017
(In Millions)

Annual discount rate + 1.0% (P=230) (P=265)
– 1.0% 272 315

Future range of annual salary increases + 1.0% 286 323
– 1.0% (246) (276)
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The following table provides for the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as at
December 31:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Less than one year P=455 P=241
More than one year to five years 1,464 1,224
More than five to ten years 1,920 1,570
Beyond ten years 18,114 15,783
Total expected benefit payments P=21,953 P=18,818

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14 years and 16 years as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

24. Interest Income, Interest Expense and Others

The following are the sources of the Company’s interest income:

2018 2017 2016
            (In Millions)

Cash and cash equivalents, short–term deposits
and restricted cash (see Note 7) P=1,423 P=573 P=373

Finance income from concession financial
receivable (see Note 8) 30 – –

Debt instruments at FVOCI / AFS financial assets
and others* 43 50 44

P=1,496 P=623 P=417
*Includes investments in bonds and treasury notes

The following are the sources of the Company’s interest expense:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Long–term debt (see Note 18) P=8,886 P=6,567 P=4,206
Accretion on financial liabilities

(see Notes 19 and 30) 829 717 548
Accretion on service concession fees

payable (see Note 17) 518 575 490
Amortization of debt issue costs (see Note 18) 82 66 61
Others 73 70 23

P=10,388 P=7,995 P=5,328

Others recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income consists of the following:

2018 2017 2016
 (In Millions)

Net gain (loss) on prepayment of loan (see Note 18)
 Derecognized unamortized PFRS 3

fair value increment P=1,059 P=– P=–
Penalties and other prepayment charges (854) (185) –
Derecognized unamortized debt issue cost (186) (57) –

Remeasurement of previously held interest
(see Note 4)
PT Nusantara 493 – –
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2018 2017 2016
 (In Millions)

(Forward)
DDH P=228 P=– P=–
TMC – 1,391 –
ESC – 198 –
Beacon Electric – (1,618) –

Gain on sale of investment (see Note 10) – 732 –
Indemnity and claims (see Note 4) 332 – –
Foreign exchange gains-net 138 12 12
Advertising, marketing and toll services 429 253 242
Rental income 186 128 135
Provisions for decline in value of investments and

advances (see Note 10) (755) (439) (774)
Impairment of goodwill (see Notes 11 and 14) (43) (324) –
Reversal of contingent liabilities(a) – – 153
Reversal of warranties and guarantees

(see Note 10) – – 489
Others(b) (see Note 10) 461 281 42

P=1,488 P=360 P=299

a. Contingent liability arising from probable claim from a third party at fair value of P=1,100 million
was recognized in January 2013 in relation to the acquisition of CIC which was accounted for
under PFRS 3.  An indemnification asset was recognized in relation to such probable claim.  Such
indemnification asset expired in second quarter of 2015.  As at December 31, 2016, the related
liability has expired and/or has been settled such that the balance is nil.

b. Others include other incidental income.

25. Other Comprehensive Income

OCI recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income consists of the following:

2018 2017 2016
  (In Millions)

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Share in the OCI of an equity method

investee coming from (see Note 10):
Change in fair value of financial

assets at FVOCI (P=62) P=– P=–
Change in fair value of AFS financial

assets – 350 (154)
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations 62 326 718
Change in fair value of financial assets at

FVOCI (see Note 37) (35) – –
Change in fair value of AFS financial

assets – 21 4
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations (812) (310) (179)
Income tax effect 269 95 55

Total (Carried Forward) (578) 482 444
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2018 2017 2016
  (In Millions)

Total (Brought Forward) (P=578) P=482 P=444
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:
Share in the actuarial gains (losses) on

defined benefit plans of equity method
investees (see Note 10) 550 (594) 1,015

Re–measurement gains (losses) on defined
benefit plans (see Note 23) 375 (400) 13

Change in fair value of financial assets at
FVOCI 78 – –

Income tax effect (104) 46 (4)
899 (948) 1,024

P=321 (P=466) P=1,468

26. Income Tax

a. The Company’s deferred tax components as at December 31 are as follows:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Provisions P=81 P=183
Accrued retirement cost and other accrued expenses 511 532
Lease payable 118 120
MCIT 18 19
Excess of fair values over book values resulting from

business combination (6,955) (4,742)
Timing difference in depreciation method (1,722) (978)
Equity transaction (see Note 30) (725) (725)
Debt issue cost (217) (217)
Unamortized past service cost (32) (32)
Unamortized foreign exchange losses capitalized

as service concession assets (17) (18)
Improvement of facilities (4) (4)
Others 284 71
Net deferred tax liabilities (P=8,660) (P=5,791)

Reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Deferred tax assets P=1,270 P=1,045
Deferred tax liabilities (9,930) (6,836)

(P=8,660) (P=5,791)
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Net movement recognized in:
2018 2017 2016

(In Millions)
Profit or loss (P=610) (P=259) (P=67)
Equity (OCI and Equity reserve) (83) (187) (23)

 Deferred taxes acquired in business
combinations (2,176) (1,887) ī

(P=2,869) (P=2,333) (P=90)

The deferred tax liability relating to the equity transaction pertains to the applicable tax on the
future conversion of the Exchangeable Bond to MPHHI shares (see Note 30).  The increase in the
deferred tax liability resulted from the impact of RA No. 10963 or the Tax Reform for
Acceleration and Inclusion Act (TRAIN) which was signed into law on December 19, 2017 and
took effect January 1, 2018, making the new tax law enacted as of the reporting date.  The
TRAIN increased the capital gains tax on sale of shares not traded in the local stock exchange
from 10% to a flat rate of 15%.

The Company has the following temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been
recognized since management believes that it is not probable that these will be realized in the near
future.

2018 2017
(In Millions)

NOLCO P=13,133 P=9,455
Provisions and other accruals 68 54
MCIT 18 18

P=13,219 P=9,527

b. The Company has accumulated temporary difference amounting to P=1,018 million and
P=1,204 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, arising from accumulated equity
in net earnings and share in the OCI from its investment in DMT (see Note 10) for which no
deferred tax liability have been recognized.  The accumulated equity in net earnings if paid out as
dividends, would be subject to tax if remitted to the Company.  An assessable temporary
difference exists but no deferred tax liability has been recognized as the investment in DMT is
held through a wholly owned intermediate holding company, AIF.  All dividend proceeds in
respect of the investment in DMT shall be applied to repay the loan (see Note 18) and thus, AIF
is not expected to distribute these profits for so long as the loan is outstanding.

c. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, NOLCO of the Parent Company and various subsidiaries can
be carried forward and claimed as deduction from regular taxable income as follows:

Year Incurred Amount Acquisition Addition Expired Application Balance Expiry Year
(In Millions)

2018 P=– P=– P=6,137 P=– P=– P=6,137 2021
2017 3,977 – – – – 3,977 2020
2016 3,329 – – – – 3,329 2019
2015 2,222 – – (2,222) – – 2018

P=9,528 P=– P=6,137 (P=2,222) P=– P=13,443

As at December 31, 2018, the Company also has tax losses arising from its Indonesian subsidiary,
PT Nusamtara, of P=906 million that may be carried forward for five years for offsetting agains
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
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d. The following carryforward benefits of MCIT can be claimed as tax credits against future income
taxes payable:

Year Incurred Amount Acquisition Addition Expired Application Balance Expiry Year
(In Millions)

2018 P=– P=– P=5 P=– P=– P=5 2021
2017 16 – – – – 16 2020
2016 8 – – – – 8 2019
2015 13 – – (13) – – 2018

P=37 P=– P=5 (P=13) P=– P=29

e. The current provision for income tax for year ended December 31 consists of the following:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

RCIT P=6,229 P=5,226 P=4,004
MCIT 3 70 5
Final tax 166 94 82

P=6,398 P=5,390 P=4,091

f. The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory income tax rate to
provision for income tax as shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is
summarized as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Income before income tax P=29,185 P=24,676 P=20,937
Income tax at statutory tax rate of

30.0% P=8,756 P=7,403 P=6,281
Net income under ITH (164) 111 (2)
Share in net earnings of equity

method investees (3,322) (2,414) (2,042)
Changes in unrecognized deferred

tax assets and others 1,107 593 1,068
Effect of optional standard deduction (1,070) (1,112) (1,128)
Various income subjected to lower

final tax rates - net (250) (141) (92)
Final tax on interest income 167 94 82
Nondeductible (nontaxable) expenses

(income) - net 1,780 1,043 (29)
MCIT 3 70 5
Application of NOLCO ī ī 27
Others 1 2 (12)

P=7,008 P=5,649 P=4,158

Optional Standard Deduction (OSD)
On December 18, 2008, the BIR issued Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 16–2008, which implemented
the provisions of RA 9504 on OSD, which allowed both individual and corporate tax payers to use
OSD in computing their taxable income.  For corporations, they may elect a standard deduction in an
amount equivalent to 40% of gross income, as provided by law, in lieu of the itemized allowed
deductions.

NLEX Corp opted to avail of the OSD for the taxable years 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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Maynilad, with the expiration of its income tax holiday in December 2015, opted to avail of the OSD
for the taxable year 2018, 2017 and 2016.  In 2016, Maynilad assessed its deferred tax accounts and
concluded that the applicable tax rate for the expected recovery and settlement of the deferred taxes is
at the effective tax rate of 18% using OSD.  The remeasurement resulted in reduction of both the
acquisition accounting deferred tax liability and Maynilad’s deferred tax asset amounting to
P=1,062.0 million and P=324.0 million, respectively, recognized in the profit or loss for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Income Tax Holiday
In 2016, LRMC was registered with the BOI for the modernization of the Existing System and the
construction of the Cavite Extension.  Under the BOI registration agreement, LRMC is entitled to
ITH for a period of three (3) years from the indicated completion of the rehabilitation of the existing
system beginning January 2018 and start of commercial operations of the Cavite Extension beginning
April 2021.  ITH incentive enjoyed by LRMC amounted to P=127 million in 2018.

PEDC has two BOI registrations for its Phase I (164 MW) and Phase II (150 MW or PEDC 3)
projects.  As BOI registered entity, PEDC is entitled to several incentives including an ITH as a
pioneer entity (for Phase I) for four years from March 26, 2011, the actual start date of commercial
operations.  PEDC has availed of a two-year ITH extension for the Phase I project until March 25,
2017.  On the other hand, the Phase II project (PEDC 3) is also entitled to ITH incentive as an
expansion entity for three (3) years from August 1, 2016 or on the actual start date of commercial
operations, whichever is earlier, but in no case earlier than the date of registration.  ITH incentive
enjoyed by PEDC amounted to P=164 million in 2018 and P=273 million in 2017.

27. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of earnings per share for the years ended December 31 follows:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions, Except for Per Share Amounts)

Net income attributable to owners of the
Parent Company (a) P=14,130 P=13,151 P=11,456

Effect of cumulative dividends on preferred
shareholders of the Parent Company (see Note 20) (b) (9) (9) (7)

Net income attributable to common owners
of the Parent Company (c) P=14,121 P=13,142 P=11,449

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions, Except for Per Share Amounts)

Outstanding common shares at the beginning
of the year P=31,511 P=31,504 P=27,885

Effect of issuance of common shares during the year 3 3 2,171
Effect of share buy-back (see Note 20) – – (8)
Weighted average number of common shares

for basic earnings per share (d) 31,514 31,507 30,048
Effects of potential dilution from ESOP and share

award (see Note 28): 34 31 35
Weighted average number of common shares adjusted

for the effects of potential dilution (e) 31,548 31,538 30,083

Basic earnings per share (c/d) P=0.4481 P=0.4171 P=0.3810

Diluted earnings per share (c/e) P=0.4476 P=0.4167 P=0.3806
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Weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding is derived by multiplying the number of
shares outstanding at the beginning of the year, adjusted by the number of shares issued during the
year, with a time–weighting factor.  The time–weighting factor is the number of days that the
common shares are outstanding as a proportion to the total number of days in the year.

28. Share–based Payment

ESOP
On June 24, 2007, the shareholders of MPIC approved a share option scheme (the Plan) under which
MPIC’s directors may, at their discretion, invite executives of MPIC upon the regularization of
employment of eligible executives, to take up share option of MPIC to obtain an ownership interest in
MPIC and for the purpose of long–term employment motivation.  The scheme became effective on
June 14, 2007 and is valid for 10 years.  An amended plan was approved by the stockholders on
February 20, 2009.

As amended, the overall limit on the number of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted and yet to be exercised under the Plan must not exceed 5.0% of the shares in issue from
time to time.

The exercise price in relation to each option shall be determined by the Company’s Compensation
Committee, but shall not be lower than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares for one or
more board lots of such shares on the PSE on the option offer date; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for one or more board lots of such shares on the PSE for the five business days on which
dealings in the shares are made immediately preceding the option offer date; and (iii) the par value of
the shares.

Second and Third Grants.  MPIC allocated and set aside stock options relating to 145,000,000
common shares, of which (a) a total of 94,300,000 common shares was granted to its new directors
and senior management officers, as well as, members of the management committees of certain MPIC
subsidiaries at the exercise price of  P=2.73 per common share on July 2, 2010 (the Second Grant)  and
(b) another 10,000,000 common shares was granted at the exercise price of P=3.50 on December 21,
2010 to officers of Maynilad (the Third Grant A).

On March 8, 2011, 1,000,000 common shares were granted at the exercise price of P=3.53 to senior
management of Maynilad (the Third Grant B) and on April 14, 2011, another 3,000,000 common
shares was granted at the exercise price of P=3.66 to an MPIC officer (the Third Grant C).

As at December 31, 2018, there are no outstanding and exercisable share options for the Second and
Third Grants.

Fourth Grant.  On October 14, 2013, MPIC made an ESOP grant (the Fourth Grant) consisting of
112.0 million common shares, to its directors and senior management officers, as well as, members of
the senior management of certain MPIC subsidiaries.  The grant was approved by the Philippine SEC
on March 4, 2014.

On October 9, 2018, the deadline for the exercise of stock options from the Fourth Grant, originally
on October 14, 2018, was extended by the Company’s Compensation Committee to October 14,
2019.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the weighted average remaining term to expiry for
the share options outstanding is 0.8 years.
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For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the weighted average share price of MPIC’s
common share is P=5.16 and P=6.64 per share, respectively.  Total ESOP expense recognized in
“Personnel costs and employee benefits” and “Equity reserve” amounted to P=24 million, nil and nil
for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively (see Note 23).

The following table illustrates the number of, exercise prices of, and movements in share options in
2018, 2017 and 2016 for the Fourth Grant:

Fourth Grant
Tranche A Tranche B

Number
of shares

Exercise
Price

Number
of shares

Exercise
Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2016 55,000,000 P=4.60 56,000,000 P=4.60
Exercised during the year (see Note 20) 42,475,000 4.60 – –
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 12,525,000 P=4.60 56,000,000 P=4.60
Exercised during the year (see Note 20) 6,700,000 4.60 – –
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 5,825,000 P=4.60 56,000,000 P=4.60
Exercised during the year (see Note 20) 5,825,000 4.60 1,175,000 P=4.60
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 – – 54,825,000 P=4.60

Exercisable at:
December 31, 2016 12,525,000 4.60 56,000,000 4.60
December 31, 2017 5,825,000 4.60 56,000,000 4.60
December 31, 2018 – – 54,825,000 4.60

The fair value of the options granted is estimated at the date of grant using Black–Scholes–Merton
formula, taking into account the terms and conditions at the time the options were granted.  The
following tables list the inputs to the model used for the ESOP:

Second Grant
Tranche A Tranche B

50.0%
vesting on
January 1,

2011

50.0%
vesting on
January 1,

2012

30.0%
vesting on

July 2,
2011

35.0%
vesting on

July 2,
2012

35.0%
vesting on

July 2,
2013

Spot Price P=2.65 P=2.65 P=2.65 P=2.65 P=2.65
Exercise price P=2.73 P=2.73 P=2.73 P=2.73 P=2.73
Risk–free rate 4.16% 4.92% 4.61% 5.21% 5.67%
Expected volatility* 48.33% 69.83% 69.27% 67.52% 76.60%
Term to vesting in days 183 548 365 731 1,096
Call price P=0.35 P=0.91 P=0.73 P=1.03 P=1.39

Third Grant Fourth Grant
Tranche A Tranche B Tranche C

30.0%
vesting on
August 1,

2011

35.0%
vesting on
August 1,

2012

35.0%
vesting on
August 1,

2013

30.0%
vesting on

March 8,
2012

35.0%
vesting on

March 8,
2013

35.0%
vesting on

March 8,
2014

50.0%
vesting on

April 14,
2012

50.0%
vesting on

April 14,
2013

50.0%
vesting on

October 14,
2014

50.0%
vesting on

October 14,
2015

Spot Price P=3.47 P=3.47 P=3.47 P=3.53 P=3.53 P=3.53 P=3.66 P=3.66 P=4.59 P=4.59
Exercise price P=3.50 P=3.50 P=3.50 P=3.53 P=3.53 P=3.53 P=3.66 P=3.66 P=4.60 P=4.60
Risk–free rate 1.62% 2.83% 3.73% 2.56% 4.38% 5.01% 2.05% 3.83% 0.66% 2.40%
Expected volatility* 46.62% 68.23% 72.82% 39.32% 61.39% 64.42% 39.13% 60.76% 35.23% 33.07%
Term to vesting in days 223 589 954 366 731 1,096 366 731 365 730
Call price P=0.46 P=1.20 P=1.62 P=0.58 P=1.28 P=1.62 P=0.60 P=1.30 P=0.63 P=0.89

* The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

RSUP
On July 14, 2016, the Compensation Committee of MPIC approved the RSUP as part of MPIC’s
LTIP.  The RSUP, which has a validity period of ten (10) years, replaced the Parent Company’s
ESOP.

The RSUP is designed, among others, to reward the Directors and certain key officers of MPIC who
contribute to its growth to stay with MPIC for the long term.  Under the RSUP, which shall have a
cycle of three (3) years starting 2016, MPIC, at its cost will reacquire MPIC common shares to be
held as treasury shares and reserved to be transferred to the Directors and key officers determined by
the Committee to be eligible to participate under the RSUP.  Vested shares will be transferred in the
name of the eligible participants on full vesting date, at no cost as provided under the RSUP.
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The RSUP also limits the aggregate number of shares that may be subject to award to no more than
three percent (3%) of the outstanding common shares of MPIC.  For the first 3-year cycle
(i.e., 2016 to 2018), MPIC will acquire up to 26.7 million common shares (originally 27.4 million
common shares) at such time and under such terms and conditions as the Committee may determine.
As at December 31, 2018, MPIC had already acquired 26.1 million shares from the open market at
and held as treasury shares.

Fair value of the Share Award was determined using the market closing price of P=7.15 per share on
date of grant.  One third (or 33.33%) of the share award vests every 31st of December beginning 2016
until fully vested by December 31, 2018.

Total Share Award expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to
P=66.7 million included in “Personnel costs and employee benefits” under “General and administrative
expenses” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (see Notes 22 and 23).

29. Contingencies

Water

Rate Rebasing: 2013-2017

§ 2013-2017 Rate Rebasing - Domestic Arbitration.  Metropolitan Waterworks and Sewerage
(MWSS) released Board of Trustees Resolution No. 2013-100-RO dated September 12, 2013 and
Regulatory Office (RO) Resolution No. 13-010-CA dated September 10, 2013 on the rate
rebasing adjustment for the rate rebasing period 2013 to 2017 (Fourth Rate Rebasing Period)
reducing Maynilad’s 2012 average all-in basic water charge by 4.82% or P=1.46 per cubic meter
(cu.m.) or P=0.29/cu.m. over the next five years.

On October 4, 2013, Maynilad filed its Dispute Notice before the Appeals Panel.  This Dispute
Notice is a referral to the Appeals Panel for Major Disputes of the dispute between Maynilad, on
the one hand, and MWSS and the RO, on the other.  The Dispute relates to the determination by
the RO, in accordance with Section 9.4.2 of the Concession Agreement, of the Rebasing
Adjustment as embodied in Resolution No. 13-010-CA.

On December 17, 2013, the RO released Resolution No. 13-011-CA regarding the
implementation of a status quo for Maynilad’s Standard Rates and Foreign Currency Differential
Adjustments (FCDA) for any and all its scheduled adjustments until such time that the Appeals
Panel has issued its arbitral award.

On January 5, 2015, Maynilad officially received the Appeals Panel’s award dated
December 29, 2014 upholding Maynilad’s alternative Rebasing Adjustment for the Fourth Rate
Rebasing Period of 13.41% or its equivalent of P=4.06 per cu.m.  (the “First Award”).  This
increase has effectively been reduced to P=3.06 per cu.m., following the integration of the P=1.00
Currency Exchange Rate Adjustment (CERA) into the basic water charge.  To mitigate the
impact of the tariff increase on its customers, Maynilad offered to stagger its implementation over
a three-year period.

The First Award, being final and binding on the parties, Maynilad asked the MWSS to cause its
Board of Trustees to approve the 2015 Tariffs Table so that the same can be published and
implemented 15 days after its publication.
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However, the MWSS and the RO have chosen, over Maynilad’s repeated objections, to defer the
implementation of the First Award despite it being final and binding on the parties.  In its letter
dated February 9, 2015, the MWSS and RO, who received their copy of the First Award on
January 7, 2015, informed Maynilad that they have decided to await the final outcome of their
arbitration with the other concessionaire, Manila Water Company, Inc. (“Manila Water”), before
making any official pronouncements on the applicable resulting water rates for the two (2)
concessionaires.

§ 2013-2017 Rate Rebasing - International Arbitration.  On February 20, 2015, Maynilad wrote the
Philippine Government, through the Department of Finance (DOF), to call on the Undertaking
Letters which the Republic of the Philippines (ROP) issued in favor of Maynilad on July 31, 1997
and March 17, 2010.  On March 9, 2015, Maynilad again wrote the ROP, through the DOF, to
reiterate its demand against the Undertaking Letters.  The letters dated February 20 and March 9,
2015 are collectively referred to as the “Demand Letters”.

Maynilad demanded that it be paid, immediately and without further delay, the P=3.4 billion in
revenue losses that it had sustained as a direct result of the MWSS’s and the RO’s refusal to
implement its correct Rebasing Adjustment from January 1, 2013 (the commencement of the
Fourth Rate Rebasing Period) to February 28, 2015.

On March 27, 2015, Maynilad served a Notice of Arbitration and Statement of Claim upon the
ROP, through the DOF.  Maynilad gave notice and demanded that the ROP’s failure or refusal to
pay the amounts required under the Demand Letters be, pursuant to the terms of the Undertaking
Letters, referred to arbitration before a three-member panel and conduct proceedings in Singapore
in accordance with the 1976 United Nations Commission on International Trade Law
(UNCITRAL) Arbitration Rules.

On April 21, 2015, the MWSS Board of Trustees, in its Resolution No. 2015-004-CA dated
March 25, 2015 approved to partially implement the First Award of a tariff adjustment of
P=0.64/ cu.m. which, net of the P=1.00 CERA, actually translates to a tariff adjustment of negative
P=0.36/cu.m. as opposed to the First Award of P=3.06/cu.m. tariff adjustment, net of CERA.  For
being contrary to the First Award as well as the provisions of the Concession Agreement,
Maynilad did not implement this tariff adjustment.

On May 14, 2015, the MWSS Board of Trustees in its Resolution No. 2015-060-RO approved a
7.52% increase in the prevailing average basic charge of P=31.25/cu.m. or an upward adjustment
of P=2.35/cu.m. as CPI adjustment.  With the discontinuance of CERA, the net adjustment in
average water charge is 4.32% or P=1.35/cu.m.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Arbitral Tribunal was constituted.  On February 17, 2016,
Maynilad again wrote the ROP, through the DOF, to reiterate its demand against the Undertaking
Letters and to update its claim. Evidentiary hearings were completed in December 2016.

On July 24, 2017, the Arbitral Tribunal unanimously upheld the validity of Maynilad’s claim
against the Undertaking Letter issued by the ROP, through the DOF, and ordered the ROP to
compensate Maynilad for the delayed implementation of its relevant tariffs for the Fourth Rate
Rebasing Period (the “Second Award”). The Tribunal ordered the ROP to reimburse Maynilad
the amount of P=3.4 billion for losses from March 11, 2015 to August 31, 2016, without prejudice
to any rights that Maynilad may have to seek recourse against MWSS for losses incurred from
January 1, 2013 to March 10, 2015.  Further, the Tribunal ruled that Maynilad is entitled to
recover from the Republic its losses from September 1, 2016 onwards.  In case a disagreement on
the amount of such losses arises, Maynilad may revert to the Tribunal for further determination.
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Subsequently, Maynilad agreed with the ROP’s corrected computation of Maynilad’s revenue
losses from March 11, 2015 to August 31, 2016 in the amount of P=3.18 billion (with cost of
money as of August 31, 2016).  As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, Maynilad’s accumulated
revenue losses due to the delayed implementation of the First Award are estimated at
P=11.4 billion and P=8.2 billion, respectively.

Starting April 22, 2017, adjusted water rates which included increase in the FCDA, as well as an
adjustment to cover the 1.9% CPI were implemented.

On February 13, 2018, Maynilad received an email from the ROP’s Singapore counsel advising
that the ROP had filed an application with the High Court of Singapore to set aside the Second
Award dated July 24, 2017 (the “Setting Aside Application”).

The ROP also filed an interlocutory application for sealing which required, among others, that the
proceedings be heard in-camera or otherwise than in open court, that there to be no publication of
the identities of the parties to the proceedings or of any matter that would reasonably enable the
public to deduce the identities of the parties

On September 4, 2018, immediately following the conclusion of the hearings before the
Singapore High Court, the presiding Justice dismissed the Republic’s Setting Aside Application
and awarded Singaporean Dollar, S$40,000.00 in favor of Maynilad by way of costs.  The
Republic did not appeal the decision to the Singapore Court of Appeal within the prescribed
30-day period and so, the dismissal of the Setting Aside Application became final on
October 4, 2018.

As at December 31, 2018, Maynilad has an outstanding claim against the Republic of the
Philippines (ROP), through the Department of Finance (DOF), in relation to the decision of the
Arbitral Tribunal to compensate Maynilad for the delayed implementation of its relevant tariffs
for the rebasing period 2013 to 2017 in the amount of P=3.18 billion and cost of litigation
amounting to S$40,000.

Total claim from the DOF at P=6.7 billion comprising of the P=3.18 billion fixed award and the
remaining as variable award still to be resolved.

§ 2013-2017 Rate Rebasing - Domestic Court Actions.  In a decision dated August 30, 2017, the
Regional Trial Court, Branch 93 of Quezon City (“RTC”) granted the Petition for Confirmation
and Enforcement of the First Award which petitioner, Maynilad, filed in July 2015 (the “RTC
Decision”) following the refusal of MWSS and the MWSS Regulatory Office to implement the
First Award.  As stated above, the First Award upheld the 13.41% Rebasing Adjustment that
Maynilad proposed for the Fourth Rate Rebasing Period.

The MWSS filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the RTC Decision which the RTC denied in an
Order dated November 23, 2017 (“RTC Order”).  The MWSS filed a Petition for Review with the
Court of Appeals (“CA”) on December 27, 2017 asking for a reversal of the RTC Decision and
Order.  In its Comment to the Petition for Review, Maynilad prayed for the Petition for Review’s
dismissal and for the immediate enforcement of the RTC Decision and the First Award.

As a consequence of the issuance of the RTC Decision, Maynilad filed, on October 18, 2017, a
Motion for Execution of the First Award (“MotEx”).  However, the RTC, on February 6, 2018,
denied the MotEx.
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In its decision dated May 30, 2018, the CA denied MWSS’s Petition for Review, and affirmed the
RTC Decision and Order confirming the Final Award (“CA Decision”).

On June 14, 2018, Maynilad filed with the CA a Motion for Clarification (on the CA Decision)
for the CA to confirm that the RTC and CA Decisions are immediately executory, and that
MWSS should therefore implement the Final Award without any further delay (“Motion for
Clarification”).

In the meantime, on July 11, 2018, Maynilad received MWSS’s Petition for Review on Certiorari
with the SC (under Rule 19.37 of the Special Rules of Court on Alternative Dispute Resolution)
with Manifestation dated July 4, 2018 (the “Petition”).  MWSS prayed that the SC (i) reverse and
set aside the CA Decision, and (ii) grant MWSS’s counter-petition and declare MWSS as legally
released or excused from implementing or enforcing the Final Award or, in the alternative,
declare the Final Award as unenforceable.

On July 30, 2018, the CA issued a Resolution noting, without action, the Motion for Clarification
that Maynilad filed “in view of the pending Petition for Review” which the MWSS filed with the
SC.

Rate Rebasing: 2018-2022. On September 13, 2018, the MWSS issued Resolution No. 2018-136-RO
adopting RO Resolution No. 2018-09-CA dated September 7, 2018 granting Maynilad a partial rate
adjustment of P=5.73/cu.m. for the Fifth Rate Rebasing Period (2018 to 2022), to be implemented on
an uneven staggered basis of (i) P=0.90/cu.m. effective October 1, 2018; (ii) P=1.95/cu.m. effective
January 1, 2020, (iii) P=1.95/cu.m. effective January 1, 2021, and (iv) P=0.93/cu.m. effective January 1,
2022. The approved rate adjustment still does not include the corporate income tax (“CIT”)
component to which Maynilad is entitled by virtue of the First Award.  In their Resolutions, the
MWSS and RO stated that the inclusion of the CIT in Maynilad’s tariff is subject to the SC’s
resolution of MWSS’s Petition for Review.

To preserve its right to the CIT which has already been adjudged in its favor in the First Award, and
pursuant to Article 12 of the Concession Agreement, Maynilad, on October 12, 2018, filed a Dispute
Notice, signaling the start of another arbitration.

As at March 5, 2019, Maynilad cannot determine with reasonable certainty the probable outcome of
the discussions with the Government with respect to the implementation of the Second Award.  As
such, the consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from
arbitration proceeding.

Disputes with MWSS. In prior years, Maynilad has been contesting certain charges billed by MWSS
relating to: (a) the basis of the computation of interest; (b) MWSS cost of borrowings; and
(c) additional penalties.  Consequently, Maynilad has not provided for these additional
charges.  These disputed charges were effectively reflected and recognized by Maynilad as Tranche B
Concession Fees amounting to US$30.1 million by virtue of the Debt and Capital Restructuring
Agreement (DCRA) entered into in 2005.  Maynilad also paid US$6.8 million in 2005 as an
additional amount of Tranche B Concession Fees determined by the Receiver.  As at December 31,
2015 and 2014, Maynilad had recognized Tranche B Concession Fees of US$36.9 million.

Maynilad reconciled its liability to MWSS with the confirmation and billings of MWSS.  The
difference between the amount confirmed by MWSS and the amount recognized by the Maynilad
amounted to P=5.1 billion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  The difference mainly pertains to
disputed claims of MWSS consisting of additional Tranche B Concession Fees, borrowing cost and
interest penalty under the Concession Agreement (prior to the DCRA).  Maynilad’s position on these
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charges is consistent with the Receiver’s recommendation which was upheld by the Rehabilitation
Court.

Following the issuance of the Rehabilitation Court’s Order on December 19, 2007 disallowing the
MWSS’ disputed claims and the termination of Maynilad’s rehabilitation proceedings, Maynilad and
MWSS sought to resolve the matter in accordance with the dispute resolution requirements of the
Transitional and Clarificatory Agreement (TCA).

Prior to the DCRA, Maynilad has accrued interest on its payable to MWSS based on the terms of the
Concession Agreement, which was disputed by MWSS before the Rehabilitation Court.  These
already amounted to P=985 million as at December 31, 2011 and have been charged to interest expense
in prior years.  Maynilad maintains that the accrued interest on its payable to MWSS has been
adequately replaced by the Tranche B Concession Fees discussed above.  Maynilad’s position is
consistent with the Receiver’s recommendation which was upheld by the Rehabilitation Court.  With
the prescription of the TCA and in light of Maynilad’s outstanding offer of US$14 million to fully
settle the claim of MWSS, Maynilad reversed the amount of accrued interest in excess of the
US$14.0 million settlement offer.  The remaining balance of P=607 million as at December 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017, which pertains to the disputed interest penalty under the Concession
Agreement prior to DCRA, has remained in the books pending resolution of the remaining disputed
claims of MWSS.

Real Property Taxes Assessment.  On October 13, 2005, Maynilad and Manila Water (the
Concessionaires) were jointly assessed by the Municipality of Norzagaray, Bulacan for real property
taxes on certain common purpose facilities purportedly due from 1998 to 2005 amounting to
P=357 million.  It is the position of the Concessionaires that these properties are owned by the ROP
and therefore, exempt from taxation.

The supposed joint liability of the Concessionaires for real property tax, including interests, as at
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 amounted to P=1.0 billion.

After the Local Board of Assessment Appeals (LBAA) ruled in favor of the Municipality of
Norzagaray, Bulacan, the Concessionaires elevated the ruling of the LBAA to the Central Board of
Assessment Appeals (CBAA) by filing separate appeals.

On May 23, 2018, Court of Tax Appeals’ (CTA) Notice of Decision dated May 11, 2018 was
received, denying Petitioner’s Petition for Certiorari (for an interlocutory order) (“CTA Decision”).
Thus, the CTA ordered that the case be remanded to CBAA and for the proceedings to continue.

On September 3, 2018, Maynilad received the CTA’s Resolution dated June 4, 2018 noting the
compliance of Maynilad and MWSS informing the CTA of their respective dates of receipt of the
CTA Decision.

Others. Maynilad is a party to various civil and labor cases relating to breach of contracts with
damages, illegal dismissal of employees, and nonpayment of backwages, benefits and performance
bonus, among others. Other disclosures required by PAS 37 were not provided as it may prejudice
Maynilad’s position in on–going claims, litigations and assessments.
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Toll Operations

Toll Rate Adjustments - NLEX Corp.  NLEX Corp, as petitioner-applicant, filed the following
petitions for the approval of Periodic Toll Rate Adjustment (PTRA) with the Toll Regulatory Board
(TRB) praying for the adjustments of the toll rates:

§ In June 2012, for the NLEX PTRA effective January 1, 2013 (2012 Petition);
§ In September 2014, for NLEX PTRA effective January 1, 2015 (2014 Petition); and
§ In September 2016, for the  PTRA for the NLEX and SCTEX effective January 1, 2017 (2016

Petition).
§ In September 2018, for the PTRA for the NLEX effective January 1, 2019 (2018 Petition)
§ In January 2019, for the PTRA covering the adjustment in the toll rate of the NLEX Open System

effective February 15, 2019 upon completion of the NLEX Segments 9 and 10 (Segment 10
Add-on Toll Rate Petition)

Under the SCTEX Toll Operations Agreement, toll rate adjustment petitions shall be filed with the
TRB yearly.  Prior to NLEX Corp’s take-over of the SCTEX operations, the Bases Conversion and
Development Authority (BCDA) filed petitions for toll rate adjustment that should have been
effective in 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2016. Thereafter, in September 2016, NLEX Corp, as petitioner-
applicant, filed a petition for toll rate adjustment effective January 1, 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, total amount of compensation for TRB’s inaction on lawful toll rate
adjustments for NLEX and SCTEX, are approximately at P=8.0 billion and P=1.5 billion (net of both
VAT and Government share), respectively.  The estimated amount of compensation for NLEX covers
the 2012, 2014 and 2016 Petitions.

Updates on the 2012 and 2014 Petitions are provided below.  NLEX Corp has yet to receive
regulatory approval for the 2016 Petition and 2018 Petition.

2012 and 2014 Petitions and Segment 10 Add-on Toll Rate Petition.  In August 2015, NLEX Corp
wrote the ROP, acting by and through the TRB, a Final Demand for Compensation based on overdue
toll rate adjustments that should have been effective January 1, 2013 and January 1, 2015 (Final
Demand).  However, the ROP/TRB failed to heed on the Final Demand and as such, NLEX Corp sent
a Notice of Dispute to the ROP/TRB dated September 11, 2015 invoking Supplemental Toll
Operation Agreement (STOA) Clause 19 (Settlement of Disputes). STOA Clause 19.1 states that the
parties shall endeavor to amicably settle the dispute within sixty (60) calendar days.  The TRB sent
several letters to NLEX Corp requesting the extension of the amicable settlement period.  However,
NLEX Corp has not received any feasible settlement offer from the ROP/TRB.

Accordingly, on April 4, 2016, NLEX Corp was compelled to issue a Notice of Arbitration and
Statement of Claim (Notice of Arbitration) to the ROP, acting by and through the TRB, consistent
with STOA Clause 19 in order to preserve its rights under the STOA.

In May 2016, TRB through Office of the Solicitor General (OSG) nominated their arbitrator for
NLEX and their preferred venue for arbitration.  In a letter dated June 1, 2016, NLEX Corp proposed
that the arbitration be held in Singapore which is the seat of arbitration that the ROP has chosen for
its various Public-Private Partnership (PPP) projects, and proposed the Singapore International
Arbitration Center as the Appointing Authority.  In a letter dated July 13, 2016, the ROP, acting by
and through the OSG, stated that it accepts Singapore as the venue of arbitration, but reiterated its
previous proposal that a Philippine-based institution/person be the Appointing Authority.
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On June 27, 2017, the initial case management conference was held in Singapore.  On December 11,
2017, NLEX Corp submitted its Updated Statement of Claim.   On December 27, 2017, the
ROP/TRB filed request for bifurcation, which was accordingly granted, i.e., the proceedings were
divided into two parts: first, the issue on whether or not the tribunal has jurisdiction over NLEX
Corp’s claim, and second, the main merits of the claim as set forth in the Updated Statement of
Claim. In January 2018, the ROP/TRB and NLEX Corp. have submitted their respective statements
on the matter of jurisdiction. In July 2018, the Arbitral Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 2
whereby the Arbitral Tribunal declined to dismiss the claim on the basis of the ROP/TRB’s
objections to jurisdiction and ordered the ROP/TRB to submit its Statement of Defense. In September
2018, the ROP/TRB submitted its Statement of Defense.  In October to November 2018, NLEX Corp
and the ROP/TRB submitted their respective Requests for Production of Documents, Objections to
the Request for Production of Documents, and Reply to the Objections to the Request for Production
of Documents. In December 2018 and January 2019, the Arbitral Tribunal resolved NLEX Corp’s
and the ROP/TRB’s Request for Production of Documents.

On February 15, 2019, NLEX Corp received a Consolidated Resolution dated October 2018 issued by
the TRB which approved and allowed NLEX Corp to implement the toll rate adjustment indicated
therein on a staggered basis.  On the same date, the TRB issued an Order finding NLEX Corp’s
subject Petition to be sufficient in form and directed NLEX Corp to publish in full the contents of the
Petition in a newspaper of general circulation, in accordance with applicable rules and laws, with a
notice that all interested tollway users may file a petition for review of the proposed adjusted toll
rates. In full compliance with the Order and TRB Rules, NLEX Corp caused the publication of the
Petition in a newspaper of general circulation, once a week for three consecutive weeks in February
and March 2019. On March 5, 2019, the TRB issued a letter to NLEX Corp stating that the TRB (a)
conditionally approved the subject Petition and granted NLEX Corp provisional authority to collect
the add-on tolls for the Open System of the NLEX and (b) allowing the implementation of the new
authorized toll price for the NLEX (Integrated Toll Fee Matrix) which is attached to the said letter.
The Integrated Toll Fee Matrix includes both: (a) the first tranche of the approved adjusted toll rates
in the 2012 and 2014 Petitions stated in the TRB’s Consolidated Resolution dated October 2018; and
(b) the provisionally approved add-on toll rates in the Segment 10 Add-on Toll Rate Petition. In the
same letter, the TRB instructed NLEX Corp to: (a) cause the publication of the Integrated Toll Fee
Matrix in accordance with the provisions of the TRB Rules and (b) post the required bond amounting
to P=530.0 million or the equivalent of one (1) year collection of add-on rate. In full and complete
compliance with the instructions of the TRB, NLEX Corp. (a) submitted the original of the Surety
Bond issued by the Prudential Guarantee and Insurance Inc. in favor of the Republic of the
Philippines, acting by and through the TRB, and (b) caused the publication of the Integrated Toll Fee
Matrix in a newspaper of general circulation once a week for three (3) consecutive weeks in March
2019. Start of collection is expected before end of the March 2019.

In February 2019, the ROP/TRB informed the Arbitral Tribunal that it has released a Consolidated
Resolution on NLEX Corp’s pending 2012 and 2014 petitions for toll rate adjustment. In the
Consolidated Resolution, the TRB approved and allowed the implementation of toll rates on a
staggered basis in 2018, 2020, 2021, and 2023. In February to March 2019, NLEX Corp. filed its
Reply, Supplemental Reply, and Addendum to the Supplemental Reply while the ROP/TRB filed its
Rejoinder.

Toll Rate Adjustments - CIC.  CIC filed the following petitions for the approval of the PTRA with the
TRB:

§ On the R-1 Expressway:
o In September 2011, for the PTRA effective January 1, 2012 (2011 Petition);
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o In September 2014, for the PTRA with an Application for Provisional Relief with toll rates
effective January 1, 2015 (2014 Petition); and

o In November 2016, for the PTRA effective January 1, 2017 (2016 Petition).

§ On R-1 Extension:
o In September 2013, for the PTRA effective January 1, 2014 (2013 Petition);
o In September 2016, for the PTRA effective January 1, 2017 (2016 Petition).

In August 2015, for failure to implement toll rate adjustments, CIC filed notices with the TRB
demanding settlement of the past due tariff increases amounting to P=719.0 million based on the
overdue toll rate adjustments as at July 31, 2015 for the CAVITEX.

In April 2016, CIC issued a Notice of Arbitration and Statement of Claim to the ROP, acting by and
through the TRB, consistent with the dispute resolution procedures under its Toll Operation
Agreement (TOA) to obtain compensation in the amount of P=877 million (as of March 27, 2016) for
TRB’s inaction on lawful toll rate adjustments which were due January 1, 2012, January 1, 2014, and
January 1, 2015.  Singapore shall be the venue of arbitration.  In February 2017, CIC received notice
from the Permanent Court of Arbitration that the authority who will appoint the chairperson of the
Arbitration Panel has been designated.

As at March 5, 2019, CIC has yet to receive regulatory approval for all the petitions filed on the
PTRA.  CIC, however, is in constructive discussions with Government to resolve this.

As of December 31, 2018, total amount of compensation for TRB’s inaction on lawful toll rate
adjustments which were due since January 1, 2012 for both R1 and R1-Extension is approximately at
P=1.9 billion (VAT-exclusive and net of Philippine Reclamation Authority’s share).

Value-Added Tax (VAT). NLEX Corp received the following VAT assessments from the BIR:

§ The BIR issued a Formal Letter of Demand on March 16, 2009 requesting NLEX Corp to pay
deficiency VAT plus penalties amounting to P=1,011 million for taxable year 2006.

§ A Final Assessment Notice was received from the BIR dated November 15, 2009 assessing
NLEX Corp deficiency VAT plus penalties amounting to P=558 million for taxable year 2007.

§ The BIR issued a Notice of Informal Conference dated October 5, 2009 assessing NLEX Corp for
deficiency VAT plus penalties amounting to P=471 million for taxable year 2008.  On
May 21, 2010, the BIR issued another notice increasing the deficiency VAT for taxable year 2008
to P=1,209 million (including penalties).  On June 11, 2010, NLEX Corp. filed its Position Paper
with the BIR reiterating its claim that it is not subject to VAT on toll fees.

§ The BIR issued a Notice of Informal Conference on May 21, 2010 assessing NLEX Corp
deficiency VAT plus penalties amounting to P=1,027 million for taxable year 2009.  On
June 11, 2010, NLEX Corp. filed its Position Paper with the BIR reiterating its claim that it is not
subject to VAT on toll fees.

On April 3, 2014, the BIR accepted and approved the NLEX Corp’s application for abatement and
issued a Certificate of Approval for the cancellation of the basic output tax, interest and compromise
penalty amounting to P=1,011 million and P=585 million for taxable years 2006 and 2007, respectively.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, management believes, in consultation with its legal counsel, that in
any event, the STOA among NLEX Corp, ROP, acting by and through the TRB, and Philippine
National Construction Corporation (PNCC), provides NLEX Corp with legal recourse in order to
protect its lawful interests in case there is a change in existing laws, which makes the performance by
NLEX Corp of its obligations materially more expensive.

Real Property Tax (RPT).  In July 2008 and April 2013, NLEX Corp filed Petitions for Review under
Section 226 of the Local Government Code with the Local Board of Assessment Appeals (LBAA) of
the Province of Bulacan seeking to declare as null and void tax declarations issued by the Provincial
Assessor of the Province of Bulacan.  The said tax declarations were issued in the name of NLEX
Corp as owner/administrator/beneficial user of the NLEX and categorized the NLEX as a commercial
property subject to RPT.  The LBAA has yet to conduct an ocular inspection to determine whether the
properties, subject of the tax declarations, form part of the NLEX, which NLEX Corp. argues is
property of the public dominion and exempt from RPT.

In September 2013, NLEX Corp. received notices of realty tax delinquencies for the years 2006 to
2012 and 2013 issued by the Provincial Treasurer of Bulacan stating that if NLEX Corp fails to pay
or remit the alleged delinquent taxes, the remedies provided for under the law for the collection of
delinquent taxes shall be applied to enforce collection.  In September 27, 2013, the Bureau of Local
Government Finance of the Department of Finance (DOF-BLGF) wrote a letter to the Province of
Bulacan advising it to hold in abeyance any further course of action pertaining to the alleged real
property tax delinquency.  In October 2013, the Provincial Treasurer of Bulacan has respected the
directive from the DOF-BLGF to hold the enforcement of any collection remedies in abeyance.  In
January 2017, the Provincial Treasurer of Bulacan issued a notice of realty tax delinquencies for the
years 2006 to 2017 stating that it could apply the remedies provided under the law for the collection
of delinquent taxes.

The outcome of the claims on real property tax cannot be presently determined.  The management of
NLEX Corp believes that these claims will not have a significant impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and believes that the STOA also provides NLEX Corp with legal
recourse in order to protect its lawful interests in case there is a change in existing laws which makes
the performance by NLEX Corp of its obligations materially more expensive.

Others. The companies in the toll operations segment are also parties to other cases and claims
arising from the ordinary course of business filed by third parties, which are either pending decisions
by the courts or are subject to settlement agreements.  The outcome of these claims cannot be
presently determined.  In the opinion of management and its legal counsel, the eventual liability from
these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Power

4th Regulatory Period Reset Application.  MERALCO was among the first entrants to the
Performance-Based Regulation (PBR).  Rate setting under PBR is governed by the Rules for Setting
Distribution Wheeling Rates (RDWR).  The PBR scheme sets tariffs based on the regulated asset base
of the Distribution Utility (DU), and the required operating and capital expenditures once every
regulatory period (RP), to meet operational performance and service level requirements responsive to
the need for adequate, reliable and quality power, efficient service, growth of all customer classes in
the franchise area as approved by the Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC).  PBR also employs a
mechanism that penalizes or rewards a DU depending on its network and service performance.  Rate
filings and setting are done every RP where one RP consists of four regulatory years.  A regulatory
year (RY) begins on July 1st and ends on June 30th of the following year.
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The last year of MERALCO’s 3rd RP ended on June 30, 2015. The 4th RP for Group “A” entrants
commenced on July 1, 2015 and shall end on June 30, 2019.  To initiate the reset process, the ERC
posted in its website on April 12, 2016 the following draft issuance for comments, to wit:

a) Draft “Rules for Setting Distribution Wheeling Rates for Privately Owned DUs Operating under
Performance Based Regulation, First Entry Group: Fourth Regulatory Period”;

b) Draft “Position Paper: Regulatory Reset for the July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2019 Fourth Regulatory
Period for the First Entry Group of Privately Owned DUs subject to Performance Based
Regulation”; and

c) Draft “Commission Resolution on the Issues on the Implementation of PBR for Privately Owned
DUs under the RDWR”.

Under ERC Resolution No. 25, Series of 2016 dated July 12, 2016, the ERC promulgated a
Resolution modifying the RDWR for Privately-Owned DUs Entering PBR.

On December 2, 2016, the ERC released a Notice of Proposed Rule-Making setting the petition filed
by a consumer group for initial hearing on January 9, 2017. All interested parties were given until
December 26, 2016 to file their comments on said Petition.

In the Petition, the consumer group seeks a repeal of the PBR rate-setting methodology for setting
distribution wheeling rates. In a subsequent Order and Notice of Public Hearing, the ERC reset the
hearing to January 23, 2017 and gave interested parties until January 9, 2017 to file their respective
comments to the Petition.  MERALCO filed its Comment to the Petition on January 9, 2017.
Hearings were scheduled on May 15 and June 21, 2017. The ERC Order for the date of the next
public consultation is pending.

In a Notice dated November 16, 2016, the ERC approved the draft “Regulatory Asset Base Roll
Forward Handbook for Privately Owned Electricity Distribution Utilities” (RAB Handbook) for
posting in its website. All interested parties were given until December 19, 2016 to submit their
respective comments to the draft RAB Handbook. Thereafter, during the public consultation on
January 9, 2017, the parties were given until February 9, 2017 to file their comments to the draft RAB
Handbook.  In an Omnibus Motion filed on February 9, 2017, MERALCO submitted its initial
comments to the draft RAB Handbook but moved for the deferment of the proceedings until the
consumer group Petition has been resolved.  As at March 5, 2019, the ERC has yet to resolve
MERALCO’s Omnibus Motion.

5th Regulatory Period Reset Application. As MERALCO is approaching the end of its 4th RP on
June 30, 2019, it filed a Petition for the Adoption of the Proposed Issues Paper and Revised RDWR
for the 5th RP of the First Entry Group under PBR of December 21, 2018.  As at March 5, 2019, the
ERC has yet to at on MERALCO’s Petition.

Interim Average Rate for RY 2016. On June 11, 2015, MERALCO filed its application for the
approval of its proposed Interim Average Rate of P=1.3939 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) and translation
thereof into rate tariffs by customer category.  On July 10, 2015, the ERC provisionally approved the
Interim Average Rate of P=1.3810 per kWh and the rate translation per customer class, which was
reflected in the customer bills starting July 2015.  MERALCO has completed the presentation of its
evidence and is set to file its Formal Offer of Evidence (“FOE”) after the ERC rules on pending
motions. As at March 5, 2019, the ERC’s ruling on these motions is pending.
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Capital Expenditures (“CAPEX”) for 4th RP.  Absent the release by the ERC of the final rules to
govern the filing of its 4th RP reset, MERALCO filed its applications for approval of authority to
implement its CAPEX program pursuant to Section 20(b) of Commonwealth Act No. 146, as
amended, otherwise known as the Public Service Act.

RY
MERALCO’s
application date

Proposed
CAPEX amount Status of applications as at March 5, 2019

2016 February 9, 2015 P=17.7 billion On June 15, 2016, MERALCO received a copy of the ERC
Decision dated April 12, 2016 which partially approved
MERALCO’s CAPEX program for RY 2016 amounting to
P=15.5 billion out of the total RY 2016 CAPEX of
P=17.7 billion, subject to certain conditions. An intervenor
has filed a Motion for Reconsideration (“MR”) on the
Decision which is pending before the ERC. On July 25,
2016, MERALCO filed its opposition to the MR. As at
March 5, 2019, the ERC ruling on the MRs is pending.

2017 March 8, 2016 P=15.4 billion On July 26, 2016, MERALCO received the Order dated
May 5, 2016, which partially approved MERALCO’s
CAPEX program for RY 2017 amounting to P=8.8 billion,
subject to certain conditions. On August 10, 2016,
MERALCO filed a Motion for Partial Reconsideration on
the requirement to submit an accounting of the depreciation
fund. Hearings on the application have been completed. On
September 14, 2016, MERALCO filed a Motion for
Resolution.  Subsequently, on April 25, 2017, MERALCO
filed a Very Urgent Motion for Resolution of the
application. Thereafter, on October 18, 2017, MERALCO
filed a Manifestation and Urgent Motion for Resolution. On
November 9, 2017, MERALCO filed a Manifestation with
Third Urgent Motion to Resolve the Application.
MERALCO is awaiting the final decision of the ERC.

2018 April 3, 2017 P=18.8 billion On May 26, 2017, MERALCO received the Order dated
May 15, 2017, which set the case for initial hearing.
Hearings were conducted on June 22 and August 1, 2017,
August 25, 2017 and September 22, 2017. A conference
was also conducted with the ERC technical staff and the
intervenor on October 12, 2017. On November 9, 2017,
MERALCO filed its FOE. MERALCO also filed
Manifestations on November 9, 2017 and March 28, 2018,
informing the ERC that it was constrained to implement
several projects in order to avert service interruptions to its
customers and maintain a robust distribution infrastructure.
The case has been submitted for decision.

2019 April 30, 2018 P=21.0 billion Hearings on the case are ongoing.

Supreme Court (SC) Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) on December 2013 Increase in MERALCO
Billing Rate.  On December 9, 2013, the ERC gave clearance to the request of MERALCO to
implement a staggered collection over three (3) months covering the December 2013 billing month
for the increase in generation charge and other bill components such as value added tax, local
franchise tax, transmission charge, and system loss charge.  The generation costs for the November
2013 supply month increased significantly because of the aberrant spike in the Wholesale Electricity
Spot Market (WESM) charges on account of the non-compliance with WESM Rules by certain plants



- 96 -

*SGVFS032824*

resulting in significant power generation capacities not being offered and dispatched, and the
scheduled and extended shutdowns, and the forced outages, of several base load power plants, and the
use of the more expensive liquid fuel or bio-diesel by the natural gas-fired power plants that were
affected by the Malampaya Gas Field, shutdown from November 11 to December 10, 2013.

On December 19, 2013, several party-list representatives of the House of Representatives filed a
Petition against MERALCO, ERC and the DOE before the SC, questioning the ERC clearance
granted to MERALCO to charge the resulting price increase, alleging the lack of hearing and due
process.  It also sought for the declaration of the unconstitutionality of the Electric Power Industry
Reform Act (EPIRA), which essentially declared the generation and supply sectors competitive and
open, and not considered public utilities.  A similar petition was filed by a consumer group and
several private homeowners associations challenging also the legality of the Automatic Generation
Rate Adjustment (AGRA) that the ERC had promulgated.  Both petitions prayed for the issuance of
TRO, and a Writ of Preliminary Injunction.

On December 23, 2013, the SC consolidated the two (2) Petitions and granted the application for
TRO effective immediately and for a period of 60 days, which effectively enjoined the ERC and
MERALCO from implementing the price increase. The SC also ordered MERALCO, ERC and DOE
to file their respective comments to the Petitions. Oral Arguments were conducted on January 21,
2014, February 4, 2014 and February 11, 2014.  Thereafter, the SC ordered all the Parties to the
consolidated Petitions to file their respective Memorandum on or before February 26, 2014 after
which the Petitions will be deemed submitted for resolution of the SC. MERALCO complied with
said directive and filed its Memorandum on said date.

On February 18, 2014, acting on the motion filed by the Petitioners, the SC extended for another
60 days or until April 22, 2014, the TRO that it originally issued against MERALCO and ERC last
December 23, 2013.  The TRO was also similarly applied to certain generating companies, the
NGCP, and the Philippine Electricity Market Corporation (PEMC; the administrator of WESM and
market operator) who were all enjoined from collecting from MERALCO the deferred amounts
representing the P=4.15 per kWh price increase for the November 2013 supply month.

In the meantime, on January 30, 2014, MERALCO filed an Omnibus Motion with Manifestation with
the ERC for the latter to direct PEMC to conduct a re-run or re-calculation of the WESM prices for
the supply months of November to December 2013.  Subsequently, on February 17, 2014,
MERALCO filed with the ERC an Application for the recovery of deferred generation costs for the
December 2013 supply month praying that it be allowed to recover the same over a six (6)-month
period.

On March 3, 2014, the ERC issued an Order voiding the Luzon WESM prices during the November
and December 2013 supply months on the basis of the preliminary findings of its Investigating Unit
that these are not reasonable, rational and competitive, and imposing the use of regulated rates for the
said period. PEMC was given seven (7) days upon receipt of the Order to calculate these regulated
prices and implement the same in the revised WESM bills of the concerned DUs in Luzon. PEMC’s
recalculated power bills for the supply month of December 2013 resulted in a net reduction of the
December 2013 supply month bill of the WESM by P=9.3 billion. Due to the pendency of the TRO, no
adjustment was made to the WESM bill of MERALCO for the November 2013 supply month.  The
timing of amounts to be credited to MERALCO is dependent on the reimbursement of PEMC from
associated generator companies. However, several generating companies have filed motions for
reconsideration questioning the Order dated March 3, 2014. MERALCO has filed a consolidated
comment to these motions for reconsideration. In an Order dated October 15, 2014, the ERC denied
the motions for reconsideration.  The generating companies have appealed the Orders with the CA.
MERALCO has filed a motion to intervene and a comment in intervention. The CA consolidated the
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cases filed by the generation companies. In a Decision dated November 7, 2017, the CA set aside
ERC Orders dated March 3, 2014, March 27, 2014, May 9, 2014 and October 15, 2014 and declared
the orders null and void. The Decision then reinstated and declared valid WESM prices for the
November and December 2013 supply months. MERALCO and the ERC have filed their respective
motions for reconsideration. Several consumers also intervened inhe case and filed their respective
motions for reconsideration. The CA has yet to resolve the motions for reconsideration filed by
MERALCO and ERC.

In view of the pendency of the various submissions before the ERC and mindful of the complexities
in the implementation of ERC’s Order dated March 3, 2014, the ERC directed PEMC to provide the
market participants an additional period of 45 days to comply with the settlement of their respective
adjusted WESM bills.  In an Order dated May 9, 2014, the parties were then given an additional non-
extendible period of 30 days from receipt of the Order within which to settle their WESM bills.
However, in an Order dated June 6, 2014 and acting on an intervention filed by Angeles Electric
Corporation, the ERC deemed it appropriate to hold in abeyance the settlement of PEMC’s adjusted
WESM bills by the market participants.

On April 22, 2014, the SC extended indefinitely the TRO issued on December 23, 2013 and
February 18, 2014 and directed generating companies, NGCP and PEMC not to collect from
MERALCO.  As at March 5, 2019, the SC has yet to resolve the various petitions filed against
MERALCO, ERC, and DOE.

ERC and DOE Resolutions on Retail Competition and Open Access Prohibiting the Operations of the
Local Retail Electricity Supply business segment.  On March 8, 2016, the ERC promulgated
Resolution No. 05 Series of 2016 entitled “A Resolution Adopting the 2016 Rules Governing the
Issuance of Licenses to Retail Electricity Suppliers (RES) and Prescribing the Requirements and
Conditions Therefor”.  The Resolution removed the term Local RES as one of the entities that may
engage in the business of supplying electricity to the Contestable Market without need of obtaining a
license therefor from the ERC.  Moreover, while an affiliate of a DU is allowed to become a RES, the
allowance is “subject to restrictions imposed by the ERC on market share limits and the conduct of
business activities”.

On May 12, 2016, the ERC issued Resolutions No. 10 and 11, Series of 2016, which:

§ Provided for Mandatory contestability. Failure of a Contestable Customer to switch to RES upon
date of mandatory contestability (December 26, 2016 for those with average demand of at least
one (1) MW and June 26, 2017 for at least 750 MW) shall result in the physical disconnection
from the DU system unless it is served by the Suppliers of Last Resort (SOLR, or, if applicable,
procures power from the WESM);

§ Prohibits DUs from engaging in the Supply of electricity to the Contestable Market except in its
capacity as a SOLR;

§ Mandates Local RESs to wind down their supply businesses within a period of three (3) years;

§ Imposes upon all RESs, including DU-affiliate RESs, a market-share cap of 30% of the total
average monthly peak demand of all contestable customers in the competitive retail electricity
market; and,

§ Prohibits RESs from transacting more than 50% of the total energy transactions of its Supply
business, with its affiliate Contestable Customers.
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On May 27, 2016, MERALCO filed a Petition before Pasig RTC, praying that : (a) a TRO and
subsequently a Writ of Preliminary Injunction (“WPI”) enjoining the DOE and ERC from
implementing the Assailed Rules be issued; and the Assailed Rules be declared null and void for
being contrary to the EPIRA and its IRR.  In an Order dated July 13, 2016, RTC-Pasig granted a
WPI, which became effective on July 14, 2016, and shall be effective for the duration of the pendency
of the Petition.

Meanwhile, ERC filed a Petition for Certiorari and Prohibition with prayer for TRO and/or WPI
before the SC (“SC Petition”), which asserted that RTC-Pasig has no jurisdiction to take cognizance
of MERALCO’s Petition, citing Sec. 78 of the EPIRA.  A similar petition was subsequently filed by
the DOE before the SC.

On October 10, 2016, the SC, in relation to the Petition filed by DOE, issued a TRO that restrained,
MERALCO, the RTC Pasig, their representatives, agents or other persons acting on their behalf from
continuing the proceedings before the RTC Pasig, and from enforcing all orders, resolutions and
decisions rendered in Special Civil Action No. 4149 until the petition before the SC is finally
resolved.  In a Resolution dated November 9, 2016, the SC denied MERALCO’s MR.

On November 2, 2016, in relation to the Petition filed by the ERC, the SC issued a Resolution dated
September 26, 2016, which partially granted the ERC Petition.  While the SC allowed the RTC to
proceed with the principal case of declaratory relief, it nonetheless issued a Preliminary Mandatory
Injunction (“PMI”) against RTC Pasig to vacate the preliminary injunction it previously issued, and
Preliminary Injunction (“PI”) ordering the RTC Pasig to refrain issuing further orders and resolutions
tending to enjoin the implementation of EPIRA.  On November 14, 2016, MERALCO filed a Motion
for Partial Reconsideration with Very Urgent Motion to lift PMI/ PI.

On November 24, 2016, the ERC promulgated a resolution moving the contestability date of end
users with an average monthly peak demand of at least one (1) MW from December 31, 2016 to
February 26, 2017.  On January 17, 2017, MERALCO, through counsel, received an SC Resolution
dated December 5, 2016, which consolidated the SC DOE Petition with the SC ERC Petition.  The
same resolution also denied the Motion for Partial Reconsideration filed by MERALCO.

In relation to the ERC and DOE Petitions, a separate Petition for Certiorari, Prohibition and
Injunction was filed by Philippine Chamber of Commerce and Industry (“PCCI”), San Beda College
Alabang, Inc., Ateneo de Manila University and Riverbanks Development Corporation. In said
Petition PCCI et. al sought to declare as null and void, as well as to enjoin the DOE and ERC from
implementing DOE Circular No. 2015-06- 0010, Series of 2015, ERC Resolution Nos. 5, 10, 11 and
28, Series of 2016. Acting on the Petition, the Supreme Court en banc through a Resolution dated
February 21, 2017, issued a TRO enjoining the DOE and the ERC from implementing DOE Circular
No. 2015-06- 0010 Series of 2015, ERC Resolution Nos. 5, 10, 11 and 28 Series of 2016. Pursuant to
the foregoing, PEMC has taken the position that the TRO enjoined the voluntary contestability of
750 kW to 999 kW customers and has not allowed them to switch to the contestable market. The
DOE, in a press release, has advised that it is in the process, together with PEMC and ERC, of
drafting a general advisory for the guidance of RCOA stakeholders. The PCCI petition was
consolidated with two other separate petitions filed by Siliman University and several distribution
utilities. The DOE and ERC have also filed a consolidated comment on these petitions.

On November 29, 2017, the DOE issued two (2) DOE Circulars, namely, DC 2017-12-0013, entitled,
Providing Policies on the Implementation of RCOA for Contestable Customers in the Philippine
Electric Power Industry and DC 2017-12-0014, entitled Providing Policies on the Implementation of
RCOA for RES in the Philippine Electric Power Industry. The DOE Circulars became effective on
December 24, 2017.
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Under the DOE Circular No. DC 2017-12-0013, it is provided that voluntary participation for
contestable customers under RCOA Phase 2 shall now be allowed upon effectivity of the said
Circular, while voluntary participation of contestable customers with a monthly average peak demand
of 50 kW to 749 kW for preceding 12 months and demand aggregation for electricity end-users
within a contiguous area with an aggregate average peak demand of not less than 500 kW for the
preceding 12-month period, will also be allowed by June 26, 2018 and December 26, 2018,
respectively.

On December 22, 2017, MERALCO wrote ERC and DOE seeking guidance on the impact of the
DOE Circulars in the light of the TRO issued by the SC. The DOE responded on January 18, 2018
that there is no legal impediment to the implementation of the DOE Circulars but it defers to the OSG
for guidance on the legal aspect of the issuances. As at March 5, 2019, the ERC has yet to respond to
MERALCO’s letter.

Others.  MERALCO and its subsidiaries are subject to various pending or threatened legal actions in
the ordinary course of business which, if the conclusion is unfavorable to MERALCO and
subsidiaries, may result in the payout of substantial claims and/or the adjustment of electricity
distribution rates.  These contingencies substantially represent the amounts of claims related to a
commercial contract which remains unresolved and local taxes being contested.  Other disclosures
required by PAS 37 were not provided as it may prejudice MERALCO’s position in on–going claims,
litigations and assessments.

Rail

Claims with Grantors.  In accordance with Schedule 5 of the LRT-1  Concession Agreement
(see Note 30), LRMC is entitled to claim ESR costs and LRV shortfall, fare deficit, SDR costs and
Grantor’s compensation payment.  As at March 5, 2019, LRMC has submitted 14 letters (first to
fourteenth Balancing Payments) to the DOTr representing its claims.

All claims are still undergoing discussion as at March 5, 2019.

Others

Donor’s Tax. NOHI received on January 14, 2011 a Final Assessment Notice (FAN) demanding the
payment of approximately P=170.2 million as deficiency donor’s tax (comprising of the basic tax due
and 25% surcharge) on the excess of the book value over the selling price of several shares of stock in
Bonifacio Land Corporation (BLC) which NOHI sold to a third party.  The assessment was based on
the finding of the Bureau of Internal Revenue–Large Taxpayer Service (BIR–LTS) that the
transaction is subject to donor’s tax as a “deemed gift” transaction under Section 100 of the 1997
National Internal Revenue Tax Code (the Tax Code).

On February 14, 2011, NOHI filed its formal protest to the FAN raising several factual and legal
arguments.  However, this was denied by the BIR through the letter it has delivered to NOHI stating
its Final Decision on Disputed Assessment (FDDA).  NOHI then filed a Petition for Review with the
Second Division of the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA) to challenge the FDDA.

On May 4, 2016, the CTA En Banc promulgated its decision, which was received on May 13, 2016,
denying the company’s Petition for Review dated October 21, 2014 and affirming the adverse
decision of the Second Division of the Court dated June 11, 2014 and Resolution of the Second
Division dated September 16, 2014 which denied NOHI's Motion for Reconsideration.  On
October 28, 2016, NOHI received a copy of the Resolution of the CTA En Banc dated
October 18, 2016 denying NOHI’s Motion for Reconsideration.
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On December 12, 2016, NOHI filed with the SC the required Petition for Review as appeal from the
decision and resolution of the CTA En Banc.  On March 14, 2017, NOHI received a copy of the
Resolution dated January 23, 2017 of the Supreme Court denying NOHI’s Petition for Review on the
decision of the Court of Tax Appeals en banc which affirmed the decision of the CTA Second
Division ordering NOHI to pay donor’s tax.  On March 28, 2017, NOHI filed a Motion for
Reconsideration on the aforesaid Resolution of the Supreme Court.  On October 3, 2017, NOHI
received the Resolution dated July 26, 2017 of the SC denying the Motion for Reconsideration.

As at December 31, 2018, NOHI partially settled amount due to BIR of P=397 million.  As at
March 5, 2019, NOHI is awaiting BIR’s decision on NOHI’s request for abatement of delinquency
interest given that NOHI is no longer operating and already undergoing liquidation.

30. Significant Contracts, Agreements and Commitments

Issuance of Exchangeable Bond to GIC Private Limited (GIC).   On July 2, 2014, GIC, through Arran
Investment Private Limited, invested P=3.7 billion for a 14.4% stake in MPHHI and paid
P=6.5 billion as consideration for an Exchangeable Bond which can be exchanged into a 25.5% stake
in MPHHI in the future (see Note 6).  The Exchangeable Bond was accounted for as an equity
instrument with the interest accruing on the Exchangeable Bond recorded at its present value.

Interest payable as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to P=120 million and P=119 million,
respectively.  Deferred tax liability with respect to the future conversion of the Exchangeable Bond to
MPHHI shares, amounting to P=725 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was also recognized
against equity (see Note 26).

Substrate Conversion Agreements (SCA).  On November 19, 2018, MetPower Ventures Partners
Holdings, Inc. (MVPHI), through Surallah Biogas Ventures Corp., finalized and signed the SCA with
Dole Philippines, Inc. (DPI) to design, construct, and operate biogas facilities specifically for DPI.
MPIC has earmarked about P=1.0 billion for this project.  This project involves establishing integrated
waste-to-energy (WTE) facilities to primarily address the waste disposal concerns of DPI and to use
the derived biogas from the processing of the fruit waste to supply a portion of the diesel and power
requirements of the canneries of DPI in Surallah and Polomok, both located in South Cotabato.  The
integrated WTE facility, consisting of a biogas plant and an embedded power generation facility shall
be established, owned and operated by a special purpose company within the facilities of the
end-user.

As at March 5, 2019, the Project is expected to commence operations by 2020.

Project for the Rehabilitation, Operations, and Maintenance of the Ninoy Aquino International
Airport (“NAIA”).  On December 21, 2017, MPIC agreed to form a consortium with Aboitiz
InfraCapital Inc., AC Infrastructure Holdings Corporation, Alliance Global Group Inc., AEDC,
Filinvest Development Corporation and JG Summit Holdings Inc. for the rehabilitation, operations,
and maintenance of the NAIA through an unsolicited proposal which was submitted to the
Department of Transportation on February 12, 2018.
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The project is estimated to cost up to P=350 billion over the life of its concession.  The project is
divided into two phases – Phase 1 includes improvements and expansion of terminals in the current
NAIA land area, while Phase 2 involves the development of an additional runway, taxiways,
passenger terminals and associated support infrastructure.

In September 2018, the NAIA Consortium was granted Original Proponent Status from the
Department of Transportation and the Manila International Airport Authority for its unsolicited
proposal.  Following the grant of Original Proponent Status, the NAIA Consortium’s proposal shall
be subject to review and approval by the NEDA Board and to a Swiss Challenge in accordance with
the requirements of RA 7718 or the Build-Operate-Transfer Law.

As at March 5, 2019, the Project is still awaiting approval from the NEDA Board.

Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessee.  The Company leases various offices, land,
warehouses, vehicles, equipment and others under non-cancellable operating leases. The leases have
varying terms, escalation clauses and are renewable under certain terms and conditions to be agreed
upon by the parties.

Total rent expense (included in accounts “Cost of sales and services” and “General and administrative
expenses”) for the above operating leases amounted to P=818 million, P=604 million and
P=363 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Future minimum operating lease payments as at December 31 are:

Period Covered 2018 2017
(In Millions)

Not later than one year P=500 P=467
More than one year and not later than five years 869 899
More than five years 512 272

Power

Electric Power Purchase Agreements (EPPA). GBPC’s power generation facilities consist of:
(i) 246 MW clean coal-fired power plant in Toledo City, Cebu, which is operated by Cebu Energy
Development Corporation (CEDC); (ii) 164 MW and 150 MW clean coal-fired power plants in Iloilo
City, which is operated by Panay Energy Development Corporation (PEDC); (iii) 60 MW coal facility,
an 82 MW clean coal fired power plant and a 40 MW fuel oil facility operated by Toledo Power Co.
(TPC); (iv) a 72 MW fuel oil facility, a 20 MW fuel oil facility, a 7.5 MW fuel oil facility and a 5 MW
fuel oil facility operated by Panay Power Corporation (PPC); and (v) 7.5 MW fuel oil facility operated by
GBH Power Resources Inc.

GBPC, through its operating generation subsidiaries, entered into bilateral off-take arrangements with
power off-takers such as distribution utilities, electric cooperatives, retail electricity suppliers and directly
connected industrial customers which together accounted for 89% and 92% of GBPC’s total electricity
sales for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Long-term Coal Supply Agreements.  In order to ensure that there is an adequate supply of coal to
operate the power plants, the respective operating plants has entered into several long-term contracts
with local and foreign coal suppliers. The long-term supply agreements are as follows:
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PEDC

Supplier Coal Type
Contract
Duration Price Basis Quantity per Year

Semirara Mining and Power Corporation Local 2010 - 2019 New C Index
with Forex 300,000 MT

PT Sakti Nusantara Bakti Indonesia 2017 - 2026 New C Index 150,000 MT
Samtan Co., Ltd. Indonesia 2011 - 2020 New C Index 150,000 MT
Samsung C&T Corporation Russian 2016 - 2020 Fixed Price 350,000 MT

CEDC

Supplier Coal Type
Contract
Duration Price Basis Quantity per Year

Semirara Mining and Power Corporation Local 2010 - 2019 New C Index
with Forex 400,000 MT

PT Adaro Indonesia 2017 - 2019 New C Index 300,000 MT
Samsung C&T Corporation Russian 2016 - 2020 Fixed Price 300,000 MT

TPC

Supplier Coal Type
Contract
Duration Price Basis Quantity per Year

Semirara Mining and Power Corporation Local 2015 - 2018 New C Index
with Forex 180,000 MT

Transfer of transmission facilities to the National Grid Corporation of the Philippines (NGCP).  In
2016, the ERC issued Resolution No. 23, Series of 2016 “A Resolution Adopting Amended Rules on
the Definition and Boundaries of Connection Assets for Customers of Transmission Providers”.
Section 7 (Transitory Provision) of the ERC Resolution No. 23-2016 mandates the Generation
Companies to start the disposal or transfer of their assets with transmission functions in favor of
NGCP, Transmission Provider before the generation company’s Renewal of its Certificate of
Compliance.

To comply with the Resolution, GBPC’s generation subsidiaries, namely PEDC, TPC and CEDC
entered into an agreement with the NGCP for the transfer of the generation companies’ transmission
facilities which ownership was expected to be transferred to NGCP in 2018.  NGCP made a deposit
amounting to P=159 million which is included in the Company’s “Accounts payable and accrued
expenses” as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

While the expected disposal did not happen in 2018 due to delays outside of GBPC’s control, GBPC
is nonetheless committed to comply with Resolution requiring the transfer of such transmission
facilities.  The carrying value of the assets to be transferred to NGCP was presented as “Assets held
for sale” in the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Final Acceptance of PEDC 3.  In 2014, PEDC began the construction of PEDC 3 in its existing Panay
Coal Plant Facility in Barangay Ingore, La Paz, Iloilo City.  PEDC 3 is registered with the Board of
Investments (BOI) under BOI Registration Number 2014-110 on July 22, 2014.  PEDC declared
commercial operations of its 150 MW Expansion Plant on January 26, 2017 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of its Power Supply Agreements.  The Plant issued the Taking Over Certificate
on May 31, 2018.
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Market Participation Agreement (MPA).  GBPC, through its power generation companies, sells
electricity through its bilateral power supply agreements or the WESM.  In 2011, GBPC’s
subsidiaries and the PEMC entered into an MPA setting forth the terms and conditions for the
eligibility of the entities to participate in the WESM and which allows electricity to be injected into or
withdrawn from the Grid.  For the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, GBPC and subsidiaries
have sales from WESM transactions that amounted to P=2,503 million and P=1,533 million while
purchased power from the WESM amounted to P=1,607 million and P=1,114 million.

Integrated Solid Waste Management Facility Project (ISWM Project).  In March 2017, the
consortium consisting of MPIC, Covanta Energy, LLC and Macquarie Group, Ltd. was granted
Original Proponent Status (OPS) by The Quezon City Government to design, construct, finance, and
operate an ISWM Project. The ISWM facility will be capable of processing and converting up to
3,000 metric tons per day of Quezon City’s municipal solid waste into 42MWe of renewable energy,
enough to power between 60,000 to 90,000 homes. The ISWM Project will be undertaken through a
Joint Venture between QC LGU and the consortium in accordance with QC LGU Ordinance: No.
SP-2336, s. 2014 (QC PPP Code).

As the original proponent of the ISWM Project, the consortium will have the exclusive rights to enter
into detailed negotiations with the QC LGU.  Upon successful completion of negotiations, the ISWM
Project will be subjected to a competitive challenge consistent with government regulations.  If and
when the consortium is awarded the ISWM Project, development and construction would take
approximately three (3) to four (4) years. It is expected that this project will be funded through a
combination of debt and equity.

With no comparable proposals, the MPIC-led consortium expects to receive the Notice of Award by
first half of 2019.  MPIC intends for MPCEH to be the holding company for its investment in the
ISWM Project and similar undertakings.

Toll Operations

Concession Arrangements

§ NLEX Corp –STOA for the North Luzon Expressway (NLEX).  In August 1995, First Philippine
Infrastructure Development Corporation (currently MPT North), the parent company of NLEX
Corp, entered into a joint venture agreement with Philippine National Construction Corporation
(PNCC), in which PNCC assigned its rights, interests and privileges under its franchise to
construct, operate and maintain toll facilities in the NLEX and its extensions, stretches, linkages
and diversions in favor of NLEX Corp, including the design, funding, construction, rehabilitation,
refurbishing and modernization and selection and installation of an appropriate toll collection
system therein during the concession period subject to prior approval by the President of the
Philippines.  In April 1998, the Philippine government, acting by and through the Toll Regulatory
Board (TRB) as the grantor, PNCC as the franchisee and NLEX Corp as the concessionaire,
executed a STOA whereby the Philippine government recognized and accepted the assignment by
PNCC of its usufructuary rights, interests and privileges under its franchise in favor of NLEX
Corp as approved by the President of the Philippines and granted NLEX Corp concession rights,
obligations and privileges including the authority to finance, design, construct, operate and
maintain the NLEX project roads as toll roads commencing upon the date the STOA comes into
effect until December 31, 2030 or 30 years after the issuance of the Toll Operation Permit for the
last completed phase, whichever is earlier.  In October 2008, the concession agreement was
extended for another seven years to 2037.
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The concession agreement establishes a toll rate formula and adjustment procedure for setting the
appropriate toll rate.  Pursuant to the STOA, NLEX Corp is required to pay franchise fees to
PNCC (see Notes 21 and 30) and to pay for the Government’s project overhead expenses based
on certain percentages of construction costs and maintenance works on the project roads.  Upon
expiry of the concession period, NLEX Corp shall hand over the project roads to the Philippine
Government without cost, free from any and all liens and encumbrances and fully operational and
in good working condition, including any and all existing land required, works, toll road facilities
and equipment found therein directly related to and in connection with the operation of the toll
road facilities.

The Manila-North Expressway Project (MNEP) consists of three (3) phases as follows:

Phase       Description
Status/
Date of Operation

Phase I
(Segments 1, 2, 3 and 7)

Expansion and
rehabilitation

i. 84 kilometers (km) of the existing NLEX
ii. 8.8-km stretch of a Greenfield

expressway

February 5, 2005

Phase II
(Segments 8.1, 8.2, 9 and 10)

Construction i. 17-km circumferential road C-5 which
connects the current C-5 expressway to
the NLEX

Segment 8.1 –
June 5, 2010

ii. 5.85-km road from McArthur to Letre Segments 9 –
March 9, 2015
Segment 10 –
Officially opened on
February 28, 2019
Segment 8.2 – Pre
construction

Phase III
(Segments 4, 5 and 6)

Construction i. 57-km Subic arm of the NLEX to Subic
Expressway

Construction not yet
started

In consideration of the assignment by PNCC of its usufructuary rights, interests and privileges
under its franchise, PNCC is entitled to receive payment equivalent to 6% and 2% of the toll
revenues from the NLEX and Segment 7, respectively.  Any unpaid balance carried forward will
accrue interest at the rate of the latest Philippine 91-day Treasury bill rate plus 1% per annum.
This entitlement, as affirmed in the Amended and Restated Shareholders’ Agreement (ARSA)
dated September 30, 2004, shall be subordinated to operating expenses and the requirements of
the financing agreements and shall be paid out subject to availability of funds.

The PNCC franchise expired in May 2007.  On April 12, 2011, the SC issued a resolution
directing NLEX Corp to remit PNCC’s share in the net income from toll revenues to the National
Treasury, and the TRB, with the assistance of the Commission on Audit (COA), was directed to
prepare and finalize the implementing rules and guidelines relative to the determination of the net
income remittable by PNCC to the National Treasury.

In accordance with the TRB directive, 90% of the PNCC fee and dividends payable are to be
remitted to the TRB, while the balance of 10% to PNCC.

§ NLEX Corp – Toll Operation Agreement (TOA) for the Subic-Clark-Tarlac Expressway (SCTEX).
On February 9, 2015, NLEX Corp received the Notice of Award from the Bases Conversion and
Development Authority (BCDA) for the management, operation and maintenance of the
94-kilometer SCTEX subject to compliance with specific conditions.  On February 26, 2015,
NLEX Corp and BCDA entered into a Business Agreement involving the assignment of BCDA’s
rights and obligations relating to the management, operation and maintenance of SCTEX as
provided in the SCTEX concession.  The assignment includes the exclusive right to use the
SCTEX toll road facilities and the right to collect tolls until October 30, 2043.  On May 22, 2015,
the TOA was executed by and among the Philippine Government and BCDA and NLEX Corp.
At the end of the contract term, the SCTEX, as well as the as-built plans, specification and
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operation/repair/ maintenance manuals relating to the same shall be turned over to the BCDA or
its successor-in-interest.

At a consideration of P=3.5 billion upfront cash payment, the operation and management of the
SCTEX was officially turned over to NLEX Corp on October 27, 2015.  NLEX Corp shall also
pay BCDA monthly concession fees amounting to 50% of the Audited Gross Toll Revenues of
the SCTEX for the relevant month from effective date to October 30, 2043 (see Note 21).

§ NLEX Corp – Concession Agreement for the NLEX-SLEX Connector Road Project (Connector
Road).  The Connector Road is a four (4) lane toll expressway structure with a length of eight (8)
kilometers all passing through and above the right of way of the Philippine National Railways (PNR)
starting NLEX Segment 10 in C3 Road Caloocan City and seamlessly connecting to South Luzon
Expressway (SLEX) through Metro Manila Skyway Stage 3 Project.  On November 23, 2016,
NLEX Corp and the Republic of the Philippines (ROP) acting through the Department of Public
Works and Highways (DPWH), signed the Concession Agreement for the design, financing,
construction,  operation and maintenance of the NLEX-SLEX Connector Road.  The concession
period shall commence on the commencement date and shall end on its thirty-seventh (37th)
anniversary, unless otherwise extended or terminated in accordance with the Concession Agreement.
The construction of the Connector Project, with an estimated project cost of P=23.3 billion, is
expected to  complete by 2021.

Under the Concession Agreement, NLEX Corp will pay the DPWH periodic payments as
consideration for the grant of the Right of Way for the project (see Note 17).

During the concession period, NLEX Corp shall pay for the project overhead expenses to be
incurred by the DPWH and the TRB in the process of their monitoring, inspecting, evaluating and
checking the progress and quality of the activities and works undertaken by NLEX Corp.  NLEX
Corp’s liability for the payment of the project overhead expenses due to TRB shall not exceed
P=50 million and the liability for the payment of the project overhead expenses due the DPWH
shall not exceed P=200 million; provided, that these limits may be increased in case of inflation, or
in case of additional work due to a concessionaire variation that will result in an extension of the
construction period or concession period, upon mutual agreement of the parties in the concession
agreement.

§ CIC – Toll Operation Agreement (TOA) for the Manila - Cavite Expressway (CAVITEX).  CIC is
exclusively responsible for the design, financing and construction of the CAVITEX, pursuant to a
TOA dated July 26, 1996 entered into with the Philippine Reclamation Authority (PRA) and the
Government, acting through the TRB.  Responsibility for the supervision of the operation and
maintenance of the toll road, initially undertaken by the PRA, was also transferred to CIC
pursuant to an Operations and Maintenance Agreement dated November 14, 2006 and a voting
trust agreement dated November 16, 2006.  The concession for CAVITEX extends to 2033 for
the originally built road and to 2046 for a subsequent extension.  Upon expiry of the concession
period, CIC shall hand over the project to the Philippine Government.

The concession agreement establishes a toll rate formula and adjustment procedure for setting the
appropriate toll rate.

Pursuant to the TOA, PRA established PEA Tollways Corporation (PEATC), its wholly owned
subsidiary, to undertake the O&M obligations of the PRA under the TOA. PEATC shall collect
the toll fees from the toll paying traffic and deposit such collections to the O&M Account
maintained with a local bank.  On November 14, 2006, CIC, PRA and TRB entered into an O&M
Agreement to clarify and amend certain rights and obligations under the JVA and TOA covering
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the CAVITEX.  Included in the salient provisions of the O&M Agreement is the revenue sharing
provision between PRA and CIC.  PRA shall receive 8.5% of gross toll revenue, while CIC shall
receive 91.5% of the gross toll revenue and will absorb all O&M costs and expenses.  The share
of PRA shall be increased by 0.5% every periodic toll rate adjustment under the TOA but not to
exceed 10.0% of gross toll revenue at any one time during the repayment period of the loan.
Upon repayment in full of the loans and interest costs, advances, capital investment and the return
of equity, CIC and PRA shall share at the ratio of 40.0% and 60.0%, respectively, as originally
agreed upon under the JVA.  The current share of PRA based on gross revenue is 9.0% while
CIC’s share is 91.0% which took effect on the last toll rate adjustment on January 1, 2009.

Under the amended Joint Venture Agreement with PRA, each of the following expressways shall
be constructed in segments:

Phase Description
Status/
Date of Operation

Phase I Design and improvement i. 6.5 km R-1 Expressway which connects
the Airport Road to Zapote

ii. Extension of the 7 km R-1 Expressway
which connects the existing R-1
Expressway at Zapote to Noveleta

May 1998

May 2011

Phase II Design and construction i. Extension of the C-5 Link Expressway
which connects the R-1 Expressway to
the South Luzon Expressway (SLEX)

C-5 Link Expressway
joining C-5 Road in
Taguig to R-1
Expressway- Ongoing
Construction

§ MPCALA Holdings, Inc. (MPCALA) – Concession Agreement for the Cavite Laguna Expressway
(CALAEX).  On July 10, 2015, MPCALA signed the Concession Agreement for the CALAEX
Project with the DPWH.  Under the Concession Agreement, MPCALA is granted the concession
to design, finance, construct, operate and maintain the CALAEX, including the right to collect
toll fees, over a 35-year concession period.  The CALAEX is a closed-system tolled expressway
connecting the CAVITEX and the SLEX.  The CALAEX Project was awarded to MPCALA
following a competitive public bidding process where MPCALA was declared as the highest
complying bidder with its offer to pay the government concession fees amounting to P=27.3 billion
payable over nine (9) years from signing of the Concession Agreement (see Note 17).

On July 3, 2017, MPCALA issued the Notice to Proceed to Consunji signifying the official
commencement of construction works for the project (see Note 19).  The project is expected to be
completed and fully operational by 2022.

§ Cebu Cordova Link Expressway Corporation’s (CCLEC) Cebu Cordova Link Expressway
(CCLEX).  On October 3, 2016, CCLEC, Cebu City and Municipality of Cordova (as grantors)
signed the concession agreement for the CCLEX.  CCLEX, consists of the main alignment
starting from the Cebu South Coastal Road and ending at the Mactan Circumferential Road,
inclusive of interchange ramps aligning the Guadalupe River, the main span bridge, approaches,
viaducts, causeways, low-height bridges, at-grade road, toll plazas and toll operations center.

Under the concession agreement, CCLEC is granted the concession to design, finance, construct,
operate and maintain the CCLEX, including the right to collect toll fees over a 35-year
concession period.  CCLEX is estimated to cost P=26.3 billion.  No upfront payments or
concession fees are to be paid but the grantors shall share 2% of the project’s revenue.
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The Notice to Proceed for Construction for the CCLEX was already issued by the Grantors (City of
Cebu and Municipality of Cordova) to Cebu Cordova Link Expressway Corporation (CCLEC or the
Concessionaire) on July 4, 2018.

Construction is ongoing and expected to be completed by 2021.

§ Concession Agreements – PT Nusantara. As a result of a step acquisition (see Note 4), the
Company started consolidating PT Nusantara beginning July 2, 2018.  PT Nusantara’s concession
assets comprise of toll roads and water concession rights.  Toll road concession rights cover the
following toll road sections: (a) Tallo-Hasudin Airport; (b) Soekarno Hatta Port – Pettarani;
(c) Pondok Ranji and Pondok Aren.  The water concession rights pertain to right to treat and
distribute clean water in the Serang District, Banten in Indonesia.

Construction Contract for NLEX Segment 10.  On April 28, 2014, NLEX Corp signed a target cost
construction contract with Leighton Contractors (Asia) Ltd. (LCAL) for the construction of NLEX
Segment 10.  The contract structure is collaborative in nature and provides a risk and reward sharing
mechanism if the actual construction cost exceeds or falls below the agreed target.  LCAL’s performance
obligations under the contract are backed up by: (i) a bank–issued irrevocable stand–by letter of credit,
(ii) cash retention, and (iii) a guarantee issued by Leighton Asia Limited.

On May 8, 2014, NLEX Corp issued the notice to proceed to LCAL, signaling the start of
pre-construction activities.  Pursuant to the contract, NLEX Corp placed a reserve amount of P=889
million in an escrow account on July 28, 2014 to cover payment default leading to suspension of works.

The balance of the reserve account as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 amounted to
P=321 million.  Construction of Segment 10 was completed with the road accessible to the public in
February 2019.  The reserve amount shall be released within the first quarter of 2019.

Merger between NLEX Corp and TMC.  On October 19, 2016, the BOD of NLEX Corp approved the
proposed merger between NLEX Corp and TMC, with NLEX Corp as the surviving corporation.  On
November 17, 2016, majority of the stockholders of NLEX Corp confirmed and ratified the proposed
merger between MNTC and TMC, with MNTC as the surviving corporation.  As the surviving
corporation, NLEX Corp’s corporate existence shall continue and shall: (a) acquire all respective rights,
businesses, assets and other properties of TMC, and (b) assume all the debts and liabilities of TMC.

The SEC approved the merger on November 29, 2018 with effectivity date of December 14, 2018.  As a
result of the merger, MPTC’s ownership stake in NLEX Corp decreased from 75.3% as at
December 31, 2017 to 75.1% as at December 31, 2018.

Toll Collection Interoperability Agreement.  On September 15, 2017, NLEX Corp, together with together
with other local toll concessionaires/operators, Department of Transportation, DPWH, and Land
Transportation Office, signed the MOA for Toll Collection Interoperability with TRB; whereby the
concessionaires or facility operators agreed to timely, smoothly, and fairly implement the interoperability
of the electronic toll collection systems and cash payment systems of the covered expressways and of
future toll expressways, consistent with and subject to the concessionaires and operators’ respective
concession agreements, toll operations agreements, and supplemental toll operations agreement, as
applicable.

The agreement will be implemented in two phases and to be operationalized within twelve (12) months
from signing of the MOA.  The first phase covers electronic collection interoperability, while the second
phase covers cash collection interoperability.  As at March 5, 2019, the implementation is still on the
works.
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Grant of Original Proponent Status to MPT South for Cavite Tagaytay Batangas Expressway (CTBEx)
Project. On July 26, 2018, Metro Pacific Tollways South Corp. (MPT South), an indirect subsidiary of
MPIC, was granted Original Proponent Status by the DPWH in relation to its unsolicited proposal for the
CTBEx Project.

The CTBEx Project, a 50.42 kilometer toll facility, is intended to connect seamlessly with the CALAEX
and CAVITEX of MPTC and is expected to provide congestion relief to Aguinaldo Highway and
Tagaytay-Nasugbu road.  It is currently configured to have eight (8) main interchanges and two (2) spur
roads, and is estimated to cost approximately P=25 billion and if awarded, will be funded through a
combination of internally-generated funds and debt.

The final award of the CTBEx Project to MPT South will be subject to completion of all regulatory
approvals and the Swiss Challenge under existing laws.  In view of these requirements, the earliest that
the CTBEx Project can be awarded is in the third quarter of 2019, with construction to proceed soon
thereafter.

Water

Concession Arrangements

§ Maynilad concession agreement with Metropolitan Water Sewerage System (MWSS).  In
February 1997, Maynilad entered into a concession agreement with MWSS, with respect to the
MWSS West Service Area.  Under the concession agreement, MWSS grants Maynilad, the sole
right to manage, operate, repair, decommission and refurbish all fixed and movable assets
required to provide water and sewerage services in the West Service Area for 25 years ending in
2022.  In September 2009, MWSS approved an extension of its concession agreement with
Maynilad for another fifteen (15) years to 2037 (the expiration date).  The legal title to all
property, plant and equipment contributed to the existing MWSS system by Maynilad during the
concession period remains with Maynilad until the expiration date at which time, all rights, titles
and interests in such assets will automatically vest to MWSS.  Under the concession agreement,
Maynilad is entitled to charge its customers a Basic Standard tariff which is calculated to enable
Maynilad to recover all expenditures efficiently and prudently incurred, including Philippines
business taxes and concession fees while also providing Maynilad a real rate of return on the net
cash sum invested in the concession from time to time.  This tariff is subject to periodic changes
due principally to (a) an annual standard rate adjustment to compensate for changes in the CPI
subject to a rate adjustment limit; (b) an extraordinary price adjustment to account for the
financial consequences of the occurrence of certain unforeseen events subject to grounds
stipulated in the concession agreement; and (c) a rate rebasing mechanism which allows rates to
be adjusted every five (5) years. The rate rebasing adjustment allows for updates to estimates for
expenditures and demand forecasts while also resetting the real rate of return awarded to
Maynilad in light of changes to costs of funding.  Under Maynilad’s concession agreement with
the Philippine Government, any rate adjustment requires approval by MWSS and the Regulatory
Office (RO).

The Republic of the Philippines (ROP) also issued in favor of Maynilad on July 31, 1997 and
March 17, 2010 an undertaking which provides, among other things, that the ROP shall
indemnify Maynilad in respect of any loss that is occasioned by a delay caused by the ROP or
any government-owned agency in implementing any increase in the standard rates beyond the
date for its implementation in accordance with the concession agreement (the “Undertaking”).
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Other material commitments under Maynilad’s concession agreement are disclosed below.

§ PHI. In August 2012, Maynilad acquired a 100% interest in PHI, which engages in water
distribution business in certain areas in central and southern Luzon.  PHI is granted the sole right
to distribute water in these areas under certain concession agreements granted by the Philippine
government for 25 years to 2035.

§ Cagayan de Oro 100 MLD Bulk Water Supply Project (CDO BWS Project).  On August 14, 2017,
MPW signed a joint venture agreement with the Cagayan de Oro Water District (COWD) for the
formation of a joint venture company to undertake the supply of bulk treated water to address the
requirements Cagayan de Oro City.  The CDO BWS Project covers the (i) the delivery of at least
40 MLD of bulk treated water within the eastern sector of Cagayan De Oro, and (ii) the supply at
least 60 MLD of bulk treated water to service the requirements of the western sector in
accordance with the bulk water supply agreement.  At COBI’s option, the CDO BWS Project
may be implemented through (i) the design and construction of water production and
transmission facilities with a capacity of approximately 100 MLD, (ii) the acquisition of
ownership or leasehold rights to such production and transmission facilities and water rights, or
(iii) the purchase of bulk treated water for supply to the western sector.  The project has a term of
30 years (renewable for another 20 years subject to certain conditions).  Operations commenced
on December 31, 2017.

§ Metro Iloilo Bulk Water Supply Corporation (MIBWSC).  On July 4, 2016, pursuant to a Joint
Venture Agreement between MetroPac Iloilo Holdings Corporation (MILO; a wholly owned
subsidiary of MPW), and Metro Iloilo Water District (MIWD), created and established
MIBWSC, to implement the 170 Million Liters per Day (MLD) Bulk Water Supply Project
(BWS Project).  The BWS Project covers the (i) rehabilitation and upgrading of MIWD’s existing
55 MLD water facilities, (ii) the expansion and construction of new water facilities to increase
production to up to 115 MLD; and (iii) delivery of contracted water demand to MIWD in
accordance with the bulk water supply agreement.  The BWS Project covers a period from the
later of the Target Initial Delivery Date and the Initial Delivery Date and ending on the 25th
anniversary thereof and shall be extended for an additional 25 years counted from completion of
the agreed upon expansion obligation, but in no event shall exceed an aggregate of 50 years.  The
Initial Delivery Date is expected to take place in March 2019.

MIWD retains ownership of the existing facilities subject to the right of MIBWSC to access and
use.  MIBWSC in turn retains ownership of the new facilities but is required to handback the
BWS Project, including transfer of the full ownership of the new facilities, at the end of the
contract period.

On July 5, 2016, MIBWSC officially took over operations from the MIWD.

§ Metro Iloilo Water District Water (MIWD) Concession Joint Venture Project. On
November 13, 2018, MPW, entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with Metro Iloilo
Water District (MIWD) for the rehabilitation, operation, maintenance, and expansion of MIWD’s
existing water distribution system and construction of wastewater facilities (the “Project”).  On
January 17, 2019, Metro Pacific Iloilo Water, Inc., the joint venture corporation 80%-owned by
MPW and 20%-owned by MIWD, was organized pursuant to the provisions of the JVA.  The
joint venture corporation shall implement the Project and will have the right to bill and collect
tariff for the water supply and wastewater services provided to the customers in the service area
of MIWD.



- 110 -

*SGVFS032824*

The project cost for the duration of the 25-year concession is estimated at P=12.35 billion, with an
initial equity investment of P=745 million, of which MPW’s share is at P=596 million.

MPW provided performance security to MIWD amounting to P=60.0 million in the form of a
standby letter of credit.

MIWD’s service area includes Iloilo City and seven municipalities specifically Pavia, Oton,
Maasin, Cabatuan, Sta. Barbara, Leganes and San Miguel.

§ Dumaguete City Water District (DCWD) Water Concession Joint Venture Project.  On
May 16, 2018, MPW officially received from DCWD the Notice of Award for the rehabilitation,
operation, maintenance, and expansion of DCWD’s existing water distribution system and
development of wastewater facilities.

MPW and DCWD shall enter into a joint venture agreement upon completion of the post award
activities. A joint venture corporation shall be organized pursuant to the provisions set in the
JVA.  The joint venture corporation, 80%-owned by the private sectior partner and 20%-owned
by DCWD, shall be organized pursuant to the provisions set in the JVA.  The joint venture
corporation shall implement the project and will have the right to bill and collect for the supply of
water and wastewater services provided to customers in the service area of DCWD.

The project cost for the duration of the 25-year concession is estimated at P=1.62 billion, with an
initial equity investment of P=700 million, of which MPW’s share is at P=364 million.

DCWD serves Dumaguete City and portion of the Municipalities of Valencia, Sibulan and
Bacong.  As at March 5, 2019, the completion of conditions for the execution of the Project
Agreements are ongoing.

§ Pampanga Bulk Water Supply Project.  On August 31, 2017, MPW officially received the
Certificate of Acceptance, and the conferment of the Original Proponent Status for the Pampanga
Bulk Water Supply Project from the Office of the Governor of Pampanga.  MPW is currently in
detailed negotiations with the Province for the Project.  Upon successful completion of
negotiations, the project will be subjected to competitive challenge consistent with the Local
Government Code of the Philippines 1991 (the Code).

Commitments under Maynilad’s Concession Agreement with MWSS. Significant commitments under
the Concession Agreement follow:

a. Payment of concession fees (see Note 17)

b. Posting of performance bond

Under Section 6.9 of the Concession Agreement, Maynilad is required to post a performance
bond to secure the performance of its obligations under certain provisions of the Concession
Agreement.
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The aggregate amount drawable in one or more installments under such performance bond during
the Rate Rebasing Period to which it relates is set out below.

Rate Rebasing Period

Aggregate Amount
Drawable Under

Performance Bond
(In Millions)

First (August 1, 1997 – December 31, 2002) US$120.0
Second (January 1, 2003 – December 31, 2007) 120.0
Third (January 1, 2008 – December 31, 2012) 90.0
Fourth (January 1, 2013 – December 31, 2017) 80.0
Fifth (January 1, 2018 – May 6, 2022) 60.0

Within 30 days from the commencement of each renewal date, Maynilad shall cause the
performance bond to be reinstated to the full amount set forth above applicable for the year.

In connection with the extension of the term of Maynilad’s Concession Agreement, certain
adjustments to the obligation of Maynilad to post the performance bond under Section 6.9 of the
Concession Agreement have been approved and summarized as follows:

§ The aggregate amount drawable in one or more installments under each performance bond
during the Rate Rebasing Period to which it relates has been adjusted to US$30.0 million
until the Expiration Date;

§ The amount of the Performance Bond for the period covering 2023 to 2037 shall be mutually
agreed upon in writing by the MWSS and Maynilad consistent with the provisions of the
Concession Agreement.

§ Maynilad posted the Surety Bond for the amount of US$90.0 million issued by Prudential
Guarantee and Assurance, Inc. (the Surety) in favor of MWSS, as security for Maynilad’s
proper and timely performance of its obligations under the Concession Agreement.  On
December 14, 2017, Maynilad renewed the Surety Bond for the amount of US$80.0 million
issued by the Surety in favor of MWSS.  The liability of the Surety under this bond will
expire on January 1, 2021.

c. Payment of half of MWSS and MWSS–RO’s budgeted expenditures for the subsequent years,
provided the aggregate annual budgeted expenditures do not exceed P=200 million, subject to CPI
adjustments.  Beginning 2010, the annual budgeted expenditures shall increase by 100.0%,
subject to CPI adjustments, as a result of the extension of the life of the Maynilad’s concession
agreement.

d. To meet certain specific commitments in respect to the provision of water and sewerage services
in the West Service Area, unless modified by the MWSS–RO due to unforeseen circumstances.

e. To operate, maintain, renew and, as appropriate, decommission facilities in a manner consistent
with the National Building Standards and best industrial practices so that, at all times, the water
and sewerage system in the West Service Area is capable of meeting the service obligations (as
such obligations may be revised from time to time by the MWSS–RO following consultation with
Maynilad).

f. To repair and correct, on a priority basis, any defect in the facilities that could adversely affect
public health or welfare, or cause damage to persons or third–party property.
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g. To ensure that at all times Maynilad has sufficient financial, material and personnel resources
available to meet its obligations under the Concession Agreement.

h. Non–incurrence of debt or liability that would mature beyond the term of the Concession
Agreement, without the prior notice of MWSS.

Failure of Maynilad to perform any of its obligations under the Concession Agreement of a kind or to
a degree which, in a reasonable opinion of the MWSS–RO, amounts to an effective abandonment of
the Concession Agreement and which failure continues for at least 30 days after written notice from
the MWSS–RO, may cause the Concession Agreement to be terminated.

Contracts with Manila Water.  In relation to Maynilad’s Concession Agreement (see above),
Maynilad entered into the following contracts with Manila Water (the “East Concessionaire”):

a. Interconnection Agreement wherein the two Concessionaires shall form an unincorporated joint
venture that will manage, operate, and maintain interconnection facilities.  The terms of the
agreement provide, among others, the cost and the volume of water to be transferred between
zones; and,

b. Common Purpose Facilities Agreement that provides for the operation, maintenance, renewal,
and, as appropriate, decommissioning of the Common Purpose Facilities, and performance of
other functions pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreement
and performance of such other functions relating to the concession (and the concession of the
East Concessionaire) as Maynilad and the East Concessionaire may choose to delegate to the
Joint Venture, subject to the approval of MWSS.

Healthcare

Hospital operations.  As at December 31, 2018, the Company, through MPHHI and its subsidiaries
(see Note 39), operates the following full service hospitals:

§ In Metro Manila: Cardinal Santos Medical Center (CSMC), Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital
(OLLH), Asian Hospital (AHI), De Los Santos Medical Center (DLSMC), Marikina Valley
Medical Center (MVMC) and Dr. Jesus C. Delgado Memorial Hospital (JDMH); and

§ In other parts of the Philippines: Riverside Medical Center (RMCI) in Bacolod, Central Luzon
Doctors Hospital (CLDH) in Tarlac, West Metro Medical Center (WMMC) in Zamboanga,
Sacred Heart Hospital of Malolos Inc. (SHHM) in Bulacan, Saint Elizabeth Hospital Inc. (SEHI)
in General Santos City and Davao Doctors Hospital in Davao (increased its ownership from
35.16% to 49.91% in October 2018).

The Company also has equity stake in the following hospitals:  Makati Medical Center (MMC) and
Manila Doctors Hospital (MDH) (see Note 10).

Lease agreements.  The following companies entered into the following lease agreements, which
were accounted for as acquisition of a business in accordance with PFRS 3 (see Notes 11 and 15):

§ In 2009, CVHMC with the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Manila (RCAM) for the hospital
assets (consisting of land, building, improvements, machineries, equipment and trademark) of
Cardinal Santos Medical Center (CSMC);

§ In 2010, EMHMC with Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital, Inc. (OLLHI) and Servants of the Holy
Spirit, Inc. (SSpS) covering Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital (OLLH) properties and improvements
and the operations and management of OLLH; and
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§ In 2015, MPZHC with Western Mindanao Medical Center, Inc. covering the land and hospital
building. The lease of MPZHC, for a period of 20 years, may be renewed under terms and
conditions mutually acceptable.  However, as discussed in Notes 4 and 11, MPHHI acquired
63.94% of the outstanding voting capital stock of WMMCI.  The transaction resulted to the
derecognition of the property use rights and the related accumulated amortization.

The leases of EMHMC and CVHMC are for periods of 20 years, renewable for successive periods of
ten (10) years upon the mutual consent of both parties.

As consideration for the lease agreement, EMHMC and CVHMC pay fixed and variable monthly
rates, where the variable rate is based on the prior year’s net revenues.

Lease payments under the arrangements disclosed above are as follows:

2018 2017
Fixed Variable Total Fixed Variable Total

(In Millions)
Not later than one year P=58 P=105 P=163 P=58 P=78 P=136
More than one year and not later than

five years 244 373 617 255 354 609
More than five years 370 778 1,148 502 879 1,381
Total lease payments 672 1,256 1,928 815 1,311 2,126
Less amount representing interest (999) 1,026
Present value of lease obligation P=929 P=1,100

The lease agreement with OLLHI included a Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) program, wherein
EMHMC commits to invest, by way of capital expenditures of at least P=350 million to improve and
develop OLLH, no later than November 1, 2015.  As at June 2015, the EMHMC has complied with
its commitment of P=350 million capital expenditures.

CVHMC has a commitment to make a Capital Expenditure in CSMC amounting to at least
P=750 million (CAPEX Commitment) no later than the 10th anniversary of the Agreement, with at
least P=250 million of which shall be spent over a period of three (3) years, and with majority spent as
CAPEX for Expansion and Development no later than the 10th anniversary of the closing date of the
agreement.  In the event that CVHMC fails to make or infuse the commitment in the amounts and
within the period stated, CVHMC shall deposit in escrow such deficiency in an account to be
determined by both parties.  CVHMC has infused P=2,236 million and P=1,983 million to the CAPEX
program as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Rail

Concession Agreement - LRMC’s LRT-1 Project.  On October 2, 2014, LRMC signed together with the
Department of Transportation and Communications (DOTC, now  Department of Transportation -
DOTr) and the Light Rail Transit Authority (LRTA) (together with DOTr as “Grantors”) the Concession
Agreement for the LRT-1 Cavite Extension and Operations & Maintenance Project (LRT-1 Project).
The DOTr and LRTA formally awarded the Project to LRMC on September 15, 2014.  Under the
Concession Agreement, LRMC will operate and maintain the existing LRT-1 and construct an 11.7-km
extension from the present end-point at Baclaran to the Niog area in Bacoor, Cavite.  A total of eight (8)
new stations will be built along the extension, which traverses the cities of Parañaque and Las Piñas up to
Bacoor, Cavite.  The Concession Agreement is for a period of thirty-two (32) years commencing from
September 12, 2015 (the Effective Date).
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LRMC has the right to apply for an adjustment of the fare based on the specific fare adjustment formula
under LRMC’s concession agreement with the Philippine Government.  This formula specifies an initial
boarding and per-kilometer fare with 10.25% increases over these initial fares every two (2) years
beginning in August 2016, subject to inflation rebasing if inflation falls outside an acceptable band.  If
the approved fare is different from the formula specified on the concession agreement, both the
Philippine Government and LRMC are obligated to substantially keep the other party whole, depending
on whether the actual fares represent a deficit or a surplus.

Rehabilitation of the existing system is on-going.  Construction of the Cavite Extension is expected to
commence once right of way is delivered by the Grantors and is targeted to be completed four (4) years
thereafter.  The right of way was not fully delivered as at March 5, 2019.  However, on May 30, 2017,
LRMC received the Permit to Enter certificate from the Grantors allowing LRMC to enter the concerned
properties and commence the construction of Cavite Extension.  The Cavite Extension is on its
mobilization and planning phase as at March 5, 2019.

Claims with Grantors. Aside from the payment of concession fees (see Note 17), other significant
commitments under or that are related to the LRT-1 concession agreement follow:

The Section 5 of the LRT-1 Concession Agreement provides for conditions and mechanisms that will
ensure and thereby compel the parties to fulfill their obligations in relation to LRT-1 Concession.  In
the event of failure to meet the conditions set forth therein, the parties to the agreement are accorded
with rights, including rights to compensation from the party/parties in breach.  For the LRMC as the
Concessionaire, the LRT-1 Concession Agreement provides for the following claims from the
Grantors:

§ Existing System Requirement (ESR) costs.  LRMC is entitled to be compensated for the
unavoidable incremental cost that LRMC will incur to restore the Existing System to the level
necessary to meet all of the baseline Existing System Requirements, taking into consideration any
Emergency Upgrade Contract executed by the Grantors for the same purpose, if the Existing
System does not meet the ESR as certified by the Independent Consultant (IC).

§ Structural Defect Restoration (SDR) costs.  LRMC is entitled to compensation for the cost
incurred for restoration of the Structural Defect as certified by an IC which shall be the aggregate
of the approved Restoration Cost in the Structural Defects Notice and any incremental cost
approved by the IC.

§ Light Rail Vehicle (LRV) shortfall.  If the Grantors do not make available a minimum of one
hundred (100) light rail vehicles or the system is not able to operate to a cycle time of no more
than one hundred and six (106) minutes, or a combination of the two on the Effective Date, then
LRMC is entitled to receive a compensation from the Grantors based on the formula and
procedures provided for in the LRT-1 Concession Agreement.

§ Fare Deficit/Surplus.  The fare deficit/surplus pertains to the difference between the Approved
and Notional Fare, as follows:

a) If Approved Fare is less than the Notional Fare, there is a deficit payment or a receivable
from the Grantors;

b) If Approved Fare is more than the Notional Fare, there is a surplus payment or payable to
Grantors.
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The Approved Fare is the maximum fare that the Concessionaire is authorized to charge pursuant
to Sections 20.3b and/or 30.4 of the LRT-1 Concession Agreement.  Whereas, the Notional Fare
is the agreed base fare provided in the LRT-1 Concession Agreement that should have been in
effect upon turnover of the LRT-1 operation.

§ Grantors’ Compensation Payment. The Grantors shall be liable to provide compensation to
LRMC if LRMC is delayed in the completion of the Railway Infrastructure and Railway System
Works or is prevented from operating any part of the System or incurs additional cost or loss of
revenue by reason of:
a) Material Adverse Government Action
b) Grantors Delay Event
c) Subject to Sec. 5.3(b) Grantors Obligations, the failure of the Existing System to meet the

Existing System Requirement on the Effective Date
d) Any other cause in respect of which the LRT-1 Concession Agreement provides for the

provision of Grantors compensation

Under Section 20.6 of the LRT-1 Concession Agreement, all these claims are expressed to be paid
through the quarterly “Balancing Payments”.

IC for the Concession. In September 2015, DOTr and LRMC have engaged Egis Rail – Egis
International – Getinsa Ingenieria SL – Infra Consultants of the Philippines – Heldig Teknik Inc. Joint
Venture as IC to carry out the duties and obligations ascribed in the Concession Agreement.  This
includes, but not limited to, monitor, inspect and keep informed the state and progress of remedial
works, issue certification of compliance with the existing system requirements, and conduct annual
audit of the quality control documentation.  The fees and expenses of the IC shall be paid 50% by the
Grantors and 50% by the LRMC.

LRMC Non-Rail Activities.  In November 2015, LRMC granted PHAR Singapore Pte. Ltd the
exclusive right to generate ancillary revenue from all agreed commercial activities (i.e., advertising,
partnerships, and sponsorships) within the existing LRT 1 system.  The effectivity of granted rights
commenced on February 1, 2016 and will be in effect for a period of ten (10) years.  LRMC earns a
profit share from these revenues in exchange for the rights granted.

LRMC also has operating lease agreements as a lessor with various companies for retail space rental
and interconnection services. These agreements cover periods ranging from two (2) months to 21
years.

Rent income, interconnection and advertising fees earned relevant to these agreements amounted to
P=154 million, P=97 million and P=76 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are included
under “Others” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (see Note 24).

Escrow Agreement. On October 20, 2014, pursuant to the requirements of the LRT-1 Concession
Agreement, DOTr, LRTA, LRMC, the initial shareholders of LRMC (namely AC Infra, MPLRC and
MIHPL) and Security Bank as Escrow Agent entered into a Share Escrow Agreement.

Under the Share Escrow Agreement, each of the initial shareholders delivers to the Share Escrow
Agent original stock certificates representing all of their respective equity interests in LRMC.  Such
shares would be held in escrow until the third anniversary of the Extension Completion Date as
defined under the LRT-1 Concession Agreement.
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Consultancy and Advisory Fees.  In October 2014, LRMC entered into offshore and onshore technical
advisory service agreements with RATP Developpement SA and RATP Dev Manila, Inc. in relation
to the LRT-1 Project.  Scope of work includes providing regular reviews of the operation and
maintenance of the LRT 1 with respect to the overall performance of the system, operations and
maintenance budget, ridership data and Baseline System Plan.

Rehabilitation of Existing System.  On March 21, 2017, LRMC entered into a two-year agreement
with First Balfour, Inc. for its Structural Restoration Project which includes the parapets, faulty
concrete and repair of river bridges of the LRT-1 Existing System.  The notice to proceed was signed
and issued on March 17, 2017.  In line with this project, LRMC also signed an Independent
Contractor Agreement with ESCA Incorporated for the expertise and services necessary in managing
the Structural Restoration Project with First Balfour, Inc.

The structural restoration project is 89.72% complete as at December 31, 2018.

Construction of the LRT-1 Cavite Extension. On February 11, 2016, LRMC signed an engineering,
procurement, and construction (EPC) Agreement for the construction of LRT-1 Cavite Extension
with Bouygues Travaux Publics Philippines Inc., Alstom Transport S.A. and Alstom Transport
Construction Philippines Inc. which commenced upon the Grantors’ issuance of the Permit to Enter
certificate.

Logistics

On June 14, 2018, MMI signed an agreement with The Property Company of Friends, Inc. (Seller) for
the acquisition of parcels of land with an aggregate size of 202 thousand square meters.  The property,
with a total cost of P=1.015 billion (exclusive of applicable input and withholding taxes), shall be used by
MMI to develop and manage distribution centers for its existing and potential clients in the fast moving
consumer goods, consumer durables, automotive and e-commerce spaces.  On July 13, 2018, the parties
entered into a deed of absolute sale with MMI paying P=556 million (inclusive of VAT net of EWT) of
the acquisition cost.  The remaining outstanding portion shall be settled upon completion of the transfer
documents.

On December 19, 2018, MMI signed an agreement with various individual sellers (Sellers) for the
acquisition of parcels of land with an aggregate size of 219 thousand square meters.  The property,
with a total cost of P=204 million (exclusive of applicable input and withholding taxes), shall be used
by MMI to develop and manage distribution centers for its existing and potential clients in the fast
moving consumer goods, consumer durables, automotive and e-commerce spaces.  The parties also
entered into a contract to sell agreement with MMI paying P=206 million (inclusive of VAT net of
EWT) of the acquisition cost.  The remaining outstanding portion shall be settled upon completion of
the transfer documents.

31. Assets Held in Trust

Materials and Supplies
Maynilad has the right to use any item of inventory owned by MWSS in carrying out its
responsibility under the Maynilad Concession Agreement (see Note 30), subject to the obligation to
return the same at the end of the concession period, in kind or in value at its current rate, subject to
CPI adjustments.
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Facilities
Maynilad had been granted the right to operate, maintain in good working order, repair,
decommission and refurbish the movable properties required to provide the water and sewerage
services under the Maynilad Concession Agreement (see Note 30).  MWSS shall retain legal title to
all movable properties in existence at the commencement date on August 1, 1997.  However, upon
expiration of the useful life of any such movable property as may be determined by Maynilad, such
movable properties shall be returned to MWSS in its then–current condition at no charge to MWSS or
Maynilad (see Note 13).

The concession agreement also provides Maynilad and Manila Water to have equal access to MWSS
facilities involved in the provision of water supply and sewerage services in both West and East
Service Areas including, but not limited to, the MWSS management information system, billing
system, telemetry system, central control room and central records.

The net book value of the facilities transferred to Maynilad on commencement date based on MWSS’
closing audit report amounted to P=7.3 billion with a sound value of P=13.8 billion.

MWSS’ corporate headquarters are made available to Maynilad and Manila Water for a one–year
period beginning on the commencement date, subject to yearly renewal with the consent of the parties
concerned.  As at December 31, 2018, the lease has been renewed for another year.  Rent expense
related to these properties amounted to P=43 million in 2018, P=41 million in 2017 and P=38 million in
2016.

32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company’s principal financial instruments consist mainly of borrowings from related parties and
third party creditors, proceeds of which were used for the acquisition of investments and in financing
operations.  The Company has other financial assets and financial liabilities such as cash and cash
equivalents, short-term deposits, receivables, accounts payable and other current liabilities, service
concession fees payable and other related party transactions which arise directly from the Company’s
operations.  The Company also holds financial assets at FVPL and FVOCI (2017: AFS financial
assets).

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.  The BOD reviews and approves policies of managing
each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Credit Risk

Risk Management

The Company manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk that the
Company is willing to accept for individual counterparties and by monitoring exposures in relation to
such limits.  Specific risks are as follows:

§ Power.  GBPC has established controls and procedures on its credit policy to determine and
monitor the credit worthiness of customers and counterparties.  The power supply contracts with
customers include inherent protection clauses, i.e., provisions for interest on unpaid billings, and
change in laws/circumstances, among others.  GBPC group’s maximum credit risk is equal to the
carrying value of the GBPC’s financial assets.  The credit quality of financial assets is being
managed by GBPC using internal credit ratings.
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§ Toll Operations.  Receivables included non-toll revenues in the form of advertising services
particularly from SMART (see Note 19) and service fees collected from business locators,
generally called TSF (toll service facilities), along the stretch of the NLEX.  The arrangements
are backed by a service facility contract between NLEX Corp and the various locators.  The credit
risk on these arrangements is minimal because the fees are collected on a monthly basis mostly
from well-established companies.  The exposure is also limited given that the recurring amounts
are not significant and there are adequate safeguards in the contracts against payment
delinquency.

NLEX Corp also has advances made to DPWH, a Philippine government entity, which is covered
by a Reimbursement Agreement.  Advances to DPWH is pursuant to the Reimbursement
Agreement entered into by NLEX Corp. with DPWH in 2013 where DPWH requested these
advances in order to fast track the acquisition of right-of-way for the construction of Segments 9
and 10, portions of Phase II of NLEX.  The balance also includes direct advances to certain
Segment 9 landowners as consideration for the grant of immediate right-of-way possession to
NLEX Corp ahead of the expropriation proceedings.  Under a Deed of Assignment with Special
Power of Attorney agreement, these landowners agreed to assign their receivables from DPWH to
NLEX Corp in consideration for the direct advances received from NLEX Corp.  Advances to
DPWH amounting to P=193 million and P=180 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively are included in the nontrade receivable account (see Note 8).

§ Water. Because of the basic need service that Maynilad provides, historical collections of
Maynilad are relatively high, thus, credit risk exposure is widely dispersed.  Maynilad billings are
payable on the due date, which is normally 14 days from the billing date.  However, customers
are given 60 days to settle any unpaid bills before disconnection.  Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Maynilad’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

§ Healthcare.  The hospitals of the Company manage risk by setting credit limits for all customers
and by monitoring credit exposures and the creditworthiness of counterparties.  Credit limits are
set and a regular review of these limits is being done by management.  Credit is extended only to
reputable entities such as HMO and insurance companies.

§ Rail.  Receivables included non-rail revenues from lease of commercial spaces located within
LRT-1 stations, on interconnection fees and advertising contracts.  The arrangements are mostly
with well-established companies backed by contracts with provisions for payment delinquency.
The exposure is also limited given that the recurring amounts are collected on a monthly basis
and are not significant.

§ Logistics.  Customers are subject to credit verification procedures and approval to ensure
creditworthiness.  The logistics group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any
particular customers.  The logistics group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to
any single counterparty.

With the exception of cash and cash equivalents, the maximum exposure to credit risk (both pre and
post consideration of collateral and credit enhancements) at the reporting date is the carrying value of
each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 33.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk on cash and cash equivalents without considering the effects of
collaterals, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques is the carrying value of
this financial asset.  After considering the credit enhancement pertaining to insured deposits in banks
as prescribed by Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation, net maximum exposure as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to P=46,246 million and P=40,516 million, respectively.

Impairment of Financial Assets (Effective January 1, 2018)

The Company has the following financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
(i) receivables; and (ii) debt investments carried at FVOCI.  While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

The Company applies the PFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for receivables.  To measure the expected credit losses, receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.  The expected
loss rates are based on the payment profiles of revenues/sales over a period of at least 24 months
before the relevant reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within
this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers/counterparties to settle the
receivables. The Company has identified the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), CPI and unemployment
rate in the locations in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.  Generally,
receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

Impairment losses on receivables are presented as net of impairment losses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual
customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions.

The table below shows the gross carrying amount of financial assets and the loss allowances:

Not Credit-impaired Credit-impaired Total

Gross Carrying
Amount

Allowance
on ECL

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Allowance
on ECL

Gross Carrying
Amount

Allowance on
ECL

December 31, 2018
 Investment in

UITF (a)
P=827 P=– P=– P=– P=827 P=–

Receivables 12,807 – 1,601 1,601 14,408 1,601
 Other current

assets:
Deposit for LTIP 542 – – – 542 –

  Due from related
parties

24 – 31 31 55 31

  Miscellaneous
   deposits and

others

386 – – – 386 –

 Other noncurrent
assets:

– – – –

  Investment in
   bonds and
   treasury notes

1,057 – – – 1,057 –

  Quoted equity
shares

206 – – – 206 –

(Forward)
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Not Credit-impaired Credit-impaired Total

Gross Carrying
Amount

Allowance
on ECL

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Allowance
on ECL

Gross Carrying
Amount

Allowance on
ECL

  Unquoted equity
shares

P=979 P=– P=– P=– P=979 P=–

  Quoted club shares 29 – – – 29 –
Other receivables 404 – – – 404 –

  Long term cash
and miscellaneous
deposits

519 – – – 519 –

P=17,780 P=– P=1,632 P=1,632 P=19,412 P=1,632

January 1, 2018
 Investment in

UITF (a)
P=6,536 P=– P=– P=– P=6,536 P=–

Receivables 10,899 958 958 11,857 958
 Other current

assets:
  Due from related

   parties
25 31 31 56 31

  Miscellaneous
   deposits and

others

375 – – – 375 –

 Other noncurrent
assets:
Deposit for LTIP 228 – – – 228 –

  Investment in
   bonds and

treasury notes

1,254 – – – 1,254 –

  Quoted equity
shares

206 – – – 206 –

  Unquoted equity
   shares

484 – – – 484 –

Quoted club shares 25 – – – 25 –
Other receivables 547 – – – 547 –

  Long term cash
and miscellaneous
deposits

839 – – – 839 –

P=21,418 P=– P=989 P=989 P=22,407 P=989
(a)Included under ‘Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits’.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s receivables and due
from related parties:

Days past due
Current <30 31-60 61-90 91-180 >180 Total

(In Millions)

December 31, 2018:
Expected loss rate – 6% 8% 13% 26% 28% 11%
Gross carrying amount P=6,195 P=2,108 P=720 P=336 P=1,832 P=3,272 P=14,463
Loss allowance – 118 56 43 450 965 1,632

January 1, 2018:
Expected loss rate 11% 11% 13% 30% 35% 8%
Gross carrying amount P=7,596 P=1,333 P=504 P=254 P=805 P=1,421 P=11,913
Loss allowance – 146 53 34 243 513 989
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The closing loss allowance for receivables and due from related parties as at December 31 reconcile
to the opening loss allowances as follows:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Calculated under previous accounting policy P=989 P=885
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings – –
Opening loss allowance as at beginning of year (a) 989 885
Increase in loss allowance recognized in profit or loss

during the year (see Note 22) 734 146
Written off/reversal (91) (42)
Balance as at December 31 P=1,632 P=989
 (a) January 1, 2018 calculated under PFRS 9 (see Note 37)

Debt investments at FVOCI include quoted corporate bonds, treasury bonds and notes issued by the
Republic of the Philippines, and quoted long-term negotiable certificate of deposits (LTNCD) of
various banks.  The Company only invests in government securities and instruments that are graded
in the top investment category (AAA) by credit rating agencies and, therefore, are considered to be
low credit risk investments.  The Company did not recognize provision for expected credit losses on
its debt instruments at FVOCI as at January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018.

Liquidity Risk
The Company manages its liquidity profile to be able to finance its capital expenditures and service
its maturing debts by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities (see Note 18).

The Company monitors its cash position using a cash forecasting system.  All expected collections,
check disbursements and other cash payments are determined daily to arrive at the projected cash
position to cover its obligations and to ensure that obligations are met as they fall due.  The Company
monitors its cash flow position, particularly the collections from receivables, receipts of dividends
and the funding requirements of operations, to ensure an adequate balance of inflows and outflows.
The Company also has online facilities with its depository banks wherein bank balances are
monitored daily to determine the Company’s actual cash balances at any time.

The Company’s liquidity and funding management process include the following:

§ Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities;
§ Maintaining debt financing plans; and
§ Monitoring liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements.
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted payments, including future interest payments:

Not
exceeding

1 year

More than
 1 year

but not
exceeding

2 years

More than
 2 years
but not

exceeding
5 year

More than
5 Years Total

(In Millions)

December 31, 2018
 Accounts payable and

other current liabilities(a) P=25,063 P=– P=– P=– P=25,063
Due to related parties:

Due to PCEV 4,451 5,646 2,450 – 12,547
Due to related parties - others 87 – – – 87

Customers’ guaranty deposits(b) – – – 1,102 1,102
Service concession fees payable 1,423 5,963 16,405 29,884 53,675
Financial liability 120 – – – 120

 Long–term debts (Principal and
interest)

19,056 21,452 76,578 144,817 261,903

P=50,200 P=33,061 P=95,433 P=175,803 P=354,497

December 31, 2017
 Accounts payable and

other current liabilities(a) P=22,079 P=– P=– P=– P=22,079
Due to related parties:

Due to PCEV 4,451 4,451 8,096 – 16,998
Due to related parties - others 93 – – – 93

Customers’ guaranty deposits(b) – – – 1,035 1,035
Service concession fees payable 1,288 1,354 16,227 34,926 53,795
Financial liability 45 55 – – 100

 Long–term debts (Principal and
interest)

24,862 22,666 87,930 115,794 251,252

P=52,818 P=28,526 P=112,253 P=151,755 P=345,352
 (a)Excludes statutory payable.
(b)Included under “Other long–term liabilities”.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Company is subject to fair value and cash
flow interest rate risks.  Fixed rate financial instruments measured at fair value are subject to fair
value interest rate risk while floating rate financial instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate
risk.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s borrowings were substantially at fixed rates
(see Note 18).

Certain of the Company’s loans that bear a fixed rate for the first five (5) years are subject to an
interest rate repricing after the fifth year.  Should the interest rate on the repricing date be
significantly higher than the current fixed rate, the Company has an option to prepay or refinance the
loan.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of income before income tax arising from changes in
interest cash flows of floating rate loans and fair values of financial assets at FVPL, respectively, due
to changes in interest rates with all other variables held constant.  The estimates in the movement of
interest rates were based on the management’s annual financial forecast.  There is no other impact on
equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Increase in Basis Points Decrease in Basis Points

Basis
Points

Effect on
Income
Before

Income Tax
Basis
Points

Effect on
Income
Before

Income Tax
(In Millions) (In Millions)

December 31, 2018
Philippine Peso +50 (P=2) –50 P=2
Indonesian Rupiah +50 (19) –50 19
US Dollar +50 (31) –50 31
Thai Baht +50 (10) –50 10

December 31, 2017
Philippine Peso +50 – –50 –
Indonesian Rupiah +50 – –50 –
US Dollar +50 (23) –50 23
Thai Baht +50 (11) –50 11

Foreign Currency Risk
To manage the Company’s foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions,
recognized assets and liabilities, and to improve investment and cash flow planning, in addition to
natural hedges, the Company enters into and engages in foreign exchange contracts for the purpose of
managing its foreign exchange rate exposures emanating from business, transaction specific, as well
as currency translation risks and reducing and/or managing the adverse impact of changes in foreign
exchange rates on the Company’s operating results and cash flows.

Exposure to foreign currency risk primarily results from the following foreign currency transactions:

§ Power. While an insignificant percentage of the GBPC’s assets and liabilities is denominated in
US Dollars, a substantial portion of the capital expenditure and operating expenses, mostly fuel
and coal purchases, is denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in US Dollars.  GBPC follows
a policy to manage its currency risk by closely monitoring its cash flow position and by providing
forecast on all other exposures in non-Philippine peso currencies.  Moreover, the majority of the
power sales of the GBPC’s operating subsidiaries are through long-term Electric Power Purchase
Agreements which have provisions for passing on fuel costs, including foreign exchange
fluctuations.

§ Water.  The servicing of foreign currency-denominated loans of MWSS is among the
requirements of Maynilad’s concession agreement.  While majority of the revenues are generated
in Philippine Peso, there is a mechanism in place as part of the concession agreement wherein
Maynilad (or the end consumers) can recover foreign currency fluctuations through the FCDA
that is approved by the RO.
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§ Toll Operations.  The segment’s exposure to foreign exchange currency risk relates mainly to
CIC’s dollar denominated Series 2010–1 Notes amounting to $13.0 million (P=658.0 million) as at
December 31, 2016.  The Company however prepaid the Note in 2017.  The segment’s practice is
to refinance outstanding U.S. dollar loans with peso loans to reduce the exposure to foreign
currency risk.

Payment for AIF’s loan which is denominated in Thai Baht is to be sourced from the dividends,
also denominated in Thai Baht, to be declared by DMT (see Notes 10 and 18).

§ Healthcare.  Of the entities in the healthcare segment, AHI has foreign currency risk arising from
its cash and cash equivalents, international insurance included under receivables and US dollar
denominated loan exposure.  AHI also has transactional currency exposures arising from
purchases of medical equipment or supplies in currencies other than the Philippine Peso.  AHI is
unable to take on any derivative transaction to hedge these exposures since its loan covenants do
not allow it.  AHI relies on its ability to generate dollar-based revenue from its foreign patients to
mitigate this risk.  AHI fully paid its dollar-denominated loans in 2017.

§ Rail.  LRMC’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal and only limited to transactional
currency exposures arising from payments to suppliers and contractors.  To reduce to foreign
currency risk exposure, LRMC entered into series of derivative transactions, in particular,
forward contracts.  These are accounted for as derivatives not designated as accounting hedges
with fair value of P=14.2 million and P=0.1 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The Company’s foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities as at December 31:

December 31, 2018
Original Currency Total Peso

US Dollar JPY Equivalent
(in Millions)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $13 ¥2 P=698
Restricted cash 8 – 399

21 2 1,097
Liabilities:

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (2) – (105)
Service concession fees payable (65) (175) (3,502)
Long–term debts (116) – (6,099)

(183) (175) (9,706)
Net foreign currency -denominated liabilities ($162) (¥173) (P=8,609)

December 31, 2017
Original Currency Total Peso

US Dollar JPY Equivalent
(in Millions)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $56 ¥– P=2,795
Restricted cash 1 – 50

57 – 2,845
Liabilities:

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (21) – (1,049)
Service concession fees payable (76) (290) (3,923)
Long–term debts (91) – (4,544)

(188) (290) (9,516)
Net foreign currency - denominated liabilities ($131) (¥290) (P=6,671)
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The exchange rates used to determine the peso value are as follows:

US Dollar JPY
December 31, 2018 P=52.58 P=0.48
December 31, 2017 49.93 0.44

The following table demonstrates sensitivity of cash flows due to changes in foreign exchange rates
with all variables held constant.  The estimates in the movement of the foreign exchange rates were
based on the management’s annual financial forecast.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Increase/

Decrease in
Foreign

Exchange
Rates

Effect on
Income

Before Income
Tax

Increase/
Decrease in

Foreign
Exchange

Rates

Effect on
Income

Before Income
Tax

(In Millions) (In Millions)
US Dollar +5% (P=426) +5% (P=327)
Japanese Yen +5% (4) +5% (6)
US Dollar –5% 426 –5% 327
Japanese Yen –5% 4 –5% 6

Capital Management
Capital includes preferred shares and equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management policies is to ensure that the Company
maintains a strong statement of financial position and healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximize shareholder value. The Company ensures that it is compliant with all debt
covenants not only at the consolidated level but also at the level of Parent Company and each of its
subsidiaries.

In general, the Company closely monitors its debt covenants and maintains a capital expenditure
program and dividend declaration policy that keeps the compliance of these covenants into
consideration.

The following debt covenants are being complied with by the Company as part of maintaining a
strong credit rating with its creditors:

§ MPIC.  MPIC’s loan agreements require achievement of certain financial ratios (see Note 18).
Moreover, under the loan agreements, MPIC needs to achieve a required DSCR per loan
agreements to be able to declare dividends.

§ Power.  GBPC’s subsidiaries (CEDC, PEDC and TPC) aim to maintain debt-to-equity ratio not
exceeding 70:30 at all times until full payment of its loans.  Certain subsidiaries shall likewise
ensure that core capital must at least be 30% of the total project cost at project completion date
and shall at all times be equivalent to at least 30% of the sum of the aggregate indebtedness for
borrowed money and the sum of its equity as of any date of determination.

§ Toll Operations.  The loan agreements require maintenance of debt-to-equity ratio and DSCR as
indicated in the agreements to be able to incur new loans or declare dividends.
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§ Water.  Maynilad closely manages its capital structure vis–a–vis a certain target gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.  Maynilad’s target gearing ratio is 75%.
This target is to be maintained over the next five (5) years by managing the level of borrowings
and dividend payments to shareholders.

The Company manages its capital structure and adjust it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may obtain additional advances from
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or issue new debt or redemption of
existing debt.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017.  The Company monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-equity ratio.

Debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as long-term debt over equity.  The Company’s goal is to maintain a
sustainable debt-to-equity ratio.  The debt-to-equity ratios as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Long–term debt (a) P=215,093 P=189,083
Equity (b) 239,003 215,679
Debt–to–equity ratio (a/b) 90% 88%

33. Financial Instruments – Categories and Derivatives

Categories of Financial Instruments
The categories of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities, other than cash and cash
equivalents, short-term deposits and restricted cash are:
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December 31, 2018
Financial Assets Financial Liabitlities

Amortized Cost FVPL
Debt instruments

at FVOCI

Equity
Instruments

at FVOCI Amortized Cost FVPL Total
ASSETS
Investment in UITF (a) P=– P=827 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=827
Receivables - net 12,495 – – – – – 12,495
Other current assets:

Deposit for LTIP 542 – – – – – 542
Due from related parties 24 – – – – – 24
Miscellaneous deposits and others 386 – – – – – 386

Other noncurrent assets:
Treasury bonds and notes – – 528 – – – 528
Corporate bonds – – 434 – – – 434
LTNCD – – 95 – – – 95

 Quoted equity shares – – – 206 – – 206
Unquoted equity shares – – – 979 – – 979
Quoted club shares – – – 29 – – 29
Other receivables 404 – – – – – 404
Long term cash and miscellaneous deposits 519 – – – – – 519

P=14,370 P=827 P=1,057 P=1,214 P=– P=– P=17,468

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (b) P=– P=– P=– P=– P=27,341 P=– P=27,341
Due to related parties – – – – 11,854 – 11,854
Service concession fees payable – – – – 30,639 – 30,639
Long-term debt – – – – 215,093 – 215,093
Other long-term liabilities – – – – 1,138 – 1,138

P=– P=– P=– P=– P=286,065 P=– P=286,065
(a)Included under ‘Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits’.
(b)Excludes statutory payables
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2017
Financial Assets Financial Liabilities

FVPL
Loans and

Receivables

AFS
Financial

Assets

Other
Financial

Liabilities Total
(In Millions)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents P=– P=40,660 P=– P=– P=40,660
Short-term deposits – 1,946 – – 1,946
Restricted cash – 4,047 – – 4,047
Receivables - net – 10,899 – – 10,899
Due from related parties – 25 – – 25
AFS financial assets(a) – – 8,297 – 8,297
Other current assets:

Miscellaneous deposits and others – 375 – – 375
Other noncurrent assets:

Deposits for LTIP(a) – 228 – – 228
Restricted cash – 159 – – 159
Other receivables – 547 – – 547
Long term cash and miscellaneous deposits – 839 – – 839

P=– P=59,725 P=8,297 P=– P=68,022

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (b) P=– P=– P=– P=23,767 P=23,767
Due to related parties – – – 15,646 15,646
Service concession fees payable – – – 29,744 29,744
Long-term debt – – – 189,083 189,083
Other long-term liabilities – – – 1,209 1,209

P=– P=– P=– P=259,449 P=259,449
(a) Included under“Other noncurrent assets” accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.
(b)Excludes statutory payables.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company has no freestanding derivatives and no derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

34. Fair Value Measurement

The fair value of the assets and liabilities is determined as the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between participants at the measurement
date.  The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and fair values of the assets and
liabilities, analyzed among those whose fair value is based on:

· Level 1 – Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
· Level 2 – Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and
· Level 3 – Those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable input).

December 31, 2018

Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total Fair

Value
(In Millions)

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets through profit or loss

UITF P=827 P=– P=827 P=– P=827
Financial assets through OCI

Treasury bonds and notes 528 35 493 – 528
Corporate bonds 434 434 – – 434
LTNCD 95 95 – – 95
Quoted equity shares 206 206 – – 206
Unquoted equity shares 979 – 979 979
Quoted club shares 29 29 – – 29

P=3,098 P=799 P=1,320 P=979 P=3,098

Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Amortized cost

Miscellaneous deposits P=905 P=– P=– P=844 P=844
P=905 P=– P=– P=844 P=844

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Other financial liabilities

Service concession fees payable
(current and noncurrent)

P=30,639 P=– P=– P=29,425 P=29,425

Long-term debt (current and noncurrent) 215,093 – – 202,899 202,899
Customer guaranty deposit 1,102 – – 1,097 1,097
Due to related parties 11,854 – – 11,396 11,396

P=258,688 P=– P=– P=244,817 P=244,817

2017
Carrying

Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total Fair

Value
(In Millions)

Assets measured at fair value
AFS financial assets:

Shares of stock (a) P=507 P=25 P=– P=482 P=507
UITF (see Note 7) 6,536 – 6,536 – 6,536
Investment in bonds and treasury notes (a) 1,254 722 532 – 1,254

P=8,297 P=747 P=7,068 P=482 P=8,297
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2017
Carrying

Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total Fair

Value
(In Millions)

Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Loans and receivables:

Notes receivable (see Note 8) P=– P=– P=– P=– P=–
Other current assets:

Miscellaneous deposits and others 375 – – 375 375
Other noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash 159 – – 159 159
Long term cash and miscellanoues
deposits 839 – – 786 786

P=1,373 P=– P=– P=1,320 P=1,320

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Other financial liabilities:

Service concession fees payable P=29,744 P=– P=– P=29,805 P=29,805
Long-term debts 189,083 – – 186,957 186,957
Due to related parties 15,646 – – 15,122 15,122
Customer guaranty deposit (a) 1,035 – – 1,059 1,059

P=253,508 P=– P=– P=232,943 P=232,943
 (a) Included under “Other long-term liabilities” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The following methods and assumptions were used to measure the fair value of each class of assets
and liabilites for which it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents.  Due to the short-term nature of transactions, the fair value of cash and
cash equivalents approximate the carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Restricted Cash, Cash Deposits, and Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities. Carrying
values approximate the fair values at the reporting date due to the short-term nature of the
transactions.

Investments in UITF. UITFs are ready-made investments that allow the pooling of funds from
different investors with similar investment objectives.  These UITFs are managed by professional
fund managers and may be invested in various financial instruments such as money market securities,
bonds and equities, which are normally available to large investors only.  A UITF uses the
mark-to-market method in valuing the fund’s securities.  A UITF uses the mark-to-market method in
valuing the fund’s securities.  It is a valuation method which calculates the Net Asset Value (NAV)
based on the estimated fair market value of the assets of the fund based on prices supplied by
independent sources.

Investments in Unquoted Equity Securities.  Investment in unquoted equity securities included
interests in unlisted shares of stocks of a local toll road company (2% equity interest), one local
sewerage services company (10% equity interest), three local logistics company (each at 12% equity
interest) and two local waste management companies (each at 12% equity interest).  To estimate the
fair value of the unquoted equity securities, the Company uses the guideline public company method.
This valuation model is based on published data regarding comparable companies’ quoted prices,
earnings, revenues and EBITDA expressed as a multiple, adjusted for the effect of the non-
marketability of the equity securities. The estimate is adjusted for the net debt of the investee, if
applicable.  Adjusted market multiple ranges from 6 to 13 for the toll road company; 4 to 6 for the
logistics companies; and 3 to 12 for the waste management companies and discount for lack of
marketability of up to 30%.

Due from Related Parties.  In 2018 and 2017, fair value of due from related parties approximates
their carrying amounts as these are expected to be settled within a year from the reporting date.
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Miscellaneous Deposits.  The fair value of the refundable occupancy deposits is determined by
discounting the deposit using the prevailing market rate of interest.

Due to Related Parties, Service Concession Fees Payable and Customers’ Guaranty Deposits.
Estimated fair value is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the applicable rates
for similar types of financial instruments.

Notes Receivable and Miscellaneous Deposits. Estimated fair value is based on the present value of
future cash flows discounted using the prevailing rates that are specific to the tenor of the
instruments’ cash flows at the end of each reporting period with credit spread adjustment.

Long-term Debt. For both fixed rate and floating rate (repriceable every six months)
US dollar-denominated debts and Philippine Peso-denominated fixed rate corporate notes, estimated
fair value is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the prevailing credit adjusted
US risk-free rates and Philippine risk free rates that are adjusted for credit spread ranging from 4.9%
to 9.2% and 2.4% to 7.1% in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

35. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Non-cash investing activities
The following table shows the Company’s significant non-cash investing activities and corresponding
transaction amounts:

2018 2017 2016
(In Millions)

Additions to service concession assets pertaining to
additions to capitalized interest accretion from
service concession fees, Maynilad rate-rebasing and
others (see Notes 12 and 17) P=2,178 P=4,169 P=3,466

Acquisition of Beacon Electric preferred and common
shares on a deferred payment basis (unpaid portion
as at year of acquisition; see Notes 4 and 19) – 8,629 8,353

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:
The following table shows significant changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes:

Service
concession fee

payable
(see Note 17)

Long-term debt
(see Note 18)

Due to related
parties

(see Note 19)
(In Millions)

Balance as at January 1, 2017 P=29,744 P=189,083 P=15,646

Cash flow (see statements of cash flows)
Proceeds ī 36,504 ī
Payments (1,007) (9,822) (2,001)
Transaction cost ī (238) ī

(1,007) 26,444 (2,001)

(Forward)
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Service
concession fee

payable
(see Note 17)

Long-term debt
(see Note 18)

Due to related
parties

(see Note 19)
(In Millions)

Non-cash:
Acquisition of subsidiary P=ī P=65,399 P=ī

 Acquisition of investments on a
deferred payment basis ī ī 8,629

Foreign exchange movements 39 243 ī
Interest accretion 1,838 (243) 579
Amortization of debt issue costs ī 60 ī
Others ī 164 ī

1,877 65,623 9,208
Balance as at December 31, 2017 29,744 189,083 15,646

Cash flow (see statements of cash flows)
Proceeds ī 70,327 ī
Payments (1,007) (46,751) (4,458)
Transaction cost ī (789) ī

(1,007) 22,787 (4,458)
Non-cash:

Acquisition of subsidiary ī 3,492 ī
 Derecognized unamortized PFRS 3 fair

value increment ī (1,059) ī
 Derecognized unamortized debt issue

cost ī (186) ī
Foreign exchange movements 23 1,630 ī
Interest accretion 1,879 (736) 666
Amortization of debt issue costs ī 82 ī

1,902 3,223 666
Balance as at December 31, 2018 P=30,639 P=215,093 P=11,854

36. Events after the Reporting Period

Aside from those disclosed in Note 29 (status of certain contingencies), Note 30 (status of certain
significant contracts, agreements and commitments) and Note 20 (MPIC’s dividend declaration on
March 5, 2019), events occurring after the reporting period include:

MPIC’s Share Buy-Back Transaction. On January 9, 2019, MPIC acquired 600,000 MPIC common
shares from the open market at P= 4.7423 per share and held as treasury shares.
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Dividend Declaration.  Dividend declaration of the Company’s investees are as follows:

Company Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Cash Dividend

per Share

MPIC’s
Expected
Share in

Dividends
(In Millions)

MERALCO February 26, 2019 March 22, 2019 April 15, 2019 P=10.594 P=1,254
Maynilad February 26, 2019 February 28, 2019 March 12, 2019 P=1,100.489 260
MWHC March 5, 2019 March 5, 2019 March 14, 2019 P=0.868 2,378

Acquisition of additional interest in DLSMC. In February 2019, MPHHI acquired an additional
35,674 common shares of DLSMC which increased its ownership interest from 58% to 61%.

Water Concession Agreement.  On February 19, 2019, Amayi Water Solutions, Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of Maynilad, entered into a concession agreement with the Municipality of Boac,
Marinduque.  The concession agreement shall be effective for a period of 25 years beginning on the
commencement date.

Acquisition of Southbend Express Services Inc. (SESI). On February 26, 2019, MPT MSI, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of MPTC, acquired 100% of Southbend Express Services Inc. (SESI) for a
purchase price of P=87 million. The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method under
PFRS 3.

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition:

Fair Values
(in Millions)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=3
Receivables 36
Other current assets 3
Property, plant and equipment 6
Other noncurrent assets 16

64
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 8
Long-term debt 3
Other long-term liabilities 21

32
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 32
Goodwill arising on acquisition 28
Consideration transferred 60
Intercompany account settled 27
Total cash paid on acquisition P=87

The fair value and gross amount of the receivables amounted to P=36 million.  None of the receivables
have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The goodwill of P=28 million that arose on the acquisition can be attributed to the expected synergies
arising from the acquisition.  None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.
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SESI is engaged in providing manpower services to public and private offices, industrial, commercial
and other establishments.

37. Significant Accounting Policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes
above.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

a. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Company applied the following new PFRSs and amendments to existing standards effective
January 1, 2018.  Except for additional disclosure requirements and the changes in the classification
and measurement of financial assets as a result of adopting PFRS 9, adoption of the following
standards did not have any material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements:

§ PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that applies to revenue arising from contracts with
customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer.  The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and
recognizing revenue.

PFRS 15 supersedes PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related
Interpretations and it applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those
contracts are in the scope of other standards.  The new standard establishes a five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is
recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  The standard requires entities to
exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when
applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers.  The standard also specifies the
accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to
fulfilling a contract.  The Company adopted PFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method of
adoption.

Under PFRS 15, entities must disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into categories
that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected
by economic factors.  The Company has determined that a disaggregation of revenue using
existing segments and the timing of the transfer of goods or services (at a point in time vs over
time) is adequate for its circumstances.  The Company’s revenue substantially comprises of
services which revenue recognition is over time.

Before the adoption of PFRS 15, Maynilad recognized connection and installation revenue as
outright revenue once the customer has been connected to the Company’s water system.  Cost
related to the service such as labor and materials were expensed once incurred.  Under PFRS 15,
Maynilad assessed that connection and installation revenue is not a separate performance
obligation.  Such revenue is highly interdependent with the supply of water and hence should be
recognized over time.  The revenues and related costs are deferred and recognized over the
remaining concession period.  As at December 31, 2018, contract liability (included under
Accounts payable and other current liabilities and Other long-term liabilities accounts) in
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relation to the future services to be provided for the connection and installation fees amounted to
P=249 million (see Note 15).  Due to lack of sufficient historical records, Maynilad invoked the
impracticability of retrospective restatement of revenue from connection and installation fees
recognized prior to January 1, 2018.  For the year ended December 31, 2018, consolidated net
income was lower by P=94 million with the change in the accounting policy for recognition of
connection and installation revenue and related costs.

Upon adoption of PFRS 15, the Company also classified unbilled receivables amounting to
P=1,185 million and P=1,056 million as at December 31 and January 1, 2018, respectively
(see Note 8) and service concession assets still under on-going construction and rehabilitation
amounting to P=49,762 million and P=32,271 million as at December 31 and January 1, 2018,
respectively (see Note 12) as “Contract assets”.

§ PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

PFRS 9 replaces the provisions of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, that relate to the recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and
hedge accounting.

The adoption of PFRS 9 from January 1, 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies but did
not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  In accordance with the
transitional provisions of PFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.

§ Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a
share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and
the accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled.

§ Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with
PFRS 4

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments
standard, PFRS 9, before implementing PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts, which replaces PFRS 4.
The amendments introduce two options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary
exemption from applying PFRS 9 and an overlay approach.  These amendments are not relevant
to the Company.

§ Amendments to PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Clarification that
measuring investees at FVPL is an investment-by-investment choice

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying
entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its
investments in associates and joint ventures at FVPL.  If an entity, that is not itself an investment
entity, has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may,
when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by that
investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s
interests in subsidiaries.  This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or
joint venture, at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture
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is initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the
investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.

§ Amendments to PAS 40, Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development into, or out of investment property.  The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use.  A mere change in management’s intentions
for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.

§ Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date
on which an entity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration.  If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the
entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

The Company has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been
issued but is not yet effective (see Note 38).

b. Impact of Adoption of PFRS 9

On Classification and Measurement
The adoption of PFRS 9 beginning January 1, 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies and the
categories of the financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements.  The new accounting
policies are set out below.  In accordance with the transitional provisions in PFRS 9, comparative
figures have not been restated.

On January 1, 2018 (date of initial application of PFRS 9), the Company assessed which business
model apply to the financial assets held by the group and has classified its financial assets into the
appropriate categories.

There were no material impact on the resulting reclassification.  Financial assets under the PAS 39
category of “Loans and receivables”, which generally included cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and receivables (see Note 33, Financial Instruments – Categories and Derivatives) have been
reclassified to PFRS 9 category “Financial Assets at Amortized Cost”.  Financial assets under PAS 39
category of “AFS Financial Assets” have been reclassified as follows:

To PFRS 9 Categories

From Available-for-sale
Financial Assets

Fair Value
through

 Profit or Loss
(FVPL)

Fair Value
through

OCI
(FVOCI)

Equity
Instruments at

FVOCI

Total Carrying
 Value as at

January 1, 2018
(In Millions)

Shares of stock (a) P=– P=– P=507 P=507
UITF (b) 6,536 – – 6,536
Investment in bonds and treasury notes (a) – 1,254 – 1,254

P=6,536 P=1,254 P=507 P=8,297
   (a) Included under “Other noncurrent assets”
   (b) Included under “Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits”
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§ Reclassification to equity investments at FVOCI.  The Company elected to retain OCI changes in
the fair value of all its equity investments previously classified as available for sale (AFS)
financial assets because these investments are held as long-term strategic investments that are not
expected to be sold in the short to medium term.  As a result, fair value changes were retained in
OCI.

§ Reclassification to FVPL.  UITFs are ready-made investments that allow the pooling of funds
from different investors with similar investment objectives.  These UITFs are managed by
professional fund managers and may be invested in various financial instruments such as money
market securities, bonds and equities, which are normally available to large investors only.  A
UITF uses the mark-to-market method in valuing the fund’s securities.  It is a valuation method
which calculates the NAV based on the estimated fair market value of the assets of the fund based
on prices supplied by independent sources.  They do not meet the PFRS 9 criteria for
classification at amortized cost, because their cash flows do not represent solely payments of
principal and interest.  Hence, these financial assets were reclassified to financial assets at FVPL.

§ AFS debt investments classified as FVOCI.  Quoted debt instruments were reclassified from
available for sale to FVOCI, as the group’s business model is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling of these assets.  The contractual cash flows of these
investments are solely payment of principal and interest.  As a result, unrealized fair value
changes were reclassified from AFS financial assets reserve to the FVOCI reserve on
January 1, 2018.

On Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company has the following types of financial assets that are subject to PFRS 9’s new expected
credit loss model: (i) receivables, including contract assets, and (ii) debt investments carried at
FVOCI.  The Company was required to revise its impairment methodology under PFRS 9 for each of
these classes of assets.  No material impact of the change in impairment methodology on the
Company’s retained earnings and equity.  As at January 1, 2018, the Company assessed that there was
no significant increase in the credit risk related to the financial assets at amortized cost and financial
assets at FVOCI.  Accordingly, the Company applied the 12-month ECL to all its financial assets and
assessed that there is no material impact to the consolidated financial statements.  While cash and
cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of PFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

c. Principal Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies

The principal accounting and financial reporting policies adopted in preparing the Company’s
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Business Combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value, and
the amount of any NCI in the acquiree.  For each business combination, the Company elects whether
to measure the NCIs in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and
administrative expenses.

When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is
re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or
loss.  It is then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date.  Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.  Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of PFRS 9, is measured at fair value with the
changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
accordance with PFRS 9.  Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of PFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognized for NCI, and any previous interest held, over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company reassesses whether it has correctly
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used
to measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date.  If the reassessment still results in an
excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the
gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected
to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are
assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal.  Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained.

If the initial accounting for business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of
the period by which the combination is effected because the fair values to be assigned to the
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities can be determined only provisionally, the Company
accounts for the combination using provisional values.  Adjustments to those provisional values as a
result of completing the initial accounting shall be made within twelve (12) months from the
acquisition date.  The carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability that is
recognized as a result of completing the initial accounting shall be calculated as if its fair value at the
acquisition date had been recognized from that date.  Goodwill or any gain recognized shall be
adjusted from the acquisition date by an amount equal to the adjustment to the fair value at the
acquisition date of the identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability being recognized or adjusted.

Equity Method Investees
Equity method investees consist of the Company’s investments in associates and joint ventures.

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence.  Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.  Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Company’s investments in its associate and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized at
cost.  The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Company’s share
of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.  If the Company’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture,
the Company discontinues recognizing its share of further losses.  After the entity’s interest is
reduced to zero, additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognized, only to the extent that
the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.  If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Company
resumes recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognized.

Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.

The Company’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture is included in profit
or loss.  Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Company’s OCI.  In
addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Company recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.  Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Company and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s interest in
the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Company’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on
the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income outside operating profit and
represents profit or loss after tax and NCI in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company.  When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with
those of the Company.

After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to recognize
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture.  At each reporting date, the
Company determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint
venture is impaired.  If there is such evidence, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value,
then recognizes the impairment loss as part of ‘Share in net earnings of equity method investees’ in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Company measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair value.  Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or
loss.

For purposes of disclosures required under PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, in
determining whether an equity method investee is material to the Company, management employs
both quantitative and qualitative factors to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the
Company’s interests in these entities; and the effects of those interest on the Company’s financial
position.  Factors considered include, but not limited to, carrying value of the investee relative to the
total equity method investments recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the
equity investee’s contribution to the Company’s consolidated net income, and other relevant
qualitative risks associated with the equity investee’s nature, purpose and size of activities.

Current Versus Non-current Classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position based
on current/non-current classification.

An asset is current when it is:
§ Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

§ Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

§ Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or

§ Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:
§ It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

§ It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

§ It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

§ There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, respectively.

Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures financial instruments such as derivatives at fair value at each reporting date
and, for purposes of impairment testing, uses fair value less costs of disposal or value in use to
determine the recoverable amount of some of its non-financial assets.  Also, fair values of financial
instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed in Note 34.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

§ In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
§ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

§ Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
§ Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair

  value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
§ Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair

  value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements at fair value on a
recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Company determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such
as derivatives, and non-recurring measurement, such as impairment tests.  At each reporting date, the
finance team, with the assistance of the respective finance teams of the Parent Company’s
subsidiaries, analyzes the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be
remeasured or reassessed as per the Company’s accounting policies.  For this analysis, the finance
team verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the
valuation computation to contracts, counterparty assessment and other relevant documents.

The finance team also compares the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant
external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.  On an interim basis, the finance team
presents the valuation results to the Company’s top management for review.  This includes a
discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above (see Note 34).
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less
from acquisition date and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Short-term Deposits
Short-term deposits, other than those classified as financial assets at FVPL, are highly liquid money
market placements with maturities of more than three months but less than one year from dates of
acquisition.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash represents cash in banks earmarked for long-term debt principal and interest
repayment maintained in compliance with loan agreements or placed in an escrow account pursuant
to a construction agreement.

Accounting policy applied for financial instruments beginning January 1, 2018

Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial Instruments:  Financial Assets
Initial Recognition and measurement. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI),
and FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them.  With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company
has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.  Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under PFRS 15. Refer to the accounting
policies in section “Revenue from contracts with customers.”

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding.  This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument
level.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows.  The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date,
i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Subsequent measurement.  For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in
four categories:

§ Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
§ Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
§ Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon

derecognition (equity instruments)
§ Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments).  The Group measures financial assets at
amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

§ the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

§ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost includes receivables, other current assets and other
noncurrent assets (see Note 33).

Financial assets at FVOCI (debt instruments).  The Company measures debt instruments at FVOCI if
both of the following conditions are met:

§ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling; and

§ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and computed in
the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost.  The remaining fair value changes
are recognized in OCI.  Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is
recycled to profit or loss.

The Company’s debt instruments at FVOCI includes investments in quoted debt instruments included
under other non-current financial assets.

Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity instruments).  Upon initial recognition, the Company
can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at FVOCI
when they meet the definition of equity under PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and are
not held for trading.  The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.  Dividends are
recognized as other income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the right of
payment has been established, except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI.  Equity
instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
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The Company elected to classify irrevocably its investments in unquoted equity securities under this
category.

Financial assets at FVPL.  Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at FVPL, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.  Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments.  Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at FVPL, irrespective of the business model.  Notwithstanding the criteria
for debt instruments to be classified at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at FVPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and UITF.  Income earned on UITF is also recognized
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is
separated from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss.  Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the FVPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately.  The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety as a financial asset at FVPL.

Derecognition.  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of
similar financial assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Company’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

§ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
§ the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership.  When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.  In that case, the Company also recognizes an
associated liability.  The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.
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Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets.  The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at FVPL.  ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.  The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognized in two stages.  For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).  For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.  Therefore, the
Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.  The Company has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, the Company applies the low credit risk simplification.  At every
reporting date, the Company evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit
risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.  In
making that evaluation, the Company reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument.  In
addition, the Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Company’s debt instruments at FVOCI comprise of government securities and quoted corporate
bonds that are graded in the top investment category (AAA) by credit rating agencies and, therefore,
are considered to be low credit risk investments.  It is the Company’s policy to measure ECLs on such
instruments on a 12-month basis.  However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.  The Company uses the ratings
from reputable credit rating firms both to determine whether the debt instrument has significantly
increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are more than 180
days past due.  However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Company.  A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

Financial Instruments:  Financial Liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement.  Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
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All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other current payables (excluding statutory
payables), loans and borrowings, and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement - Financial liabilities at FVPL.  Financial liabilities at FVPL include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term.  This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by PFRS 9.  Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at FVPL are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in PFRS 9 are satisfied.  The Company has not designated any
financial liability as at FVPL.

Subsequent measurement - Loans and borrowings.  This is the category most relevant to the
Company.  After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the EIR method.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.  The EIR amortization is included as finance costs under
the “Interest expense” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings (see Notes 18, 32, and 33).

Derecognition.  A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expires.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial Instruments:  Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement.  The Company uses derivative financial
instruments, particularly foreign currency forward contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risks.  Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date in which a derivative
contract is entered into or bifurcated, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are
carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

§ Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or
liability or an unrecognized firm commitment;

§ Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment; and

§ Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

Before January 1, 2018, the documentation includes identifying the hedging instrument, the hedged
item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Company will assess the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such hedges are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine
that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they
were designated.

Beginning January 1, 2018, the documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the
hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Company will assess whether the
hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of
hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined).  A hedging relationship qualifies for
hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

§ there is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
§ the effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic

relationship; and
§ the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the

hedged item that the Company actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
Company actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described
below:

Fair value hedges.  The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as other expense.  The change in the fair value of
the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged
item and is also recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as other expense.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortized cost, any adjustment to carrying value is
amortized through profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the EIR method. The EIR
amortization may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later than when the hedged item
ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.
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If the hedged item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value is recognized immediately in profit or
loss.

When an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative
change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as an
asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognized in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges.  The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized
in OCI in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the
profit or loss.  The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency
risk in forecast transactions and firm commitments.  The ineffective portion relating to foreign
currency contracts is recognized as other expense and the ineffective portion relating to commodity
contracts is recognized in other operating income or expenses.

Before January 1, 2018, the Company designated all of the forward contracts as hedging instrument.
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives were taken directly to profit
or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which were recognized in OCI and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss.

Beginning January 1, 2018, the Company designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a
hedging instrument.  The forward element is recognized in OCI and accumulated in a separate
component of equity under cost of hedging reserve.

The amounts accumulated in OCI are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction.  If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-
financial item, the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity
and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability.  This is not a
reclassification adjustment and will not be recognized in OCI for the period.  This also applies where
the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently
becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect
profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must
remain in accumulated OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur.  Otherwise, the
amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  After
discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated OCI must
be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described above.

Hedges of a net investment. Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a
monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to
cash flow hedges.  Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the
hedge are recognized as OCI while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are
recognized in the profit or loss.  On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any
such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the profit or loss.

The Company has no hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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Current Versus Noncurrent Classification of Derivatives
Derivative instruments that are not designated and considered as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or noncurrent or separated into a current and noncurrent portion based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

§ If the Company holds a derivative for trading purposes, irrespective of the timing of future cash
flows, it is classified as current.

§ Where the Company holds a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting), for period beyond 12 months after the end of reporting period, the derivative is
classified as noncurrent (or separated into current and noncurrent portions) consistent with the
classification of the underlying item.

§ Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contract are classified consistent
with the cash flows of the host contract.

Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are considered effective hedging instruments, are
classified consistent with the classification of the underlying hedged item.  The derivative instrument
is separated into a current portion and noncurrent portion only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Classification of Financial Instruments Between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as a liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

§ Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;
§ Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or
§ Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.
The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

Accounting policy applied for financial instruments until December 31, 2017

Financial Instruments
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  All regular
way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date.  Regular way
purchases and sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  Derivatives are
recognized on a trade date basis.

Initial Recognition. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value
of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability).  The fair value of
the consideration given or received is determined by reference to the transaction price or other market
prices.  If such market prices are not reliably determinable, the fair value of the consideration is
estimated as the sum of all future cash payments or receipts, discounted using the prevailing market
interest rates for similar instruments with similar maturities.  The initial measurement of financial
instruments, except for financial instruments at FVPL, includes transaction costs.
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The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets at
FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, loans and receivables, AFS financial assets, financial
liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or
liabilities were incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines
the classification of its instruments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates such classification at every reporting date.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividend, gains and losses relating to a financial liability or a
component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to holders of
financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity, net of related income tax
benefits.

‘Day 1’ Profit or Loss
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables
include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference between the
transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit or loss) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for
recognition as some other type of asset or liability.  In cases where the data is not observable, the
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the
Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit or loss amount.

Amortized Cost
Amortized cost is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment
and principal repayment or reduction.  The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on
acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are integral part of the effective interest rate.

Subsequent Measurement.  The subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
depends on their classification discussed as follows:

Financial Assets and Liabilities at FVPL. Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL include financial
assets and liabilities held for trading and those designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL.
Financial assets and liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term.  Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.  Financial assets and liabilities classified as at FPVL
are carried at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position, with any gains or losses
being recognized in the profit or loss.  Interests earned on holding financial assets at FVPL are
reported as interest income using the effective interest rate.  Dividends earned on holding financial
assets at FVPL are recognized in profit or loss when the right to payment had been established.

Financial assets and liabilities may be designated at initial recognition as at FVPL if any of the
following criteria are met:

§ The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the financial assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on
them on different bases; or
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§ The assets are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy; or

§ The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be
separately recorded.

The Company accounts for its derivatives (including embedded derivatives) under this category with
fair value changes being reported directly in profit or loss, except when the derivative is designated in
an effective hedging relationship.  In that case, the fair value change is either reported in profit or loss
with the corresponding adjustment to the hedged item (fair value hedge) or deferred in equity (cash
flow hedge) presented as “Fair value changes on cash flow hedges” under “Other comprehensive
income reserve” account.

The Company has no financial assets and liabilities at FVPL as at December 31, 2017.

Loans and Receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the
intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as financial assets at FVPL, HTM
investments or AFS financial assets.  After initial measurement, loans and receivables are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment.  The amortization is included as part of interest income in profit or loss.  Losses arising
from impairment are recognized in profit or loss.  Loans and receivables are included in current assets
if maturity is within 12 months after the end of reporting period, otherwise these are classified as
noncurrent assets.

Loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits (excluding UITF
presented as short-term deposits but classified as AFS financial assets) and receivables, restricted
cash, and due from related parties (see Note 33).

HTM Investments. HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Company’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are
not included in this classification.  When the Company sells or reclassifies other than an insignificant
amount of HTM investments, the entire category would be tainted for 2 years and reclassified as
AFS financial assets.

After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost.  The
amortization is included as part of interest income in profit or loss.  Gains and losses are recognized
in profit or loss when the HTM investments are derecognized and impaired, as well as through the
amortization process.  The losses arising from impairment of such investments and the effects of
restatement on foreign currency denominated HTM investments are also recognized in profit or loss.
Assets under this category are classified as current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the
reporting date and as noncurrent assets if maturity is more than a year from the reporting date.

The Company has no HTM investments as at December 31, 2017.

AFS Financial Assets. AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
such or not classified in any of the other categories.  AFS financial assets include equity and debt
securities.  They are purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response to liquidity
requirements or changes in market conditions.
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After initial measurement, AFS financial assets that are quoted are subsequently measured at fair
value.  The unrealized gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of AFS financial assets
are recognized and included in the “Fair value changes on AFS financial assets” under “Other
comprehensive income reserve” account until the investment is derecognized or determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses are reclassified to profit or loss.  When the
Company holds more than one investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed of on
an average cost method basis.  Interest earned on holding AFS debt financial assets are reported as
interest income using the effective interest rate method.  Dividends earned on holding AFS equity
financial assets are recognized in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.  AFS
equity financial assets that are unquoted and for which fair values cannot be reliably determined are
carried at cost less any impairment in value.

This category includes investments in quoted and unquoted common shares and preferred shares,
UITF, investments in golf club shares and investments in bonds (see Note 33).

Other Financial Liabilities. This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading
or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability.  These include liabilities arising from
operations and borrowings.

Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at
amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest method of
amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction
cost.  Any effect of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in profit or
loss.

All of the Company’s financial liabilities, except for derivative liabilities, are classified as other
financial liabilities which include loans and borrowings.

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received less
directly attributable transaction costs (referred to as “debt issue costs”).  Debt issue costs are
amortized over the life of the debt instrument using the effective interest method.  After initial
recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognized, as well as through the amortization process.  This category generally
includes short-term and long-term debts.

Derivatives and Hedge Accounting
Freestanding and separated embedded derivatives are classified as financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.  The Company uses
derivative financial instruments, such as cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps, to hedge its
foreign currency risks and interest rate risks, respectively.  Derivative instruments are initially
recognized at fair value on the date in which a derivative transaction is entered into or bifurcated, and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.  Consequently, gains and losses from
changes in fair value of derivatives not designated as effective accounting hedges are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified primarily as: (a) a hedge of the fair value
of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment except for foreign currency
risk (fair value hedge); or (b) a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to a
recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecasted transaction or foreign currency risk in an
unrecognized firm commitment (cash flow hedge); or (c) hedge of a net investment in a foreign
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operation.  The Company has no derivatives in 2017 designated as fair value hedges or hedges of a
net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  The documentation includes identifying the
hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the
entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the
hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such hedges are assessed on an
ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial
reporting periods for which they were designated.

In cash flow hedges, changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument that qualifies as a highly
effective cash flow hedge are included in equity, net of related deferred tax, and presented as “Fair
value changes on cash flow hedges” under “Other comprehensive income reserve” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position.  The ineffective portion is immediately recognized in
profit or loss.

If the hedged cash flow results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, gains and losses initially
recognized in equity are transferred from equity to net income in the same period during which the
hedged forecasted transaction or recognized asset or liability affects profit or loss.

When the hedge ceases to be highly effective, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.  In this
case, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that had been recognized in OCI reserve
is retained as such until the forecasted transaction occurs.  When the forecasted transaction is no
longer expected to occur, any net cumulative gain or loss previously reported in OCI reserve is
credited or charged immediately to profit or loss.

For derivatives that are not designated as effective accounting hedges, any gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognized directly in profit or loss.

Embedded Derivatives. An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted
for as derivative if all the following conditions are met:

§ The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and closely
related to the economic characteristics of the host contract;

§ A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of the derivative; and

§ The hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized as at FVPL.

Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host contracts are accounted for as financial assets
or liabilities at FVPL.  Changes in fair values are recognized in profit or loss.  Derivatives are carried
as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The Company assesses whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host
contract and accounted for as a derivative when the entity first becomes a party to the contract.
Subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which
case reassessment is required.  The Company determines whether a modification to cash flows is
significant by considering the extent to which the expected future cash flows associated with the
embedded derivative, the host contract or both have changed and whether the change is significant
relative to the previously expected cash flows on the contract.
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Current Versus Noncurrent Classification of Derivatives
Derivative instruments that are not designated and considered as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or noncurrent or separated into a current and noncurrent portion based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

§ If the Company holds a derivative for trading purposes, irrespective of the timing of future cash
flows, it is classified as current.

§ Where the Company holds a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting), for period beyond 12 months after the end of reporting period, the derivative is
classified as noncurrent (or separated into current and noncurrent portions) consistent with the
classification of the underlying item.

§ Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contract are classified consistent
with the cash flows of the host contract.

Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are considered effective hedging instruments, are
classified consistent with the classification of the underlying hedged item.  The derivative instrument
is separated into a current portion and noncurrent portion only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Classification of Financial Instruments Between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as a liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

§ Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
§ Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or
§ Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.
The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each end of reporting period whether a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired.  If any such evidence exists, the Company applies the relevant impairment policies
by measurement type of financial asset to determine the amount of any impairment loss.  A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization, and where
observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Assets Carried at Amortized Cost. The Company first assesses whether objective evidence (such as
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is
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included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of
financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost had been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.  The assets and the
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery, and all
collateral had been realized or had been transferred to the Company.  If a write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring
after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognized at the date impairment is reversed.  The amount of the reversal shall
be recognized in profit or loss.

Assets Carried at Cost. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss had been incurred on an
unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.  The asset together with the associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral had been realized or had
been transferred to the Company.

AFS Financial Assets. For AFS financial assets, the Company assesses at each end of reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below their cost.  ‘Significant’ is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value
has been below its original cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from
“Other comprehensive income reserve” account and recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment losses
on equity investments are not reversed through profit or loss.  Increases in fair value after impairment
are recognized directly in “Other comprehensive income reserve” account.

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on the
same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortized cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in profit or loss.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset,
using the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
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impairment loss.  Such accrual is recorded as part of “Interest income” in profit or loss.  If, in
subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Derecognition of Financial Instruments

Financial Asset.  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

§ The Company’s rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
§ The Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

§ The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  In that case, the Company also recognizes an
associated liability.  The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.  Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to
repay.

Financial Liabilities.  A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts
and any costs or fees incurred are recognized in the profit or loss.

Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.  The Company assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is
not contingent on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event of
default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and all of the counterparties.

Inventories
Inventories, which are included as part of “Other current assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position, are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).

Cost includes purchase price and import duties incurred in bringing each item of inventory to its
present location and condition.  Cost is determined using the moving average method for the
healthcare segment and weighted average method for the power, tollways and the water segment.
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Depending on the nature of the inventory, NRV is based either on current replacement cost or
estimated selling price less estimated cost to sell.

Advances to Contractors and Consultants
Advances to contractors and consultants, represent advance payments for mobilization of the
contractors and consultants.  These are stated at costs less any impairment in value.  These amounts
are reduced upon receipt of the equivalent amount of services rendered by the contractors and
consultants.  These are recognized as current or noncurrent depending on the classification of its
underlying asset.

Service Concession Arrangements
The Company, as operator, accounts for a public-to-private service concession arrangement in
accordance with Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12 where the grantor controls the infrastructure. The
grantor controls the infrastructure where the following conditions are met:

§ the grantor controls or regulates what services the operator must provide with the
infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, and at what price; and

§ the grantor controls – through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise – any
significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement’s term.

The Company recognizes an asset for the consideration that it receives from the grantor in exchange
for providing construction or upgrade services. The consideration received can take a variety of
forms. The consideration given by the grantor to the operator might be rights to: (a) an intangible
asset (see accounting policy section ‘Service Concession Arrangements – Intangible Asset Model’); or
(b) a financial asset (see accounting policy section ‘Service Concession Arrangements – Financial
Asset Model’)

Service Concession Arrangements – Intangible Asset Model
Where the operator receives right (license) to charge users of public service, the Company accounts
for such arrangement under the intangible asset model (see Notes 12 and 30).

Construction and Upgrade Services:  Revenue and Cost Recognition.  Prior to adoption of PFRS 15,
the Company recognizes and measures revenue and cost in accordance with PAS 11 and PAS 18 for
the services it performs.  In 2018, the Company recognizes revenue and costs for construction and
upgrade services in accordance with PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The
Company, as operator, receives non-cash consideration in the form of an intangible asset (a license to
charge users of the public service) in exchange for construction and upgrade services.  The operator
measures the intangible asset initially at cost, being the amount of the contract asset recognized
during the construction or upgrade phase in accordance with PFRS 15.  The operator recognizes
revenue and a contract asset (that represents the right to receive an intangible asset, as ‘Service
Concession Asset’) as it performs the construction performance obligation.

Operations Revenues.  An operator that recognizes an intangible asset also recognizes revenue for the
consideration received from users of the public service during the operation phase (see accounting
policies in section ‘Revenue from contracts with customers – Recognized Over Time’).

Contractual Obligations.  The Company recognizes its contractual obligations to restore the toll roads
to a specified level of serviceability in accordance with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets, as the obligation arises which is as a consequence of the use of the toll roads
and is proportional to the number of vehicles using the toll roads and increasing in measurable annual
increments (see Note 16).



- 158 -

*SGVFS032824*

Service Concession Assets.  The service concession assets acquired through business combinations
are recognized initially at the fair value of the concession agreement using multi-period excess
earnings method.  Additions subsequent to business combinations are initially measured at present
value of any additional estimated future concession fee payments pursuant to the concession
agreement (see Notes 12 and 17) and/or the costs of rehabilitation works incurred or additional
constructions.

Service concession assets acquired other than through business combinations include capitalized
upfront payments and expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the service concession.
Payments to the Grantor/s over the concession period are capitalized at their present value using the
incremental borrowing rate determined at inception date and is included as part of the initial
recognition of the service concession asset with a corresponding liability recognized as “Service
concession fees payable”.  Borrowing cost in relation to service concession assets that are considered
as qualifying assets forms part of the cost of the service concession asset.

Following initial recognition, the service concession assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and any impairment losses.

Following are the methods used to amortize the service concession assets:

Methods Company
Unit of Production (UOP) Maynilad, CIC, NLEX Corp and PT Nusantara
Straight-line PHI and MIBWS

The amortization period and method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at
each financial year-end.  Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption
of future economic benefits embodied in the service concession asset is accounted for by changing
the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amortization expense is recognized under the “Cost of sales and services” account in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The service concession assets will be derecognized upon turnover to the Grantor.  There will be no
gain or loss upon derecognition as the service concession assets, which are expected to be fully
amortized by then, will be handed over to the Grantor for no consideration.

Service Concession Arrangements – Financial Asset Model
Where the operator has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset
from, or at the direction of, the grantor, the Company accounts for such arrangement under the
financial asset model (see Notes 8 and 30).

In accordance with PFRS 15, the Company determines each performance obligation and the
corresponding transaction price.  The transaction price is determined as the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable in exchange for the services delivered.  Where the Company
does not receive remuneration separately for the services provided (i.e., construction, maintenance
and operational services in a single contract), the Company allocates the transaction price between the
construction and operation services by reference to the stand-alone selling prices of the services
delivered.

During the construction phase, the Company recognizes revenue and costs by reference to the stage of
completion as the contract activity progresses over the construction period.  The Company measures
progress using a method that depicts the entity’s progress towards satisfying its performance
obligation.  As the Company recognizes revenue for the construction service performance obligation,
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